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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 10-K

(Mark One)
ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT

OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended January 1, 2011
OR

O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

For the transition period from to
Commission file number 001-33264

U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in Its Chaer)

Delaware 68-0623433
(State or Other Jurisdiction of (I.LR.S. Employer
Incorporation or Organization) Identification No.)

17150 South Margay Avenue, Carson, CA 90746
(Address of Principal Executive Offices) (Zip Code)

Registrant’s Telephone Number, Including Area Code(310) 735-0553

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) dlfie Act:

Title of each class Name of each exchange on which register¢
Common Stock, $0.001 par value per shai The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC
(NASDAQ Global Market)

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) ¢tie Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a welbwn seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405e08#turities Act.  Yed No

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is notuiegd to file reports pursuant to Section 13 orti®ecl5(d) of the Act. Yes[ No

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant ¢ filed all reports required to be filed by Seeti® or 15(d) of the Securities Excha
Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (ordioch shorter period that the registrant was requodile such reports), and (2) has been
subject to such filing requirements for the pastigs. YeskX No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant lisnstted electronically and posted on its corpo¥absite, if any, every Interactive
Data File required to be submitted and posted fumtsto Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (8232.405 of dtiapter) during the preceding 12 months
(or for such shorter period that the registrant veagiired to submit and post such files). YO No O



Indicate by a check mark if disclosure of delingudars pursuant to ltem 405 of Regulation S-Ka contained herein, and will not be
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledgealdfinitive proxy or information statements incorgted by reference in Part IIl of this Form
10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K1

Indicate by check mark whether the registrantlerge accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, noa-accelerated filer, or a smaller
reporting company. See the definitions of “largeederated filer,” “accelerated filer,” and “small@porting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the
Exchange Act. (Check one):

Large accelerated file [ Accelerated file
Non-accelerated file O (Do not check if a smaller reporting compa Smaller reporting compar [
Indicate by check mark whether the registrantsbell company (as defined in Exchange Act Rule 2gb-Yes [ No

The aggregate market value of the common stocklhelibn-affiliates of the registrant as of July2@,10 was approximately $87,607,778
(based on the closing sales price of the regisgranimmon stock on that date). For the purposekisfcalculation, shares owned by officers,
directors and 10% stockholders known to the regigthave been deemed to be owned by affiliates détermination of affiliate status is not
necessarily a conclusive determination for otheppses.

As of March 16, 2011, there were 30,449,376 shafréise registrant’s common stock outstanding.

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE

Portions of our proxy statement for the 2011 Anriakting of Stockholders (the “Proxy Statement’§ mrcorporated by reference in
Part 11l hereof. Except with respect to informatgpecifically incorporated by reference in thisfAdk0-K, the Proxy Statement is not deemed
to be filed as a part hereof.
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SPECIAL NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

The statements included in this report, other thi@tements or characterizations of historical orremt fact, are forward-looking
statements within the meaning of Section 27A o$twurities Act of 1933, as amended (the “Secsriiet”) and Section 21E of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended “Exchange Act”), and we intend that such forwaraking statements be subject to the safe harbors
created thereby. Any forward-looking statementtuithed herein are based on management’s beliefsaaadmptions and on information
currently available to management. We have attedjatédentify forward-looking statements by termshsas “anticipates,” “believes,”
“could,” “estimates,” “expects,” “intends,” “may,” “plans,” “potential,” “predicts,” “projects,” “shou Id,” “will,” “would”, “will likely
continue,” “will likely result” and similar expressns. These forward-looking statements include doeitnot limited to, statements regarding
future events, our future operating and financiedults, financial expectations, expected growth strategies, current business indicatc
capital needs, capital deployment, liquidity, cets, litigation, product offerings, customers, aisitions, competition and the status of our
facilities. Forwarc-looking statements, no matter where they occtinismdocument or in other statements attributabléhe Company involve
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and othetoiz that may cause our actual results, perforneaocachievements to be materially
different from any future results, performanceschievements expressed or implied by the forwaollihg statements. We discuss many of
these risks in greater detail under the headingsiRFactors” in Part I, Item 1A of this report. Givéhese uncertainties, you should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking stateme¥st should read this report and the documentswieateference in this report and have
filed as exhibits to the report completely and vifite understanding that our actual future resulsyrbe materially different from what \
expect. Also, forward-looking statements representmanagement’s beliefs and assumptions only #seadate of this report. Except as
required by law, we assume no obligation to updla¢se forward-looking statements publicly, or talate the reasons actual results could
differ materially from those anticipated in theseward-looking statements, even if new informabesomes available in the future.

” o LI " ou ”ou ” ” o ” o ” i, ” i,

PART |

ITEM 1. BUSINESS
Overview

We are one of the leading online sources for autwmaftermarket parts and repair information. ®ision is that vehicle owners never
overpay for service and repair. Our mission isadHhe service and repair advocate for vehicle osyrierincrease their confidence in the repair
process, and to provide the most affordable ogdtotheir service and repair needs.

We principally sell our products, identified ascdtdkeeping units (“SKUs”), to individual consumeinsough our network of websites and
online marketplaces. Our user-friendly websiteyjol® customers with a comprehensive selection pf@pmately 1,800,000 SKUs with
detailed product descriptions and photographs. ¥e ldeveloped a proprietary product database thpsmur SKUs to product applications
based on vehicle makes, models and years.

Our online sales channel and relationships wittpBers enable us to eliminate several intermedsarnehe traditional auto parts supply
chain and offer a broad selection of SKUs. Addiiiyy as an online retailer, we believe greatemecdies of scale can be achieved online than
in brick and mortar stores.

We were incorporated in Delaware in 1995 as ailligior of aftermarket auto parts and launched st Website in 2000. Since then, we
have continued to expand our online operationseaging the number of SKUs sold through our e-corneneetwork, adding additional
websites, improving our internet marketing profiwig, and commencing sales on online marketplace®ctober 2008, we acquired
AutoMD.com for the purpose of developing conterd aruser community to educate consumers on maimterend service of their vehicles.

In August 2010, we acquired all of the issued amgtanding shares of Automotive Specialty Accegsoaind Parts (“WAG”), the
nation’s leading catalog and internet direct magkef automotive aftermarket parts and accessortgs.acquisition has expanded our product
line into all terrain vehicles, recreational vebgland motorcycles, as well as provided us deeguptd&nowledge into niche segments like J
Volkswagen and trucks. The expansion of our protnetincreases our ability to reach customersiendo-it-yourself, or DIY, automobile and
off-road accessories market. Our flagship websitedocated avww.autopartswarehouse.cgmww.partstrain.com www.jcwhitney.com
and www.stylintrucks.comind our corporate website is locatedvatw.usautoparts.net

Our Products

We offer a broad selection of aftermarket autogatte frequently refine our product offering byrattucing new merchandise and
updating the existing product selection to offenare complete and relevant product line and to kenow-selling or obsolete SKUs. We
broadly classify our products into three categofiesly parts, engine parts, and performance padsacessories.

1
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Body Parts. The body parts category is primarily comprisegaits for the exterior of an automobile. Our partthis category are
typically replacement parts for original body pattat have been damaged as a result of a coll@itmrough general wear and tear. The
majority of these products are sold through oursiteb. In addition, we sell an extensive line ofrori products, including our own private-
label brand called Kool-Vue™, which are marketed sold as aftermarket replacement parts and asdegito existing parts.

Engine/Hard Parts The engine parts category is comprised of engimeponents and other mechanical and electricas pattich are
often referred to as hard parts. These parts serveplacement parts for existing engine partssaadjenerally used by professionals and do-it-
yourselfers for engine and mechanical maintenandeepair.

Performance Parts and Accessorie&/e offer performance versions of many parts gokiach of the above categories. Performance
and accessories generally consist of parts thatrerhthe performance of the automobile, upgradstiegifunctionality of a specific part or
improve the physical appearance or comfort of titeraobile.

Our Sales Channels
Our sales channels include the online channel lamdffline channel.

Online Sales ChannelOur online sales channel consists of our e-coroenelnannel, online marketplaces and online aduagti©ur e-
commerce channel includes a network of e-commentssites, supported by our call-center sales agéfesalso sell our products through
online marketplaces, including third-party auctsites and shopping portals, which provide us witteas to additional consumer segments.
The majority of our online sales are to individuahsumers. Through online advertising, we sell geg and sponsorship positions on our e-
commerce websites to highlight vendor brands afet ebmplementary products and services that beoeficustomers. Advertising is targe
to specific sections of the websites and can adsmigeted to specific users based on the vehtodgsdrive. Advertising partners primarily
include part vendors, national automotive afterraitkands, and automobile manufacturers.

Offline Sales ChannelWe sell and deliver to collision repair shopotlghout Southern California via our offline salbéamrnel. We also
market our Kool-Vue™ products nationwide to autapavholesale distributors and serve consumerseyating retail outlet stores in
Independence, Ohio and LaSalle, lllinois which wauechased through the acquisition of WAG.

Our Fulfillment Operations

We fulfill customer orders using two primary metkod) stock-and-ship, where we take physical @ginof merchandise and store it in
one of our distribution centers until it is shippgeda customer, and (ii) drop-ship, where merchemdi shipped directly to customers from our
suppliers. We believe that the flexibility of fulfing orders using two different fulfillment methsa@llows us to offer a broader product
selection, helps optimize product inventory andagrdes our overall business profitability.

The selection of fulfilment methodology occurdfz time of order submission. When a customer stgoam order, our fulfillment syste
performs a check on the ordered item to deternfiitésiin stock at any of our distribution centeFalfillment teams in our distribution centers
then process orders for in-stock products. Ordmradn-stocked products are sent to our suppliedspaocessed via drop-ship.

Stock-and-Ship FulfillmentOur stock-andship products are sourced primarily from manufaatuand other suppliers located in Asia
in the U.S. and are stored in one of our distrinutienters in Carson, California, , ChesapeakgiMa, LaSalle, lllinois, and Independence,
Ohio. The distribution centers in LaSalle, lllin@isd Independence, Ohio were purchased througictingsition of WAG. All products
received into our distribution centers are enténéal our inventory management systems, allowingpudosely monitor inventory availability.
We consider a number of factors in determining Wliiems to stock in our distribution centers, imthg which products can be purchased at a
meaningful discount to domestic prices for simitams, which products have historically sold inthigolumes, and which products may be out
of stock when we attempt to fulfill via drop-ship.

Drop-Ship Fulfillment We have developed relationships with several-ba8ed automobile parts distributors that opetat bwn
distribution centers and will deliver products ditg to our customers. We internally developed@ppietary distributor selection system, Auto-
Vend™, which allows us to electronically select tiplé vendors for a given order. Auto-Vend™ wilteahpt to first direct an order to one of
our warehouses. If the product is not in stock,0Adend™ will process the order to the next apprerivendor based on customer location,
contractual agreements, and service level history.
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Suppliers

We source our products from foreign manufacturacsimporters located in Taiwan and China, and fkdu®. manufacturers and
distributors. We drop-ship orders for low demanddorcts manufactured in the U.S. directly from oanirfacturers and distributors. We
generally place large-volume orders with these Begpand, as a result, may receive volume dissantcertain ordered products. Our
domestic suppliers offer direct-to-customer shigpellowing us to save on fulfillment costs andeofd broader selection of products. We have
developed application programming interfaces withesal of these suppliers that allow us to eledtadly transmit orders and check inventory
availability. We are a significant customer for manf our drop-ship vendors and have long standétgtionships and contracts with many of
these suppliers. For the fiscal year ended Jarily&2911, one of our drop-ship vendors provided %7ad3 our total product purchases.

Marketing

Our online marketing efforts are designed to attvégitors to our websites, convert visitors intarghasing customers and encourage
repeat purchases among our existing customer Was@ese a variety of online marketing methods t@aettvisitors, including paid search
advertising, search engine optimization, affiliptegrams, e-mail marketing and inclusion in onh@pping engines. To convert visitors into
paying customers, we periodically run in-site praéioes for discounted purchases. We seek to creass<selling opportunities by displaying
complementary and related products available fier theiloughout the purchasing process. We utilizessd marketing techniques, including
targeted e-mails about specific vehicle promotidosncrease customer awareness of our products.

International Operations

In April 2007, we established offshore operatiamghie Philippines. Our offshore operations allowaiaccess a workforce with the
necessary technical skills at a significantly lowest than comparably experienced U.S.-based miofeals. Our offshore operations are
responsible for a majority of our website developtmdatabase management, catalog management, anoth emgine marketing technologies.
Our offshore operations also house our call celitierhave over 991 employees in the Philippines.

In addition to our operations in the Philippineg ave a Canadian subsidiary to facilitate salesioproducts in Canada; the subsidiary
has no distribution center or employees. We algo gérts directly to Canada and through a freigitvarding partner throughout the world. In
2010, we shipped auto parts to over 160 differenntries.

Competition

The auto repair information and parts industryospetitive and highly fragmented, with productgritisited through multi-tiered and
overlapping channels. We compete with both onlime @ffline retailers who offer original equipmenanufacturer (“OEM”) and aftermarket
parts to either the do-it-yourself (“DIY”) or do-ibr-me (“DIFM”) customer segments. Current or putal competitors include the following:

* national auto parts retailers such as Advance Raits, AutoZone, Napa Auto Parts, CarQue’Reilly Automotive and Pep Boy

» large online marketplaces such as Amazon.com dlaissen eBay

» other online retailers and auto repair informati@bsites

* local independent retailers or niche auto partslest; anc

» wholesale aftermarket auto parts distributors saechKQ Corporation

We believe the principal competitive factors in ouairket are helping customers easily find theitgaducating consumers on the set

and maintenance of their vehicles, maintainingappetary product catalog that maps individual p#otrelevant vehicle applications, broad
product selection and availability, price, knowledgle customer service, and rapid order fulfillmemd delivery. We believe we compete

favorably on the basis of these factors. Howewanesof our competitors may be larger, have strobggnd recognition or may have access to
greater financial, technical and marketing resaiarenave been operating longer than we have.
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Government Regulation

We are subject to federal and state consumer gimtdaws, including laws protecting the privacyoofstomer non-public information
and the handling of customer complaints and reguiatprohibiting unfair and deceptive trade pradicThe growth and demand for online
commerce has and may continue to result in moirggint consumer protection laws that impose aduificompliance burdens on online
companies. These laws may cover issues such aprisaey, spyware and the tracking of consumenwdigs, marketing e-mails and
communications, other advertising and promotiomatfices, money transfers, pricing, content andityuaf products and services, taxation,
electronic contracts and other communications afatrnation security. In addition, most states hpassed laws that prohibit or limit the us
aftermarket auto parts in collision repair work &mdequire enhanced disclosure or vehicle ownasent before using aftermarket auto par
such repair work and additional legislation of tkiisd may be introduced in the future.

There is also great uncertainty over whether or bristing laws governing issues such as propertyesghip, sales and other taxes,
auctions, libel and personal privacy apply to therdnet and commercial online services. These $sswgy take years to resolve. For example,
tax authorities in a number of states, as well @prgressional advisory commission, are curremyewing the appropriate tax treatment of
companies engaged in online commerce, and newtatategulations may subject us to additional states and income taxes. New legislation
or regulation, the application of laws and reguwlasi from jurisdictions whose laws do not curremibply to our business or the application of
existing laws and regulations to the Internet ammmercial online services could result in significadditional taxes or regulatory restrictions
on our business. These taxes or restrictions duaNe an adverse effect on our cash flows and sesfitiperations. Furthermore, there is a
possibility that we may be subject to significanes or other payments for any past failures toplgrwith these requirements.

Environmental

We are subject to environmental regulation asféica$ certain of the products we sell. For insta@adifornia currently only allows
catalytic converters approved by the state to bl sithin the state and, during 2010 and early 2@hé Company met with the California Air
Resources Board (“CARB”) to discuss alleged safestalytic converters into California by the Comgand third-party suppliers that are not
compliant with California regulations. CARB inforeh¢he Company that penalties may be assessedeg#nd to any non-compliant sales;
discussions are ongoing, and any penalties aregtiohable at this time but are not expected tadm@fecant in amount. There has been an
indication that thirteen other states may be pugstiie enactment of similar regulations. In additié we expanded our product lines, we may
be subject to additional environmental regulation.

Seasonality

We believe our business is subject to seasonalfitions. We have historically experienced higlaes of body parts in winter months
when inclement weather and hazardous road conditiguically result in more automobile collisionsigine parts and performance parts and
accessories have historically experienced highes sa the summer months when consumers have rnnoeetd undertake elective projects to
maintain and enhance the performance of their anibiles and the warmer weather during that timeoigdaicive for such projects. We expect
the historical seasonality trends to continue teehematerial impact on our financial condition aesults of operations in subsequent periods.

Employees

As of January 31, 2011, we had 621 employees itltiieed States and 991 employees in the Philippioes total of 1,612 employees.
None of our employees are represented by a lakionuand we have never experienced a work stopj

Available Information

Our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reportd=orm 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, and aimemts to those reports are
available free of charge on the Investor Relatgextion of our corporate website locatedvatw.usautoparts.nets soon as reasonably
practicable after such reports are electronicaliy fwith, or furnished to, the Securities and Exogge Commission (“SEC”). The inclusion of
our website address in this report does not inchrdacorporate by reference into this report arfgrimation on our website.

ITEM 1A. RISK FACTORS

Our business is subject to a number of risks whirehdiscussed below. Other risks are presentedublsee in this report and in the
information incorporated by reference into this oep You should consider carefully the followingks in addition to the other information
contained in this report and our other filings witie SEC, including our subsequent reports on Fdt€ and 8-K, and any amendments
thereto, before deciding to buy, sell or hold oamenon stock. If any
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of these known or unknown risks or uncertaintigsi@ty occurs with material adverse effects onais, business, financial condition, results
operations and/or liquidity could be seriously haun In that event, the market price for our comrsimtk will likely decline and you may lose
all or part of your investment.

Risks Related To Our Business

Purchasers of aftermarket auto parts may not choaseshop online, which would prevent us from acquig new customers who at
necessary to the growth of our business.

The online market for aftermarket auto parts is sveloped than the online market for many otheimess and consumer products, and
currently represents only a small part. Our sucesslepend in part on our ability to attract newstomers and to convert customers who |
historically purchased auto parts through traddloetail and wholesale operations. Furthermoremag have to incur significantly higher and
more sustained advertising and marketing expereditar may need to price our products more comypeljtthan we currently anticipate in
order to attract additional online consumers anmi/ed them into purchasing customers. Specificdi@cthat could prevent prospective
customers from purchasing from us include:

» concerns about buying auto parts without -to-face interaction with sales personr

» the inability to physically handle, examine and pame products

» delivery time associated with Internet orde

» concerns about the security of online transact#rsthe privacy of personal informatic
» delayed shipments or shipments of incorrect or dgugroducts

» increased shipping costs; a

» the inconvenience associated with returning or arging items purchased onlir

If the online market for auto parts does not gaidespread acceptance, our sales may decline arfelisimess and financial results may
suffer.

We depend on search engines and other online sositoeattract visitors to our websites, and if weeamable to attract these visitors and
convert them into customers in a cost-effective man, our business and results of operations will barmed.

Our success depends on our ability to attract erdomsumers to our websites and convert them irgtomers in a cost-effective manner.
We are significantly dependent upon search engsfespping comparison sites and other online sodoczesur website traffic. We are includ
in search results as a result of both paid seé#stthds, where we purchase specific search teratsathl result in the inclusion of our listing,
and algorithmic searches that depend upon thelsgaeccontent on our sites. Algorithmic listingseat be purchased and instead are
determined and displayed solely by a set of forsuldlized by the search engine. Search enginegpsing comparison sites and other online
sources revise their algorithms from time to timeun attempt to optimize their search resultsné or more of the search engines, shopping
comparison sites or other online sources on whiehiely for website traffic were to modify its geabmethodology for how it displays or
selects our websites, it could result in fewer comars clicking through to our websites, and ouarficial results could be adversely affected.
We operate a multiple website platform that gemgrdlows us to provide multiple search resultsdqguarticular algorithmic search. If the
search engines were to limit our display resulta single result or entirely eliminate our reséitsn the algorithmic search, our website traffic
would significantly decrease and our business woeldnaterially harmed. If any free search enginghoipping comparison site on which we
rely begins charging fees for listing or placementf one or more of the search engines, shoppimgparison sites and other online sources on
which we rely for purchased listings, modifies @mbinates its relationship with us, our expensesdcose, we could lose customers and traffic
to our websites could decrease. In addition, oacess in attracting visitors who convert to custewéll depend in part upon our ability to
identify and purchase relevant search terms, peorétevant content on our sites, and effectivalgahour other marketing programs such as e-
mail campaigns and affiliate programs. If we arahla to attract visitors to our websites and cointyem to customers in a cost-effective
manner, then our sales may decline and our busaresfinancial results may be harmed.

Future acquisitions could disrupt our business amérm our financial condition.

As part of our growth strategy, we acquired WAGAargust 12, 2010 and we expect that we will seletyiypursue additional
acquisitions of businesses, technologies or segviterder to expand our capabilities, enter newketa or increase our market share. In
conjunction with the acquisition of WAG, we recodde significant valuation allowance against ouredefd tax asset, and have incurred gre
than usual legal and accounting fees, as well asrgéand administrative expenses. Additionallygause the acquisition of WAG was a stock
purchase, we may incur liability for acts takeroptb
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our acquisition that may involve costly litigatidntegrating any newly acquired businesses’ websteechnologies or services is likely to be
expensive and time consuming or other liabilitles: example, our acquisition of All OEM Parts, lrttke Partsbin.com, Inc., and other
affiliated companies (collectively “Partsbin”), téted in significant costs, including a materiapiarment charge, a write-down of goodwill
associated with the acquisition, and a number aflehges, including retaining employees of the &egucompany, integrating our order
processing and credit processing, integrating ooyt pricing strategy, and integrating the dieeiechnologies and differing e-commerce
platforms and accounting systems used by each aom@ar integration activities in connection withracquisitions have also caused a
substantial diversion of our management’s attenfiowe are unable to successfully complete thegration of acquisitions, including WAG,
we may not realize the anticipated synergies fraohscquisitions, we may take impairment chargesvaite-downs associated with such
acquisitions, and our business and results of tipasacould suffer. In connection with the acqudsitof WAG, we incurred acquisition and
integration related costs of $3.1 million. To ficarany future acquisitions, it may also be necgd®sarus to raise additional capital through
public or private financings or to obtain additibbank financing. Additional funds may not be ashble on terms that are favorable to us, and,
in the case of equity financings, would resultilatibn to our stockholders. Future acquisitionsusycould also result in assumption of debt
unforeseen liabilities (including our becoming ifwex in litigation relating to any business we aogjuand significant adverse accounting
charges, any of which could substantially harmhusiness, financial condition and results of openst

We may not be able to successfully acquire new besses or integrate acquisitions, which could caase business to suffer.

We may not be able to successfully complete patkstiategic acquisitions if we cannot reach agesgron acceptable terms or for other
reasons. If we buy a company or a division of apany, we may experience difficulty integrating thampany’s or division’s personnel and
operations, which could negatively affect our ofiagaresults. In addition:

» the key personnel of the acquired company may éewid to work for us
» customers of the acquired company may decide nmtitchase products from .
e we may experience business disruptions as a resimtormation technology systems conversic

* we may experience additional financial and accagntihallenges and complexities in areas such gslaaning, treasury
management, and financial reportil

* we may be held liable for environmental, tax oresttisks and liabilities as a result of our acgiosis, some of which we may not
have discovered during our due diligen

* we may intentionally assume the liabilities of dwnpanies we acquire, which could materially anceeskly affect our busines
* our ongoing business may be disrupted or recesdfficient management attentic

* we may not be able to realize the cost savingsh@mrdinancial benefits or synergies we anticipatgther in the amount or in the
time frame that we expect; a

e we may incur debt or issue equity securities tofpayny future acquisition, the issuance of whidhild involve the imposition ¢
restrictive covenants or be dilutive to our exigtstockholders

Our operations are restricted by our credit facylit

Our credit facility includes a number of restrigtiscovenants. These covenants could impair our dingrand operational flexibility and
make it difficult for us to react to market condits and satisfy our ongoing capital needs and igipated cash requirements. Specifically,
such covenants restrict our ability and, if apdlieathe ability of our subsidiaries to, among otteéngs:

* incur additional debt

* make certain investments and acquisitic

* enter into certain types of transactions with effés;

» use assets as security in other transact

» pay dividends on our capital stock or repurchasesquity interests
» sell certain assets or merge with or into other ganes;

» guarantee the debts of othe

* enter into new lines of busine:
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» pay or amend our subordinated de¢
« form any joint ventures or subsidiary investme

In addition, our current credit facility requires to satisfy certain financial covenants. Thesarfaial covenants and tests could limit our
ability to react to market conditions or satisfyrewrdinary capital needs and could otherwise idsiur financing and operations.

Our ability to comply with the covenants and ottegms of our debt obligations will depend on ouufe operating performance. If we
fail to comply with such covenants and terms, wellMde required to obtain waivers from our lendermaintain compliance with our debt
obligations. As of January 1, 2011, in connectidgtihsthe Company’s credit facility, the Company’sr@olidated Fixed Charge Coverage ratio
was lower than the ratio required by the covenemtise Loan and Security Agreement entered intarty between the Company and Silicon
Valley Bank (“Bank”) on August 13, 2010 (“LSA”). Orebruary 28, 2011, the Company and the Bank, ehiato Amendment No. 1 to Loan
and Security Agreement and Limited Waiver (“Amenditiile The Amendment waived the Company’s non coargle with the Consolidated
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Covenant in the LSA& Aimendment also amended the definitions of Basdliquidity and Consolidated
EBITDA (earnings before income tax, depreciatiod amortization) to more readily accommodate the @amy’s integration of the WAG
acquisition. If we are unable to obtain any necgssaivers and the debt is accelerated, a matadiatrse effect on our financial condition and
future operating performance would result. Additittyy our indebtedness could have important consecgs, including the following:

*  We will have to dedicate a portion of our cash fimamaking interest and principal payments on adebtedness, thereby reducing
the availability of our cash flow to fund workingital, capital expenditures, acquisitions or otiemeral corporate purpos

» Certain levels of indebtedness may make us leisgcttte to potential acquirers or acquisition tasg

» Certain levels of indebtedness may limit our flélii§pto adjust to changing business and marked#oons, and make us mo
vulnerable to downturns in general economic cood&ias compared to competitors that may be lessdged

» As described in more detail above, the documertgiging for our indebtedness contain restrictiveatants that may limit ot
financing and operational flexibility

Furthermore, our ability to satisfy our debt seevibligations will depend, among other things, uffoctuations in interest rates, our
future operating performance and ability to reficemdebtedness when and if necessary. Thesedai#pend partly on economic, financial,
competitive and other factors beyond our controd May not be able to generate sufficient cash fsperations to meet our debt service
obligations as well as fund necessary capital ediperes and general operating expenses. In addifiere need to refinance our debt, or obr
additional financing or sell assets or equity tiiséaour debt service obligations, we may not bkedo do so on commercially reasonable
terms, if at all.

If we are unable to manage the challenges assodatéth our international operations, the growth afur business could be limited and o
business could suffer.

We maintain business operations in the United Stael the Philippines. These international opemnatinclude development and
maintenance of our websites, Internet marketinggrerel, and sales and customer support servicesldd@perate a Canadian subsidiary to
facilitate sales in Canada. We are subject to abaurof risks and challenges that specifically eetatour international operations. Our
international operations may not be successfukifare unable to meet and overcome these challenbed) could limit the growth of our
business and may have an adverse effect on ourdsgsand operating results. These risks and cigaeinclude:

» the amount and timing of operating costs and chgienditures relating to the maintenance andresipa of our busines
operations and infrastructut

» difficulties and costs of staffing and managingefgn operations

» restrictions imposed by local labor practices awasl on our business and operatic

» exposure to different business practices and ktgadards

* unexpected changes in regulatory requirems

» the imposition of government controls and restitsi

» political, social and economic instability and tiek of war, terrorist activities or other interimatal incidents
» the failure of telecommunications and connectitntiyastructure

« natural disasters and public health emergen
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. potentially adverse tax consequenc
. the failure of local laws to provide a sufficierggtee of protection against infringement of oueliettual property; an
. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates r@tative weakness in the U.S. Doll

We are dependent upon relationships with supplierdraiwan, China and the United States for the vasgjority of our products.

We acquire substantially all of our products froramafacturers and distributors located in Taiwarnin€land the United States. Our top
ten suppliers represented approximately 58% otatat product purchases during the fifty-two weeksled January 1, 2011 (“fiscal 2010”).
We do not have any lonigrm contracts or exclusive agreements with owgifor suppliers that would ensure our ability towdce the types ar
guantities of products we desire at acceptableepramd in a timely manner. In addition, our abii@yacquire products from our suppliers in
amounts and on terms acceptable to us is depengdenta number of factors that could affect our §eppand which are beyond our control.
For example, financial or operational difficultidet some of our suppliers may face could resudiniincrease in the cost of the products we
purchase from them. In addition, the increasingsotidation among auto parts suppliers may disrugnal our relationship with some
suppliers, result in product shortages and/or teddss competition and, consequently, higher price

In addition, because many of our suppliers areidetsf the United States, additional factors cantdrrupt our relationships or affect our
ability to acquire the necessary products on aetdpterms, including:

. political, social and economic instability and tirek of war or other international incidents in Agir abroad
. fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates thay increase our cost of produc

. tariffs and protectionist laws and business prastibhat favor local business:

. difficulties in complying with import and exportie, regulatory requirements and restrictions;

. natural disasters and public health emergen

If we do not maintain our relationships with ouistixg suppliers or develop relationships with reyppliers on acceptable commercial
terms, we may not be able to continue to offeraatirselection of merchandise at competitive pricek as a result, we could lose customers
and our sales could decline.

We are dependent upon third parties for distributi@and fulfillment operations with respect to many our products.

For a number of the products that we sell, we autsothe distribution and fulfillment operation aax@é dependent on our distributors to
manage inventory, process orders and distributgetbooducts to our customers in a timely mannerfiseal 2010, our product purchases fr
a single supplier represented 17.3% of our totadlpet purchases. If we do not maintain our existaigtionships with this supplier and our
other distributors on acceptable commercial temeswill need to obtain other suppliers and mayb®able to continue to offer a broad
selection of merchandise at competitive prices,@airdsales may decrease.

In addition, because we outsource to distributararaber of these traditional retail functions rielgtto those products, we have limited
control over how and when orders are fulfilled. Weo have limited control over the products thatdistributors purchase or keep in stock.
Our distributors may not accurately forecast trapcts that will be in high demand or they maycdle popular products to other resellers,
resulting in the unavailability of certain produéts delivery to our customers. Any inability tofeff a broad array of products at competitive
prices and any failure to deliver those productsuncustomers in a timely and accurate mannerdaayage our reputation and brand and
could cause us to lose customers.

We depend on third-party delivery services to daligur products to our customers on a timely anchststent basis, and any deterioration in
our relationship with any one of these third parier increases in the fees that they charge couédrh our reputation and adversely affect
our business and financial condition.

We rely on third parties for the shipment of oungurcts and we cannot be sure that these relatsshil continue on terms favorable to
us, or at all. Shipping costs have increased fiiome to time, and may continue to increase, whialldcbarm our business, prospects, financial
condition and results of operations by increasimgamsts of doing business and resulting in redggeds margins. In addition, if our
relationships with these third parties are terng@dair impaired, or if these third parties are ueabldeliver products for us, whether due to
labor shortage, slow down or stoppage, deterigydtirancial or business condition, responses totist attacks or for any other reason, we
would be required to use alternative carrierstierghipment of products to our customers. Changamgers could have a negative effect on
business and operating results due to reducedlitisilif order status and package tracking and yiela order processing and product delivery,
and we may be unable to engage alternative caoiesstimely basis, upon terms favorable to usitall.
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If commaodity prices such as fuel, plastic and steehtinue to increase, our margins may shrin

Our third party delivery services have increaseal surrcharges from time to time, and such increasgatively impact our margins, as
we are generally unable to pass all of these diststly to consumers. Increasing prices in the ponent materials for the parts we sell may
impact the availability, the quality and the prafeour products, as suppliers search for altereatto existing materials and as they increase the
prices they charge. We cannot ensure that we caivee all the increased costs through price in@gasnd our suppliers may not continue to
provide the consistent quality of product as theyrsubstitute lower cost materials to maintainipgdevels, all of which may have a negative
impact on our business and results of operations.

If our fulfillment operations are interrupted for ay significant period of time or are not sufficierib accommodate increased demand, «
sales would decline and our reputation could be hsed.

Our success depends on our ability to succesgfetlgive and fulfill orders and to promptly delivarr products to our customers. The
majority of orders for our auto body parts prodwars filled from our inventory in our distributianters, where all our inventory managemn
packaging, labeling and product return processeparformed. Increased demand and other considesatiay require us to expand our
distribution centers or transfer our fulfillmentexptions to larger facilities in the future.

Our distribution centers are susceptible to danmageterruption from human error, fire, flood, pawess, telecommunications failures,
terrorist attacks, acts of war, break-ins, eartkgaand similar events. We do not currently mamkeick-up power systems at our fulfillment
centers. We do not presently have a formal disast&very plan and our business interruption instganay be insufficient to compensate us
for losses that may occur in the event operatiosiafulfilment center are interrupted. Any intgptions in our fulfillment operations for any
significant period of time, including interruptionssulting from the expansion of our existing fiieis or the transfer of operations to a new
facility, could damage our reputation and brand suolstantially harm our business and results ofatjpes and alternate arrangements may
increase the cost of fulfillment. In addition, ievdo not successfully expand our fulfillment cafiies in response to increases in demand, we
may not be able to substantially increase our aless

We rely on bandwidth and data center providers asttier third parties to provide products to our costers, and any failure or interruption
in the services provided by these third parties Icbdisrupt our business and cause us to lose cusosn

We rely on third-party vendors, including data egrstnd bandwidth providers. Any disruption in tlegwork access or co-location
services, which are the services that house anddadnternet access to our servers, provided bgdhhird-party providers or any failure of
these third-party providers to handle current ghbr volumes of use could significantly harm ousibass. Any financial or other difficulties
our providers face may have negative effects orbosimess, the nature and extent of which we cgomealict. We exercise little control over
these third-party vendors, which increases ourenalbility to problems with the services they pravitVe also license technology and related
databases from third parties to facilitate elemehtsur e-commerce platform. We have experiencetexpect to continue to experience
interruptions and delays in service and availabftir these elements. Any errors, failures, intptians or delays experienced in connection
with these third-party technologies could negagiveipact our relationship with our customers andeaglely affect our business.

Our systems also heavily depend on the availahifitylectricity, which also comes from third-papgoviders. If we were to experience a
major power outage, we would have to rely on baglgenerators. These back-up generators may noateparoperly through a major power
outage, and their fuel supply could also be inadégiduring a major power outage. Information systsucth as ours may be disrupted by even
brief power outages, or by the fluctuations in povesulting from switches to and from backup getoesa This could disrupt our business and
cause us to lose customers.

We face intense competition and operate in an inttysvith limited barriers to entry, and some of ogompetitors may have greater
resources than us and may be better positionedapitalize on the growing e-commerce auto parts mark

The auto parts industry is competitive and highégfmented, with products distributed through miigtied and overlapping channels. We
compete with both online and offline retailers wafter OEM and aftermarket auto parts to eitherdbét-yourself or do-it-for-me customer
segments. Current or potential competitors inclingefollowing:

* national auto parts retailers such as Advance Raits, AutoZone, Napa Auto Parts, CarQue’Reilly Automotive and Pep Boy
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» large online marketplaces such as Amazon.com aag;

» other online retailers

* local independent retailers or niche auto part;entetailers; an

» wholesale aftermarket auto parts distributors saechKQ Corporation

Barriers to entry are low, and current and new cetitqrs can launch websites at a relatively lowt.clelany of our current and potential
offline competitors have longer operating histgriasger customer bases, greater brand recogratidrsignificantly greater financial,
marketing, technical, management and other ressuihea we do. In addition, some of our competit@rge used and may continue to use
aggressive pricing tactics and devote substantiatiye financial resources to website and systemldpment than we do. We expect that
competition will further intensify in the future &sternet use and online commerce continue to growdwide. Increased competition may
result in reduced sales, lower operating margediced profitability, loss of market share and distied brand recognition.

We would also experience significant competitivegsure if any of our suppliers were to sell theddpicts directly to customers. Since
our suppliers have access to merchandise at vergdgts, they could sell products at lower priaed maintain higher gross margins on their
product sales than we can. In this event, our atiaed potential customers may decide to purchasetly from these suppliers. Increased
competition from any supplier capable of maintagnimgh sales volumes and acquiring products atidgsiees than us could significantly
reduce our market share and adversely impact nandial results.

If we fail to offer a broad selection of products aompetitive prices to meet our custon” demands, our revenue could decline.

In order to expand our business, we must succégsfifiér, on a continuous basis, a broad seleatioauto parts that meet the needs of
our customers. Our auto parts are used by consuoreasvariety of purposes, including repair, pemfiance, improved aesthetics and
functionality. In addition, to be successful, ouoguct offerings must be broad and deep in scaopapetitively priced, well-made, innovative
and attractive to a wide range of consumers. Waagpredict with certainty that we will be successh offering products that meet all of
these requirements. If our product offerings faisatisfy our customers’ requirements or resporthmges in customer preferences, our
revenue could decline.

Challenges by Original Equipment Manufacturers (“Ofs”) to the validity of the aftermarket auto pariadustry and claims of intellectual
property infringement could adversely affect our &iness and the viability of the aftermarket autorfmindustry.

Original equipment manufacturers have attemptadséoclaims of intellectual property infringemenaigt manufacturers and
distributors of aftermarket products to restricebminate the sale of aftermarket products thatthe subject of the claims. The OEMs have
brought such claims in federal court and with thretéd States International Trade Commission. Weelraceived in the past, and we anticig
we may in the future receive, communications afigghat certain products we sell infringe the petecopyrights, trademarks and trade names
or other intellectual property rights of OEMs ohet third parties. For instance, after the thregahalf years of litigation and related costs
expenses, on April 16, 2009, we entered into dese¢int agreement with Ford Motor Company and Fdabh&@ Technologies, LLC that ended
the two legal actions that were initiated by Fogdiast us.

The United States Patent and Trademark Office dscioidicate that OEMs are seeking and obtainingerdesign patents then they have
in the past. To the extent that the OEMs are sséalesith intellectual property infringement claimse could be restricted or prohibited from
selling certain aftermarket products which coulgiéhan adverse effect on our business. Infringerdaiths could also result in increased costs
of doing business arising from increased legal agps, adverse judgments or settlements or changes business practices required to settle
such claims or satisfy any judgments. Litigatiomldaresult in interpretations of the law that reguis to change our business practices or
otherwise increase our costs and harm our busiésslo not maintain insurance coverage to covetyihes of claims that could be asserte
a successful claim were brought against us, itcceMpose us to significant liability.

If we are unable to protect our intellectual propgrrights, our reputation and brand could be impaid and we could lose custome

We regard our trademarks, trade secrets and simikdtectual property such as our proprietary baokl order processing and fulfillment
code and process as important to our success. Werré¢rademark and copyright law, and trade sqaretection, and confidentiality and/or
license agreements with employees, customers,grarémd others to protect our proprietary rights. d&nnot be certain that we have taken
adequate steps to protect our proprietary riglsizeeially in countries where the laws may not moterr rights as fully as in the United States.
In addition, our proprietary rights may be infrimber misappropriated, and we could be requireddar significant expenses to preserve them.
For instance, on
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June 25, 2009, we filed a lawsuit in United St@edrict Court, Central District of California ageit PartsGeek LLC, its members and several
of its employees, alleging, among other things amisopriation of trade secrets, breach of conadtunfair competition. We are requesting
both monetary and injunctive relief. The outcomewch litigation is uncertain, and the cost of pmaging the litigation may have an adverse
impact on our earnings. We have common law tradkesnas well as pending federal trademark registnatfor several marks and three
registered marks. Even if we obtain approval ohspending registrations, the resulting registratioray not adequately cover our intellectual
property or protect us against infringement by thEffective trademark, service mark, copyriglattemt and trade secret protection may nc
available in every country in which our productsl @ervices may be made available online. We als@tly own or control a number of
Internet domain names, includimgvw.usautoparts.netwww.autopartswarehouse.cgmvww.partstrain.com www.jcwhitney.comand
www.stylintrucks.comand have invested time and money in the purchaderofin names and other intellectual property, tviniay be
impaired if we cannot protect such intellectualgedy. We may be unable to protect these domairesamacquire or maintain relevant
domain names in the United States and in othertdegnIf we are not able to protect our trademadksnain names or other intellectual
property, we may experience difficulties in achigyand maintaining brand recognition and customglty.

If our product catalog database is stolen, misappriated or damaged, or if a competitor is able t@ate a substantially similar catalo
without infringing our rights, then we may lose aimportant competitive advantage.

We have invested significant resources and timeutidl and maintain our product catalog, which ismtened in the form of an electrol
database, which maps SKUs to relevant productegtins based on vehicle makes, models and yeardélieve that our product catalog
provides us with an important competitive advantageoth driving traffic to our websites and cortirgy that traffic to revenue by enabling
customers to quickly locate the products they nregqiWe cannot assure you that we will be able ¢dgt our product catalog from
unauthorized copying or theft or that our prodwtaiog will continue to operate adequately, withany technological challenges. In addition,
it is possible that a competitor could develop talog or database that is similar to or more cotmpngive than ours, without infringing our
rights. In the event our product catalog is damaged stolen, copied or otherwise replicated tmpete with us, whether lawfully or not, we
may lose an important competitive advantage anduosiness could be harmed.

Our e-commerce system is dependent on open-souwsfterare, which exposes us to uncertainty and potehiiability.

We utilize open-source software such as Linux, ApadlySQL, PHP, Fedora and Perl throughout our preperties and supporting
infrastructure although we have created proprigiaograms. Open-source software is maintained pagdaged by a general community of
software developers under various open-sourcedegrincluding the GNU General Public License (“GPThese developers are under no
obligation to maintain, enhance or provide anydire updates to this software in the future. Addiilly, under the terms of the GPL and other
open-source licenses, we may be forced to releatbe tpublic sourceode internally developed by us pursuant to sumnBes. Furthermore,
any of these developers contribute any code ofrstiteany of the software that we use, we may Ip@gead to claims and liability for
intellectual property infringement. A number of swits are currently pending against third partiesrdhe ownership rights to the various
components within some opaource software that we use. If the outcome ofethessuits is unfavorable, we may be held liablaritellectua
property infringement based on our use of these-gpearrce software components. We may also be fdocedplement changes to the code-
base for this software or replace this softward witernally developed or commercially licensedwafe.

We face exposure to product liability lawsuits.

The automotive industry in general has been subjeatiarge number of product liability claims doehe nature of personal injuries that
result from car accidents or malfunctions. As drittigtor of auto parts, including parts obtaineei®eas, we could be held liable for the injury
or damage caused if the products we sell are deéeat malfunction. While we carry insurance agapreduct liability claims, if the damages
in any given action were high or we were subjecattdtiple lawsuits, the damages and costs couléexthe limits of our insurance coverage.
If we were required to pay substantial damagesrasudt of these lawsuits, it may seriously harmlmusiness and financial condition. Even
defending against unsuccessful claims could casige incur significant expenses and result in @idivon of management’s attention. In
addition, even if the money damages themselvesalidause substantial harm to our business, thageto our reputation and the brands
offered on our websites could adversely affectfature reputation and our brand, and could resudt decline in our net sales and profitability.

We rely on key personnel and may need additionatpeanel for the success and growth of our business.

Our business is largely dependent on the persdfmateand abilities of highly skilled executivechnical, managerial, merchandising,
marketing, and call center personnel. Competit@rstich personnel is intense, and we cannot agsurthat we will be successful in attract
and retaining such personnel. The loss of any keyl@yee or our inability to attract or retain otlyeralified employees could harm our
business and results of operations.
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System failures, including failures due to naturdisasters or other catastrophic events, could preveccess to our websites, which col
reduce our net sales and harm our reputation.

Our sales would decline and we could lose exigtingotential customers if they are not able to asa@air websites or if our websites,
transactions processing systems or network infresire do not perform to our customers’ satisfactiny Internet network interruptions or
problems with our websites could:

» prevent customers from accessing our webs

» reduce our ability to fulfill orders or bill custars;
* reduce the number of products that we ¢

» cause customer dissatisfaction:

« damage our brand and reputati

We have experienced brief computer system inteionptin the past, and we believe they will contitmeccur from time to time in the
future. Our systems and operations are also vubfeeta damage or interruption from a number of sesyincluding a natural disaster or other
catastrophic event such as an earthquake, typlotanic eruption, fire, flood, terrorist attackymoputer viruses, power loss,
telecommunications failure, physical and electrdmigak-ins and other similar events. For example headquarters and the majority of our
infrastructure, including some of our servers,laoated in Southern California, a seismically agtiggion. We also maintain offshore and
outsourced operations in the Philippines, an drathas been subjected to a typhoon and a voleanjtion in the past. In addition, California
has in the past experienced power outages as laoébmited electrical power supplies and duedaent fires in the southern part of the state.
Such outages, natural disasters and similar eveaysrecur in the future and could disrupt the of@neof our business. Our technology
infrastructure is also vulnerable to computer \@sjphysical or electronic break-ins and similaruitions. Although the critical portions of
our systems are redundant and backup copies argaimad offsite, not all of our systems and da&afally redundant. We do not presently
have a formal disaster recovery plan in effect imag not have sufficient insurance for losses thay wccur from natural disasters or
catastrophic events. Any substantial disruptionwftechnology infrastructure could cause inteiinms or delays in our business and loss of
data or render us unable to accept and fulfill @ustr orders or operate our websites in a timelymagror at all.

Risks Related To Our Common Stock

Our stock price has been and may continue to beatit#, which may result in losses to our stockhotde

The market prices of technology and e-commerce emieg generally have been extremely volatile ave hacently experienced sharp
share price and trading volume changes. The trgmliieg of our common stock is likely to be volatiled could fluctuate widely in response to,
among other things, the risk factors describethigmteport and other factors beyond our controhsagfluctuations in the operations or
valuations of companies perceived by investorstadmparable to us, our ability to meet analystpeetations, or conditions or trends in the
Internet or auto parts industries.

Since the completion of our initial public offerimg February 2007, the trading price of our comratotk has been volatile, ranging from
a high of $12.61 per share to a low per share diGtWe have also experienced significant fluctretiin the trading volume of our common
stock. General economic and political conditioneelated to our performance may also adversely &ffecprice of our common stock. In the
past, following periods of volatility in the marketice of a public company’s securities, securitkess action litigation has often been initiated.
Due to the inherent uncertainties of litigation, @@not predict the ultimate outcome of any sutdpaliion if it were initiated. The initiation of
any such litigation or an unfavorable result cdudde a material adverse effect on our financiatl@@n and results of operation.

Our executive officers and directors own a sign#iat percentage of our stock.

As of January 1, 2011, our executive officers aindatiors and entities that are affiliated with theemeficially owned in the aggregate
approximately 45.3% of our outstanding shares airoon stock. This significant concentration of shammership may adversely affect the
trading price for our common stock because invesiften perceive disadvantages in owning stoclomganies with controlling stockholders.
Also, these stockholders, acting together, wilabée to significantly influence our management affdirs and matters requiring stockholder
approval including the election of our entire Boafdirectors and certain significant corporaté@ts such as mergers, consolidations or the
sale of substantially all of our assets. As a tehis concentration of ownership could delayedefr prevent others from initiating a potential
merger, takeover or other change in our contra@ndf/these actions would benefit our other stoddtéis and us.
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Our future operating results may fluctuate and mé#gil to meet market expectations.

We expect that our revenue and operating resultsvitinue to fluctuate from quarter to quarteeda various factors, many of which
are beyond our control. If our quarterly revenu@perating results fall below the expectationswkstors or securities analysts, the price of
our common stock could significantly decline. Thetbrs that could cause our operating results ntirnee to fluctuate include, but are not
limited to:

» fluctuations in the demand for aftermarket autds:
» price competition on the Internet or among offlie&ailers for auto part:
» our ability to attract visitors to our websites ammhvert those visitors into custome

« our ability to maintain and expand our supplier digdribution relationships without significant gei increases or reduced service
levels;

» the effects of seasonality on the demand for codycts;

» our ability to accurately forecast demand for owgduicts, price our products at market rates anaehtaiai appropriate inventory
levels;

» our ability to build and maintain customer loyal

» our ability to successfully integrate our acquisis;

» infringement actions that could impact the viaitif the auto parts aftermarket or portions ther
» the success of our bre-building and marketing campaigr

» our ability to accurately project our future revespearnings, and results of operatic

« government regulations related to use of the letegfior commerce, including the application of exigttax regulations to Internet
commerce and changes in tax regulatic

» technical difficulties, system downtime or Interbedbwnouts

» the amount and timing of operating costs and ch@ipenditures relating to expansion of our busineperations and
infrastructure; ani

+ the impact of adverse economic conditions on retdés, in genere

If we fail to maintain an effective system of inteal control over financial reporting or comply witlsection 404 of the Sarban-Oxley Act o
2002, we may not be able to accurately report daehcial results or prevent fraud, and our stockipe could decline.

While management has concluded that our internaals over financial reporting were effective dslanuary 1, 2011, we have in the
past, and could in the future, have a material wes& or significant deficiency in our control ofieancial reporting or fail to comply with
Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.4dffail to properly maintain an effective systemraérnal control over financial reporting, it
could impact our ability to prevent fraud or toussour financial statements in a timely manner phasents fairly our financial condition and
results of operations. The existence of any sufitidecies or weaknesses, even if cured, may a&ad to the loss of investor confidence in the
reliability of our financial statements, could haowr business and negatively impact the tradingepof our common stock. Such deficiencies
or material weaknesses may also subject us to lesygwestigations and other penalties.

Our charter documents could deter a takeover effavhich could inhibit your ability to receive an gaisition premium for your shares.
Provisions in our certificate of incorporation amdaws could make it more difficult for a third pato acquire us, even if doing so wol
be beneficial to our stockholders. Such provisioctude the following:

» our Board of Directors are authorized, without pgtockholder approval, to create and issue prediestock which could be used
implement an-takeover devices

« advance notice is required for director nominationfr proposals that can be acted upon at stddkhoneetings

» our Board of Directors is classified such that abmembers of our board are elected at one tinmégiwmay make it more difficu
for a person who acquires control of a majoritypof outstanding voting stock to replace all or gamty of our directors

» stockholder action by written consent is prohibigadept with regards to an action that has beeroapd by the Boarc
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» special meetings of the stockholders are permitidge called only by the chairman of our Board akbtors, our chief executi
officer or by a majority of our Board of Directol

» stockholders are not permitted to cumulate thetesdor the election of directors; a
» stockholders are permitted to amend certain prongsdf our bylaws only upon receiving at leas 2/ 3% of the votes entitled to |
cast by holders of all outstanding shares thertledtio vote generally in the election of directarsting together as a single cla
We do not intend to pay dividends on our commoncto

We currently intend to retain any future earningd €o not expect to pay any cash dividends on apita stock for the foreseeable
future.

General Market and Industry Risk

Economic conditions have had, and may continue tave an adverse effect on the demand for aftermareto parts and could adverse
affect our sales and operating results.

We sell aftermarket auto parts consisting of baaly @ngine parts used for repair and maintenancrpence parts used to enhance
performance or improve aesthetics and accesshidtdncrease functionality or enhance a vehicle&ddres. Demand for our products has been
and may continue to be adversely affected by géeemomic conditions. In declining economies, coners often defer regular vehicle
maintenance and may forego purchases of nonedsestiarmance and accessories products, whichesuitrin a decrease in demand for auto
parts in general. Consumers also defer purchassesvof/ehicles, which immediately impacts performeaparts and accessories, which are
generally purchased in the first six months of higle’s lifespan. In addition, during economic ddawms some competitors may become more
aggressive in their pricing practices, which woattversely impact our gross margin and could caarge Ifluctuations in our stock price.
Certain suppliers may exit the industry which mmapact our ability to procure parts and may advgreapact gross margin as the remaining
suppliers increase prices to take advantage ofdthéompetition.

Vehicle miles driven, vehicle accident rates andimance companies’ willingness to accept a variefytypes of replacement parts in the
repair process have fluctuated and may decreasegctvicould result in a decline of our revenues aneégatively affect our results of
operations.

We and our industry depend on the number of velmidles driven, vehicle accident rates and insuraeepanieswillingness to accept
variety of types of replacement parts in the repeicess. Decreased miles driven reduce the nudfilzecidents and corresponding deman
crash parts, and reduce the wear and tear on eshigth a corresponding reduction in demand foiicleliepairs and replacement or hard p
all of which may reduce our revenues and advelisghact our results of operations.

The success of our business depends on the contirgrewth of the Internet as a retail marketplace éithe related expansion of the
Internet infrastructure.

Our future success depends upon the continued alebpread acceptance and adoption of the Intesn@tvahicle to purchase products.
If customers or manufacturers are unwilling to theelnternet to conduct business and exchangeniaion, our business will fail. The
commercial acceptance and use of the Internet rmagamtinue to develop at historical rates, or mayydevelop as quickly as we expect. The
growth of the Internet, and in turn the growth af business, may be inhibited by concerns overpgivand security, including concerns
regarding “viruses” and “worms,” reliability issuassing from outages or damage to Internet infeastire, delays in development or adoption
of new standards and protocols to handle the desafithicreased Internet activity, decreased adaiisgi increased government regulation,
and taxation of Internet activity. In addition, dursiness growth may be adversely affected if tiberhet infrastructure does not keep pace with
the growing Internet activity and is unable to supphe demands placed upon it, or if there isdalgy in the development of enabling
technologies and performance improvements.

Negative conditions in the global credit markets ynianpair the liquidity of a portion of our investmgs portfolio, and adversely affect ot
results of operations and access to financing.

Our investment securities consist of high-gradeiancate preferred securities (“ARPS”). As of Janul, 2011, our long-term
marketable securities were comprised of $4.2 mnil{jear value) of high-grade (AAA rated) ARPS isspeidharily by closed end funds that
primarily hold debt obligations from municipaliti€Bhe recent negative conditions in the global itne@rkets have prevented some investors
from liquidating their holdings, including their ldings of ARPS. In response to the credit situatinriFebruary 2008, we instructed our
investment advisor to liquidate all our investméantslosed end funds and move these funds into gnoreket investments but there was
insufficient demand at auction for our
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remaining four high-grade ARPS, representing apprately $7.8 million at that time. As a result, $eeaffected securities currently are not
liquid, and have been reclassified as long-ternestments. For the period June 30, 2008 throughadwariy 2011, an additional $3.5 million of
our investments in ARPS were redeemed but we d&mmw when we will have access to the capital @sthremaining investments. In the
event we need to access the funds that are itiguid state, we will not be able to do so withaubss of principal or until a future auction on
these investments is successful, the securitiesedemed by the issuer or a secondary market esidfgve cannot readily access these fu
we may be required to borrow funds or issue adufiiclebt or equity securities to meet our capéglirements. As of January 1, 2011,
management concluded that these remaining investmere temporarily impaired and has recognizedraealized loss in other
comprehensive income totaling $0.1 million. Managetris not sure that these investments will nasddded in the short term, although the
market for these investments is presently uncerththe credit ratings of the security issuersedierate and any decline in market value is
determined to be other-than-temporary, we wouldegired to adjust the carrying value of the inrrestt through an additional impairment
charge.

We may be subject to liability for sales and othiaxes and penalties, which could have an adverdeafon our business.

We currently collect sales or other similar taxaly@n the shipment of goods to the states of Galif, Kansas, Tennessee and Virginia
and, through our acquisition of WAG, in lllinoisé@@hio. The U.S. Supreme Court has ruled that vengbose only connection with
customers in a state is by common carrier or tf& bhail are free from stateyposed duties to collect sales and use taxesirstate. Howeve
states could seek to impose additional income digations or sales tax collection obligations ant-of-state companies such as ours, which
engage in or facilitate online commerce, basedheir interpretation of existing laws, including t8apreme Court ruling, or specific facts
relating to us. If sales tax obligations are susfidly imposed upon us by a state or other jurisoiic we could be exposed to substantial tax
liabilities for past sales and penalties and filmedailure to collect sales taxes. We could algffes decreased sales in that state or jurisdiction
as the effective cost of purchasing goods frornaeeiases for those residing in that state or jiatisoh.

In addition, a number of states, as well as the Gdhgress, have been considering various inigatthat could limit or supersede the
Supreme Court’s apparent position regarding saldsuge taxes on Internet sales. If any of thesiativies are enacted, we could be required to
collect sales and use taxes in additional statdanrevenue could be adversely affected. Furtbegnthe U.S. Congress has not yet extended
a moratorium, which was first imposed in 1998 bas Bince expired, on state and local governmehiktyato impose new taxes on Internet
access and Internet transactions. The impositiostdtte and local governments of various taxes Uip@nnet commerce could create
administrative burdens for us as well as substiintrapair the growth of e-commerce and adversélga our revenue and profitability. Since
our service is available over the Internet in npldtistates, these jurisdictions may require usutdify to do business in these states. If we fz
qualify in a jurisdiction that requires us to dq s could face liabilities for taxes and penalties

We could be liable for breaches of security on auebsites.

A fundamental requirement for e-commerce is theigetransmission of confidential information oveibpic networks. Anyone who is
able to circumvent our security measures could ppisgpriate proprietary information or cause intptions in our operations. Although we
have developed systems and processes that aree@sgprotect consumer information and preventdudent credit card transactions and
other security breaches, failure to mitigate swahd or breaches may adversely affect our operatisgits. We may be required to expend
significant capital and other resources to proagetinst potential security breaches or to alleypabblems caused by any breach. We rely on
licensed encryption and authentication technolaggrovide the security and authentication necedearyecure transmission of confidential
information, including credit card numbers. Advamae computer capabilities, new discoveries infiblel of cryptography, or other events or
developments may result in a compromise or breétiecalgorithms that we use to protect custonsrdaction data. In the event someone
circumvents our security measures, it could seljooarm our business and reputation and we cowdd tmstomers. Security breaches could
also expose us to a risk of loss or litigation apdsible liability for failing to secure confidealticustomer information.

If we do not respond to technological change, ouebsites could become obsolete and our financiauiessand conditions could be advers
affected.

We maintain a network of websites which requirdsssantial development and maintenance efforts eatails significant technical and
business risks. To remain competitive, we mustinartto enhance and improve the responsivenesstjdnality and features of our websites.
The Internet and the e-commerce industry are ctexiaed by rapid technological change, the emerg@fcew industry standards and
practices and changes in customer requirementprafiekences. Therefore, we may be required tosie@merging technologies, enhance our
existing websites, develop new services and teclgyahat address the increasingly sophisticatedvaniéd needs of our current and
prospective customers, and adapt to technologibadreces and emerging industry and regulatory stasdand practices in a cost-effective and
timely manner. Our ability to remain technologigatbmpetitive may require substantial expenditanmed lead time and our failure to do so
may harm our business and results of operations.
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Existing or future government regulation could expe us to liabilities and costly changes in our busss operations and could redu
customer demand for our products and services.

We are subject to federal and state consumer gimtdaws and regulations, including laws protegtihe privacy of customer ngublic
information and regulations prohibiting unfair ashekceptive trade practices, as well as laws andatgns governing businesses in general and
the Internet and e-commerce and certain envirorshi&aws. Additional laws and regulations may bepdd with respect to the Internet, the
effect of which on e-commerce is uncertain. ThasesImay cover issues such as user privacy, spyaval¢he tracking of consumer activities,
marketing e-mails and communications, other adsiagiand promotional practices, money transfeising, content and quality of products
and services, taxation, electronic contracts ahdratommunications, intellectual property rightsd anformation security. Furthermore, it is
not clear how existing laws such as those goverisisiges such as property ownership, sales and tatkes, trespass, data mining and
collection, and personal privacy apply to the In&trand e-commerce. For example, California hasteddegislation banning the sale of
catalytic converters that do not meet Californidssions regulations, and the current federal adstration has indicated that 13 additional
states will be allowed to enact their own legislatihat mirrors the California legislation. Durig§10 and in early 2011, we met with the
California Air Resources Board (“CARB") to discuslteged sales of catalytic converters into Califatoy us and our third-party suppliers that
are not compliant with California regulations. CARBormed us that penalties may be assessed vgtrdeo any non-compliant sales;
discussions are ongoing, and any penalties aregtimhable at this time. This will impact sale obgucts for emissions systems to those states
and may adversely impact our sales and operatsutse To the extent we expand into internationatkats, we will be faced with complying
with local laws and regulations, some of which rbaymaterially different than U.S. laws and regolasi. Any such foreign law or regulation,
any new U.S. law or regulation, or the interpretatr application of existing laws and regulatibtmshe Internet or other online services or our
business in general, may have a material advefset @n our business, prospects, financial condlitind results of operations by, among other
things, impeding the growth of the Internet, sutifgrus to fines, penalties, damages or otherliieds, requiring costly changes in our busir
operations and practices, and reducing customeadéror our products and services. We do not miaiimsurance coverage to cover the
types of claims or liabilities that could ariseaagesult of such regulation.

We may be affected by global climate change oréwal, regulatory, or market responses to such chang

The growing political and scientific sentimentlist global weather patterns are being influencethtrieased levels of greenhouse gases
in the earth’s atmosphere. This growing sentimedttae concern over climate change have led tglegie and regulatory initiatives aimed at
reducing greenhouse gas emissions. For exampleogats that would impose mandatory requiremengreenhouse gas emissions contint
be considered by policy makers in the United Stdtew's enacted that directly or indirectly affear suppliers (through an increase in the cost
of production or their ability to produce satisfargt products) or our business (through an impaatuwrinventory availability, cost of sales,
operations or demand for the products we sell)ccadversely affect our business, financial conditie@sults of operations and cash flows.
Significant increases in fuel economy requirementsew federal or state restrictions on emissidreadbon dioxide that may be imposed on
vehicles and automobile fuels could adversely affieecnand for vehicles, annual miles driven or tfadpcts we sell or lead to changes in
automotive technology. Compliance with any new orenstringent laws or regulations, or stricteriptetations of existing laws, could require
additional expenditures by us or our suppliers. @ability to respond to changes in automotive redbgy could adversely impact the demand
for our products and our business, financial coowjtresults of operations or cash flows.

The United States government may substantially E&@se border controls and impose restrictions onss-dborder commerce that may
substantially harm our busines:

We purchase a substantial portion of our produois fforeign manufacturers and other suppliers whwee products internationally.
Restrictions on shipping goods into the United &tdtom other countries pose a substantial rigkutdousiness. Particularly since the terrorist
attacks on September 11, 2001, the United Statesrgment has substantially increased border sleme# and controls. If the United States
were to impose further border controls and restnst, impose quotas, tariffs or import duties, @ase the documentation requirements
applicable to cross border shipments or take athions that have the effect of restricting thevflaf goods from other countries to the United
States, we may have greater difficulty acquiringiouentory in a timely manner, experience shippiletays, or incur increased costs and
expenses, all of which would substantially harm lousiness and results of operations.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES

As of January 1, 2011, the square footage of ageld and owned office and warehouse space was0@02n@ 347,000, respectively. (
corporate headquarters and primary distributioriersrare located in Carson, California and LaSdlleois in approximately 485,000 square
feet of office and warehouse space. We have a @8&@uare foot distribution center in Chesapeak®ifa. We currently lease
approximately 43,000 square feet of office spadiénPhilippines for our employees located in timatntry. In August 2010, we assumed the
leases of office and warehouse space originallgredtby WAG. The leased properties are locateddependence, Ohio and Chicago, lllinois
and are approximately 61,000 and 22,000 squarertesgtectively. For additional information regagliwur obligations under property leases,
see“Note 13-Commitments and Contingenciex'the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementtided in Part IV, Item 15 of this report.

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

The information set forth under the caption “Lelykltters” in Note 13 of the Notes to Consolidateddricial Statements, included in Part
IV, Item 15 of this report, is incorporated herbinreference. For an additional discussion of @eriaks associated with legal proceedings, see
the section entitled “Risk Factors” in Item 1A bfg report.

ITEM 4. RESERVED
PART II
ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT 'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND IS SUER
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES
Market Information

Our common stock is being trading on the NASDAQaldMarket under the symbol “PRTS.” The table bekeis forth the high and
low sales prices of our common stock for the peviodicated:

High Low
Quarter ended April 4, 20( $1.8C $1.01
Quarter ended July 4, 20 4.13 1.61
Quarter ended October 3, 20 6.3t 3.5¢
Quarter ended January 2, 2( 6.24 4.2¢
Quarter ended April 3, 201 7.6 5.11
Quarter ended July 3, 20 9.4C 6.0C
Quarter ended October 2, 20 9.04 5.92
Quarter ended January 1, 2( 9.07 7.7%

On March 16, 2011, the last reported sale priceuofcommon stock on the NASDAQ Global Market was/$6er share.

Holders
As of March 11, 2011, there were approximately @@6-objecting holders of record of our common stock
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Stock Performance Graph
The material in this section is not “soliciting neaial,” is not deemed “filed” with the SEC, and dhaot be deemed to be incorporated by
reference into any of our filings under the SedesitAct of 1933, as amended, or the Securities &g Act of 1934, as amended.

The following graph shows a comparison of the totahulative returns of an investment of $100 irhcais February 9, 2007, the first
trading day following our initial public offeringni(i) our common stock, (ii) the Morgan Stanley Aieclogy Index, (iii) the S&P 500 Retalil
Index and (iv) NASDAQ Composite Index, in each ciseugh January 1, 2011. The comparisons in taplgare required by the SEC and are
not intended to forecast or be indicative of thegilole future performance of our common stock. ditegh assumes that all dividends have
been reinvested (to date, we have not declaredetids).
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Dividend Policy

No dividends were paid during the fifty-two weeksled January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011. We tlyrietend to retain any future
earnings to finance the growth and developmentiobosiness, and we do not anticipate that wedeitlare or pay any cash dividends on our
common stock in the foreseeable future. In Aug04i02 the Company and Silicon Valley Bank entered &nLoan and Security Agreement .
other definitive documentation for a $35 milliorceeed credit facility. The Loan and Security Agresmrequires us to obtain a prior written
consent from Silicon Valley Bank when we deterntm@ay any dividends on or make any distributiothwespect to our common stock. See
“Liquidity and Capital Resourcesih Item 7 of Part Il included in this report forrther information on the covenants under the setaredit
facility. Any future determination to pay cash dignds will be subject to the above restriction af &s restrictions under any other existing
indebtedness at the discretion of our Board of @ies and will be dependent upon our financial dool results of operations, capital
requirements, and other factors the Board of Dimsotleems relevant.

Sales of Unregistered Securities
None.

Use of Proceeds from Sales of Registered Securities

On February 14, 2007, we completed the initial ublffering of our common stock, pursuant to whieé sold 8,000,000 shares of our
common stock and the selling stockholders soldgamesgate of 3,500,000 shares of our common stobicfwincluded 1,500,000 shares sold
by the selling stockholders pursuant to the exerofs¢he underwriters’ over-allotment option) a thitial public offering price of $10.00 per
share. The shares of common stock sold in theinffavere registered under the Securities Act oegstration statement on Form S-1 (File.
No. 33:-138379) that was declared effective by the SEEeahruary 8, 2007. RBC Capital Markets Corporatidimmas Weisel Partners LLC,
Piper Jaffray & Co., and JMP Securities LLC were tb-managing underwriters for the offering.
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The aggregate purchase price of the shares sald bythe offering was $80.0 million. The aggregaiechase price of the shares sold by
the selling stockholders was $35.0 million. We #melselling stockholders paid to the underwriterdarwriting discounts and commissions
totaling $5.6 million and $2.5 million, respectiyein connection with the offering. In addition, \ieeurred additional expenses of
approximately $2.9 million in connection with théesing. After deducting the underwriting discouaisd commissions and offering expenses,
we received net proceeds from the offering of apipnately $71.5 million. We did not receive any peeds from the sale of shares by the
selling stockholders.

Approximately $28.0 million of the net proceedsnfrthe offering was used to repay our outstandidglitedness under two term loans
for approximately $18.0 million and $10.0 milligmayable to our commercial lender. In addition, $8ilion of the net proceeds from the
offering was paid on the notes payable to the fost@ckholders of Partsbin. Except for the paynuérsuch debt, none of the net proceeds
from the offering were paid directly or indirectly any of our directors or officers (or their adates) or persons owning ten percent or more of
any class of our equity securities or to any otféliate, other than in the form of wages or s@amand bonuses paid out in the ordinary course
of business. In March 2007, a class action lawsa filed alleging violations of federal securitlaw/ in connection with our initial public
offering. The Company entered into a settlement¢@ment in this regard in May 2008. In July 2008, @ompany funded the settlement
consideration to an escrow account totaling $3Maniwhich was court approved in October 2008 anlisequently disbursed. The remaining
net proceeds from the offering have been investéaviestment-grade securities, and acquisitioreseéts and businesses.

Purchases of Equity Securities by the Issuer and fifiated Purchaser
We did not repurchase any of our outstanding ecqégturities during the most recent quarter covbyetthis report.
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

The following selected financial information asawfd for the dates and periods indicated have beewed from our audited consolidated
financial statements. The information set fortholels not necessarily indicative of results of fetoperations, and should be read in
conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and As&yof Financial Condition and Results of Operatian Part II, Iltem 7 of this report and
our consolidated financial statements and relatgdsincluded elsewhere in this report.

Consolidated Statements of Operations Date
Net sales
Cost of sale:
Gross profil
Operating expense
Marketing
General and administrati\
Fulfillment
Technology
Amortization of intangibles and impairment
loss
Impairment loss on goodwi
Total operating expens:
Income (loss) from operatiol
Other (expense) income, r
Income (loss) before income tax
Income tax provision (benefi
Net income (loss

Basic net income (loss) per shi

Diluted net income (loss) per shi

Shares used in computation of basic net income)
per share

Shares used in computation of diluted net income
(loss) per shar

(1) Calendar year 2006 includes the results of Partsidiich was acquired in May 2006, and is not reflddn prior periods
(2) Calendar year 2007 includes a reserve of $4.5anifior the securities litigation settlement fee asdociated expenst

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, 52 Weeks 52 Weeks
2006 2007 2008 Ended Ended
(“calendar (“calendar (“calendar January 2, January 1,
year 2006") year year 2010 (“fiscal 2011 (“fiscal
(1) 2007")(2) 2008")(3) 2009") 2010")(4)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
$ 120,06( $ 160,95 $ 153,42 $ 176,28 $ 262,27
78,57 107,13: 100,86¢ 112,41 172,66¢
41,48 53,82t 52,55 63,87: 89,60¢
15,10: 21,55 22,96¢ 23,41¢ 38,757
9,59/ 18,58 18,23¢ 19,64( 28,62¢
4,963 7,551 9,11¢ 11,431 14,94¢
1,332 1,981 3,642 4,467 5,90z
5,097 8,35( 23,89¢ 661 2,804
— — 4,43( — —
36,08: 58,03: 82,28: 59,624 91,03’
5,40¢ (4,207 (29,729 4,24¢ (1,42¢)
(1,35¢) 1,14¢ 1,00( 191 (280)
4,04¢ (3,059 (28,729 4,44( (1,709
55C 53¢ (11,827 3,12¢ 12,21¢
$  3,49¢ $ (359) $ (16,900 $ 1,317 $ (13,92
$ 0.2¢ $ (0.19 % (057) % 00 $ (0.4€)
$ 0.17 $ (0.19 3 (057 $ 0.04 $ (0.4€)
14,437,65 28,274,02 29,846,75 29,851,87 30,269,46
19,990,43 28,274,02 29,846,75 30,809,11 30,269,46

(3) Calendar year 2008 includes a $23.4 million-cash impairment charge on goodwill and intangilskeets
(4) Fiscal 2010 includes the results of WAG whiclisvacquired in August 2010, and is not reflectegtior periods. During fiscal 2010, the
net sales of $39.1 million and the net loss of $6illon of WAG were included in the consolidatedtement of operations since the
acquisition date of August 12, 2010. Also the rettgn of $13.6 million valuation allowance for @efed income tax assets was inclu
in fiscal 2010. The total valuation allowance reeddiuring the year was $18.3 million, of which $#illion was recorded as a reduction
to the value of the acquired deferred tax asse¥8AG recorded as part of the purchase accountingViaG.
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Year Ended Year Ended
Year Ended 52 Weeks 52 Weeks
December 31 December 31 December 31 Ended Ended
January 2, January 1,
2006 2007 2008 2010 2011
(in thousands)
Consolidated Balance Sheet Date
Cash and cash equivale $ 2,381 $ 19,39¢ $ 32,47 $ 26,25 $ 17,59t
Working (deficit) capital (1 (11,219 40,42: 36,01 42,04¢ 20,68¢
Total assets (z 69,91( 110,05¢ 90,43( 104,61 153,53
Notes payable to stockholde 5,00( 1,00(¢ — — —
Long-term debt (excluding notes payable to stockholdad
current portion’ 20,78¢ 48 — — 18,06(
Stockholder’ equity 20,61: 91,64: 77,52: 82,68 72,80

(1) Calendar year 2008 excludes $6.5 million of investta which were reclassified to I--term due to illiquidity in the marke
Additionally, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010 excludé 3 million and $4.1 million, respectively, of tekame investment

(2) Fiscal 2010 includes a deferred income tax asseatian allowance of $18.3 million that is netteghinst the total assets as of Janual
2011.

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT ’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AN D RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion of our financial conditiand results of operations should be read togettidr our consolidated financial
statements and related notes included in ParttMml15 of this report. This discussion containsvBnd-looking statements that involve risks
and uncertainties. As a result of many factorshsag those set forth under the section entitledkRiactors” in Item 1A and elsewhere in this
report, our actual results may differ materiallpi those anticipated in these forward-looking stegats.

We are one of the largest online providers of aftgket auto parts, including body parts, enginéspand performance parts and
accessories. Our user-friendly websites providéoousrs with a broad selection of Stock Keeping &lrat SKUs, with detailed product
descriptions and photographs. Our proprietary prbdatabase maps our SKUs to product applicatiassdbon vehicle makes, models and
years. We principally sell our products to indivédlgonsumers through our network of websites atid@marketplaces. Our flagship websi
are located avww.autopartswarehouse.cgnvww.partstrain.comwww.jcwhitney.comwww.stylintrucks.corand our corporate website is
located atvww.usautoparts.netWe believe our strategy of disintermediating tiaglitional auto parts supply chain and sellingduats directl
to customers over the Internet allows us to mdiieieftly deliver products to our customers whikengrating higher margins.

Our History. We were formed in Delaware in 1995 as a distdbof aftermarket auto parts and launched our fiedbsite in 2000. We
rapidly expanded our online operations, increagiiegnumber of SKUs sold through our e-commerce odvadding additional websites,
acquiring the Partsbin, improving our Internet nedirkg proficiency and commencing sales in onlinekatplaces. Additionally, in August
2010, through our acquisition of WAG, we expandadmroduct-lines and increased our customer reatle do-it-yourself automobile and
off-road accessories market. As a result, our lassithas grown since 2000, generating net salex6@f @illion for fiscal 2010.

International Operationsin April 2007, we entered into a purchase agreentehting in-house certain sales and customer gervi
employees based in the Philippines, who were piogidupport to us through our outsourced call agotevider, Access Worldwide. As of the
closing of this transaction, approximately 17 1hd Access Worldwide employees had agreed to trangiter to direct employment by our
Philippines subsidiary. The purchase price forrigkt to acquire this assembled workforce was axiprately $1.7 million. We had 991
employees in our Philippines operations as of Jgn8ik, 2011. In addition to our Philippines opesat, we own a Canadian subsidiary to
facilitate sales of our products in Canada whictiently has no employees. We believe that the adgantages of our offshore operations
provide us with the ability to grow our businessinost-effective manner, and we expect to contiawseld headcount and infrastructure to our
offshore operations.

AcquisitionsFrom time to time, we may acquire certain busingssebsites, domain names, or other assets. lhitidequarter of fiscal
2009, we completed the acquisition of the assetssmhall website and the related domain names whither expanded and enhanced our
product offering and our ability to reach more oasérs. In the first quarter of fiscal 2010, we cdetgd two additional website and domain
name asset acquisitions, which we expect will iasesour net
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sales and internet traffic. In August 2010, Go Fida., a wholly-owned subsidiary of ours, compietiee purchase of all of the outstanding
capital stock of Automotive Specialty Accessoriad &arts, or WAG. WAG's state-of-tregt Midwest facility expands our distribution netik
and the merchandise WAG offers extends our go tiketg@roduct-lines into all terrain vehicles, reafienal vehicles and motorcycles, as well
as provides us with deep product knowledge intbegegments like Jeep, Volkswagen and trucks. &tpansion of our product line increases
our customer reach in the do-it-yourself automodiid off-road accessories market. For additiorfakination, seéNote 5 — Business
Combination”of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statementtuded in Part IV, Item 15 of this report. We mayrsue additional
acquisition opportunities in the future to increase share of the aftermarket auto parts markepand our product offering.
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Executive Summary

Our net sales for fiscal 2010 were $262.3 millioompared with $176.3 million for fiscal 2009. Exding $39.1 million of sales from
WAG, net sales for fiscal 2010 were $223.2 millian,increase of 27% over fiscal 2009 net saleslddstfor fiscal 2010 was $13.9 million, or
$0.46 per share, which includes non-cash defenemhie tax asset valuation reserve of $13.6 mitio$0.45 per share, $3.1 million or $0.10
per share of restructuring charges related to Wa@, $2.3 million or $0.08 per share of legal expsrts protect intellectual property. This
compares to a net income of $1.3 million, or $(e4 diluted share for fiscal 2009, which includ@s4dmillion or $0.01 per share of legal
expenses to protect intellectual property. Earnpgysshare (“EPS”) for fiscal 2010 and 2009 incllidenortization expense related to
intangibles of $2.8 million or $0.09 per share &Ad7 million or $0.02 per diluted share, respedyivé&/e generated adjusted EBITDA
(Earnings before Interest, Taxes, Depreciation,Amdrtization plus current year’s stock compensagapense, legal costs to enforce
intellectual property rights, restructuring expeneslated to acquisition, and charge for changevenue recognition) of $19.5 million in fiscal
2010 compared to $13.5 million in fiscal 2009. Astpd EBITDA is presented because such measuredshysrating agencies, securities
analysis, investors and other parties in evaluatiegCompany. It should not be considered, howeasean alternative to operating income a
indicator of the Company’s operating performancaoan alternative cash flows as measures of thgp@ay’s overall liquidity as presented
the Company’s consolidated financial statementgthey, Adjusted EBITDA measure shown for the Comypiaray not be comparable to
similarly titted measures used by other companies.

To understand revenue generation through our n&tefog-commerce websites, we monitor several kesjriass metrics, including the
following:

Unique Visitors:A unigue visitor to a particular website representsser with a distinct IP address that visits gaaticular website. We
define the total number of unique visitors in aegivnonth as the sum of unique visitors to eactuofaebsites during that month. We measure
unigue visitors to understand the volume of traffiour websites and to track the effectivenessuofonline marketing efforts. The number of
unique visitors has historically varied based aumber of factors, including our marketing actedtiand seasonality. We believe an increa
unigue visitors to our websites will result in acliease in the number of orders. We seek to inersesnumber of unique visitors to our
websites by attracting repeat customers and impgosearch engine marketing and other internet ntiagkactivities.

Total Number of OrdersiVe monitor the total number of orders as an indicaf future revenue trends. We recognize revesseaated
with an order when the products have been delivexausistent with our revenue recognition policy.

Average Order ValueAverage order value represents our net sales teccagorders basis for a given period of time didithy the total
number of orders recorded during the same periditnaf. We seek to increase the average order @ @emeans of increasing net sales.
Average order values vary depending upon a numidactors, including the components of our prodefééring, the order volume in certain
online sales channels, macro-economic conditiams$ tlae general level of competition online.

The tables below reconcile net income (loss) tsotidated adjusted EBITDA and US Auto Parts exaigdhe WAG acquisition for the
periods presented (in thousands):

Thirteen Thirteen
Weeks Weeks Fifty -Two Fifty -Two
Ended Ended Weeks Ended Weeks Ended

January 2, 201( January 1, 201: January 2, 201(

January 1, 201:

Consolidated

Net income (loss $ 58€ $ (2,89¢) $ 1,311 $  (13,92¢
Interest (income) expense, I a7 24C (189) 371
Income tax provisiol 687 64 3,12 12,21¢
Amortization of intangible: 81 1,64( 661 2,80¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,45¢ 2,98 4,91( 9,46¢
EBITDA 2,792 2,03( 9,82: 10,93:
Shar-based compensatic 56¢ 63C 3,27( 2,74
Legal costs to enforce intellectual property ric 29¢ 87 43: 2,28¢
Charge for change in revenue recogni — — — 411
Add back legal restructurir — 38 — 39:¢
Add back other restructurir — 1,49¢ — 2,731
Adjusted EBITDA $ 3,59( $ 4,281 $ 13,62 $ 19,49
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Thirteen Weeks Thirteen Weeks
Fifty -Two Fifty -Two
Ended Ended Weeks Ended Weeks Ended
January 2, 201( January 1, 201: January 2, 201( January 1, 201:
USAP excluding WAG
Net income (loss $ 58€ $ 21¢ $ 1,317 $ (7,909
Interest (income) expense, I a7 29t (189 37¢
Income tax provisiol 687 29 3,12¢ 12,18:
Amortization of intangible: 81 12t 661 494
Depreciation and amortizatic 1,45¢ 2,32¢ 4,91( 8,45¢
EBITDA 2,79z 2,99: 9,82z 13,60:
Shar-based compensatic 56¢ 63C 3,27( 2,742
Legal costs to enforce intellectual property
rights 22¢ 87 433 2,28¢
Charge for change in revenue recognit — — — 411
Adjusted EBITDA $ 3,59( $ 3,70¢ $ 13,52¢ $ 19,04(

Basis of Presentation

Net SalesOnline and offline sales represent two differedésahannels for our products. We generate onkniesaes primarily through
the sale of auto parts to individual consumersughoour network of e-commerce websites and onliagketplaces, including online
advertising. E-commerce sales are derived frormetwork of websites, which are company owned aretaipd. E-commerce and online
marketplace sales also include inbound telepholes sarough our call center that supports thesesgaiannels. Online marketplaces consist
primarily of sales of our products on online auctiwebsites, where we sell through auctions as agethrough storefronts that we maintain on
these third-party owned websites. We sell advedisind sponsorship positions on our e-commerceitestis highlight vendor brands and
offer complementary products and services thatfiteme customers. Advertising is targeted to sflecections of the websites and can als
targeted to specific users based on the vehictsdhive. Advertising partners primarily includerpeendors, national automotive aftermarket
brands, and automobile manufacturers. Our offlalesschannel represents our distribution of pragldicectly to commercial customers by
selling auto parts to collision repair shops lodateSouthern California. Our offline sales charadsb includes the distribution of our Kool-
Vue mirror line to auto parts distributors natiodei We also serve consumers by operating retdétasibres in Independence, Ohio and
LaSalle, lllinois, which were purchased through aélequisition of WAG.

Cost of Sale<Cost of sales consists of the direct costs assatiaith procuring parts from suppliers and delirgrproducts to custome!
These costs include product costs offset by puechasounts, freight and shipping costs and warehsupplies. Depreciation and
amortization directly related to sales are excluflech cost of sales and included in marketing, galrend administrative and fulfillment costs
as noted below.

General and Administrative Expensgeneral and administrative expense consists piynafradministrative payroll and related expen
payment processing fees, legal and professions) &sortization of software and other administetests. General and administrative
expense also includes depreciation and amortizatipense directly related to sales.

Marketing ExpenseViarketing expense consists of online advertisirensp Internet commerce facilitator fees and otldeedising costs
as well as payroll and related expenses associdateeur marketing catalog, customer service, aldspersonnel. These costs are generally
variable and are typically a function of net salMarketing expense also includes depreciation amortization expense directly related to se

Fulfillment Expenserulfillment expense consists primarily of payralidarelated costs associated with our warehouseastegd and our
purchasing group, facility rent, building maintenandepreciation and other costs associated witmiory management and our wholesale
operations. Fulfillment expense also includes dapt®n and amortization expense directly relatedales.

Technology Expens&echnology expense consists primarily of payrotl aglated expenses of our information technologgqanel, the
cost of hosting our servers, communications expeasd Internet connectivity costs, computer supgodtsoftware development.

Amortization of Intangibles and impairment logsmortization of intangibles consists primarilytbe amortization expense associated
with certain intangibles recorded as a result efRlartsbin and WAG acquisitions. Impairment lossntengibles consists primarily of the
impairment loss associated with certain intangibée®rded as a result of the Partsbin acquisition.
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Goodwill impairment loss Goodwill impairment loss consists of the non-cespairment loss recorded as a result of the Partsb
acquisition.

Interest Income (Expenséiterest income consists primarily of interest imgoon investments. Interest expense consists plynaédr
interest expense on our outstanding loan balanwsapital leases.

Other IncomeOther income consists of miscellaneous income asdain from disposition of assets.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements have begmapee in accordance with accounting principles galyeaccepted in the United States
(“U.S. GAAP”). The preparation of our financial &ements requires us to make estimates and assumaphiat affect the reported amounts of
assets, liabilities, net sales, costs and expeasesell as the disclosure of contingent assetdiabilities and other related disclosures. On an
ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, incluthinge related to revenue recognition, uncollegtibteivables, intangible and other long-
lived assets and contingencies. We base our estnoat historical experience and on various otheuraptions that we believe to be reason
under the circumstances, the results of which fibvenbasis for making judgments about carrying v@hfeour assets and liabilities that are not
readily apparent from other sources. Actual rexudtdd differ from those estimates, and we incladg revisions to our estimates in our results
for the period in which the actual amounts becomaakn.

We believe the critical accounting policies desedillbelow affect the more significant judgments astimates used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements. Accordintiigse are the policies we believe are the mastalrio aid in fully understanding and
evaluating our historical consolidated financiahdition and results of operations:

Revenue RecognitiorRrom the Company’s inception of business throughfitlst quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recagdirevenue
from product sales when the following four reveneeognition criteria were met: persuasive evidesfcan arrangement exists, delivery has
occurred (to the common carrier), the selling pricéixed or determinable, and collectability imsenably assured. These criteria followed the
Company’s general policy to recognize revenue atingrto its shipping terms, which were F.O.B. simigppoint. Under this policy, title and
risk of loss were transferred to the customer ugelivery to the common carrier, at which time, mewe was recognized.

Although the Company had no legal obligation to pemsate the customer, the Company generally reptheeproduct or reimburses the
customer for goods that were lost or damaged irsitand filed a claim to the common carrier fdneursement for such loss. The Company
executed a new pricing agreement with its primanyier which offered a lower price per delivery aiihinated the Company’s option to file
reimbursement claims for product lost or damagedainsit. As a result of this agreement, the Commtermined that the risk of loss or
damage during transit would be retained by the GomipTherefore, the Company determined that revéone product sales should be
recognized at the delivery date, not the ship date.

This change in the second quarter of fiscal 20%0lted in a deferral of $2.0 million of sales reverand a decrease in cost of goods sold
of $1.5 million, which reduced gross profit by $onfllion. The Company has recognized revenue upively to the customer starting the
second quarter of fiscal 2010.

Revenue from sales of advertising is recorded wiegformance requirements of the related advertighogram agreement are met. For
fiscal 2010, the advertising revenue representeaflétir total revenue.

We evaluated the criteria of ASC Topic 605-48%evenue Recognition - Principal Agent Considera{6ASC 605-45"), in determining
whether it is appropriate to record the gross arhofiproduct sales and related costs or the netatrearned as commissions. When we ar
primary party obligated in a transaction, are scidje inventory risk, have latitude in establishjprices and selecting suppliers or have several
but not all of these indicators, revenue is recomgi®ss.

Product sales and shipping revenues, net of promaltdiscounts and return allowances, are recondesh the products are delivered i
title passes to customers. Retail items sold téoousrs are made pursuant to terms and conditi@iptbvide for transfer of both title and risk
of loss upon our delivery to the customer. Retdlowances, which reduce product revenue by our éstiinate of expected product returns
estimated using historical experience. We generaliyire payment by credit card at the point o sAmounts received prior to when we
deliver goods to customers are recorded as defezreshue.

We periodically provide incentive offers to our tarsers to encourage purchases. Such offers includent discount offers, such as
percentage discounts off of current purchases #ret similar offers. Current discount offers, wretepted by our customers, are treated as a
reduction to the purchase price of the relatedstation. Current discount offers and inducemerdrefére classified as an offsetting amount in
net sales.
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Fair Value MeasurementBuring the first quarter of fiscal 2009, the Compadopted ASC Topic 82F-air Value Measurements and
Disclosures(*ASC 820") ,which defines fair value, provides a frameworkfogasuring fair value, and expands the disclos@gsired for fail
value measurements. Additionally, in January 2@1® Company adopted Accounting Standards Updat8¢"A2010-6 -Improving
Disclosures About Fair Value Measureme(*ASU 2010-6"), which requires reporting entitiesrhake new disclosures about recurring or
nonrecurring fair-value measurements including ifigant transfers into and out of Level 1 and Le2dhir-value measurements and
information on purchases, sales, issuances ardrsetits on a gross basis in the reconciliationefel 3 fair-value measurements. We have
adopted the provisions of ASC 820 as of JanuaBpQ8 for financial assets. ASC 820 establishesegttier fair value hierarchy, which
prioritizes the inputs used in measuring fair valligese tiers include: Level 1-defined as obsepraiputs such as quoted prices in active
markets; Level 2-defined as inputs other than quptéces in active markets that are either direstlindirectly observable; and Leveldgfinec
as unobservable inputs in which little or no madata exists, therefore requiring an entity to dgyés own assumptions.

We have evaluated both Level 2 and Level 3 evidémeeeasure the fair value of our $4.2 million (palue) of auction rate preferred
securities (“ARPS”) as of January 1, 2011. Thesestments consist solely of collateralized debigaitions supported by municipal and state
agencies; do not include mortgage-backed secudtistudent loans; have redemption features tHbtocaedemption at 100% of par value;
and have a current credit rating of A or AAA. Dyifiscal 2010, we received partial redemptionsaatqn our investments totaling $0.1
million. The fact that there is not an active marke of January 1, 2011 to liquidate 100% of thetain investments was the final
determination in classifying them as Level 3. Wedia discounted cash flow valuation model to eg#rttze fair value of the securities. As a
result of the temporary declines in fair value of ARPS, which we attribute to liquidity issueshet than credit issues, we have recorded an
unrealized loss of $0.1 million to accumulated ot@mmprehensive income (loss). If our key assumgtiosed to determine estimated
discounted cash flows change in the future, we beagequired to record additional losses.

Inventory.Inventory consists of finished goods availablegate. We purchase inventory from suppliers bothekiivally and
internationally, primarily in Taiwan and China. Welieve that our products are generally availatdenfmore than one supplier, and we
maintain multiple sources for many of our produbtsth internationally and domestically. We offdsraad line of auto parts for automobiles
from model years 1965 to 2010. Because of the woatl demand for our products, we primarily purch@seucts in bulk quantities to take
advantage of quantity discounts and to ensure tovgmvailability.

Inventory is accounted for using the first-in fimit (“FIFO”) method and valued at the lower of tosmarket value. During this
valuation, we are required to make judgments abrpécted disposition of inventory, generally, tlgbsales, returns to product vendors, or
liquidations of obsolete or scrap products, anceetgrl recoverable values of each disposition cagdggsed on currently-available
information. If actual market conditions are leagdrable than those anticipated by managementtiawiali write-off of the value of our
inventory may be required.

Website and Software Development CoAts.capitalize certain costs associated with sogveEveloped for internal use according to
ASC Topic 350-40 intangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-Use 8@fre (“ASC 350-40"), and ASC Topic 350-503tangibles —
Goodwill and Other — Website Development C#SC 350-50"). Under these provisions, we capitalcosts associated with website
development and software developed for internalusen both the preliminary project design and tessitage are completed and management
has authorized further funding for the project, ebhit deems probable of completion and to be usethe function intended. Capitalized costs
include amounts directly related to website develept and software development such as payroll agtbf)-related costs for employees who
are directly associated with, and who devote timéhe internal-use software project. Capitalizati these costs ceases when the project is
substantially complete and ready for its intendgel. u

Long-Lived Assets and Intangibl&¥e acquire tangible and intangible assets in thieabcourse of business. We evaluate the
recoverability of the carrying amount of these ldivged assets whenever events or changes in citeunoss indicate that the carrying value of
an asset may not be recoverable in accordanceA8i@ Topic 360-Property, Plant, and Equipme(itASC 3607). An impairment loss is
recognized when the carrying value exceeds thesuodinted cash flows estimated to result from tieeamsl eventual disposition of the asset.
Impairment losses are recognized in operating egsniWe continually use judgment when applyingetiegpairment rules to determine the
timing of the impairment tests, undiscounted césivg used to assess impairments, and the fair \adlagpotentially impaired asset. The
reasonableness of our judgments could significaffct the carrying value of our long-lived asséwsring 2008, we recorded a non-cash
impairment charge on long-lived assets totaling.$h8illion as further described fiNote 6- Goodwill and Intangiblesdf the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Rgrtem 15 of this report. We did not recognizeyampairment losses for fiscal 2009 and
2010.
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Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangible¥/e account for goodwill under the guidance setfantASC Topic 350intangibles —
Goodwill and Othe*ASC 350”) , which specifies that goodwill and Efihitedived intangibles should not be amortized. We eatdwgoodwill
and indefinite-lived intangibles for impairment an annual basis or more frequently if events aurirstances occur that would indicate a
reduction in fair value. Our annual impairmentitggtdate is October 31. In addition, we identifeedingle reporting unit in accordance with
ASC 350. The goodwill impairment test is a two-si@pairment test. The first step compares theviaiue of each reporting unit with its
carrying amount including goodwill. We estimate fhi value of the reporting unit based on an equeibhting of two market approaches and
an income approach, which utilizes discounted utiash flows. The market approaches utilized markatiples of invested capital from 1)
comparable publicly traded companies and 2) conippateansactions. The market multiples from investapital include revenues, total ass
book equity plus debt and earnings before intetasgs, depreciation and amortization (“EBITDA”)sgumptions critical to the fair value
estimates under the discounted cash flow modaldectiscount rates, cash flow projections, proptteg-term growth rates and the
determination of terminal values Management hafbpaed a sensitivity analysis on its significans@sptions and has determined that a
change in its assumptions within selected sensitiesting levels would not impact its conclusidhe excess of fair value over carrying value
for our reporting unit as of October 31, 2010, &h@ual testing date, was approximately $187 millaord there would have to be a 65%
decrease in the fair value of the reporting unfaibstepl. If the carrying amount exceeds falueathen the second step of the impairment test
is performed to measure the amount of any impaitioss by comparing the implied fair value of tleporting unit to its carrying value. We
completed our annual testing and passed the faptaf the impairment test. We did not recognizg iampairment loss on goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangibles for fiscal 2009 and1Z0 During 2008, we recorded a non-cash impairrakatge on goodwill totaling $4.4 million,
due to the significant decline in the Company’sktprice to a level indicating a market capitaliaatbelow book value during the fourth
quarter ended December 31, 2008. We also recor@8dramillion impairment loss on indefinite-livedtangible assets during calendar year
2008 as further described‘iNote 6- Goodwill and Intangiblesbdf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemerdisided in Part IV, Item 15
of this report.

Income TaxesThe Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeASC Topic7404ncome Taxe§'ASC 740"). Under ASC 740,
deferred tax assets and liabilities are recogni@ethe future tax consequences attributable tgtaary differences between the financial
statement carrying amount of existing assets atfuilities and their respective tax bases. Defeta@dissets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxablemieda the years in which those temporary differsrare expected to be recovered or settled.
When appropriate, a valuation reserve is estaldisheeduce deferred tax assets, which includetedits and loss carry forwards, to the
amount that is more likely than not to be realiZBk ability to realize deferred tax assets dependbe ability to generate sufficient taxable
income within the carryback or carryforward perigasvided for in the tax law for each applicable jizrisdiction. We consider the following
possible sources of taxable income when assedsingalization of our deferred tax assets:

» Future reversals of existing taxable temporaryedédhces

» Future taxable income exclusive of reversing terapodifferences and car-forwards;
» Taxable income in prior car-back years; an

* Tax-planning strategie:

The assessment regarding whether a valuation atlosvis required or should be adjusted also corsidenong other matters, the nature,
frequency and severity of recent losses of the @oethUSAP and WAG operations, forecasts of futudiability, the duration of statutory
carryforward periods, our experience with tax btttés expiring unused and tax planning alternativemaking such judgments, significant
weight is given to evidence that can be objectivesified.

Concluding that a valuation allowance is not reggliis difficult when there is significant negatedence that is objective and
verifiable, such as cumulative losses in recentgdithough we expect that the operations of #eently acquired WAG business and our
ability to achieve future profitability of these eqations was enhanced by the cost reductions tuatied as a result of the acquisition and
subsequent integration efforts, WAG'’s historic @terg results remain relevant as they are refleativthe industry and the effect of economic
conditions. The fundamental businesses and inheskstin which the WAG business operates did hainge from those which existed priol
the acquisition. We utilized a three-year analg$iactual results as the primary measure of cunvelébsses in recent years. However, because
a substantial portion of those cumulative losskdedo impairment of intangible assets and goddthibse three-year cumulative results are
adjusted for the effect of these items. In addijtibe near- and medium-term financial outlook iesidered when assessing the need for a
valuation allowance.

The valuation of deferred tax assets requires jugrand assessment of the future tax consequehegsms that have been recorded in
the financial statements or in the tax returns, andfuture profitability represents our best estienof those future events. Changes in our
current estimates, due to unanticipated eventsharwise, could have a material effect
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on our financial condition and results of operagioBrior to the acquisition of WAG, the Companydaded that it was more likely than not
that we would realize the deferred tax assetsljju@$dictions. However, with the acquisition ofA%, based largely on the weight of the
combined cumulative three-year adjusted loss mositt was determined that it was not more likélgrt not that the Company would realize its
net deferred tax assets as of January 2, 2011effiner a valuation allowance of $18.3 million wasarded as of January 1, 2011, of which
$4.7 million was recorded in relation to WAG upaur @cquisition as of August 12, 2010

If, in the future, we generate taxable income austained basis in jurisdictions where we haverdszbfull valuation allowances, our
conclusion regarding the need for full valuatiolmaknces in these tax jurisdictions could changsulting in the reversal of some or all of the
valuation allowances. If our operations generatalike income prior to reaching profitability onwstgined basis, we would reverse a portic
the valuation allowance related to the correspandialized tax benefit for that period, without ofang our conclusions on the need for a full
valuation allowance against the remaining net defetax assets.

At January 1, 2011, federal and state net operé&tsgy(NOL) carryforwards were $6.8 million and &million, respectively. Federal
NOL carryforwards of $2.7 million were acquiredtire acquisition of WAG which are subject to IntdriRavenue Code section 382 ¢
limited to an annual usage limitation of $135,080ditionally the tax benefit of $0.9 million of tHederal and state NOL carryforwards which
were created by the exercise of stock optionsheltredited to additional paid in capital once ggiped. Federal NOL carryforwards expire in
2029 and 2030, while state NOL carryforwards begiexpire in 2016. The state NOL carryforwards exjm the respective tax years as
follows (in thousands):

2016- 2022 $24,91¢
2023- 2030 2,55¢
$27,46¢

The Company utilizes a two-step approach to reaggiand measuring uncertain tax positions. The fitep is to evaluate the tax
position for recognition by determining if the whtgf available evidence indicates it is more ljkilan not that the position will be sustained
on audit, including resolution of related appeal$tmation processes. The second step is to nreabe tax benefit as the largest amount w
is more than 50% likely of being realized uponmbie settlement. We consider many factors wheruatia and estimating our tax positions
and tax benefits, which may require periodic adnestts and which may not accurately forecast actutglomes. As of January 1, 2011, the
Company had no material unrecognized tax bendfiisiest or penalties related to federal and stateme tax matters. The Company’s policy
is to record interest and penalties as income tprrese.

The Company is subject to U.S. federal income sawell as income tax of foreign and state tax flicisons. During calendar year 2008,
the Company was audited by the Internal Revenuécefor the years ended December 31, 2006 and.20@¥audit was concluded with the
payment of a non-material sum. During fiscal 2Gh@, Company was audited by the Internal Revenueic@eior the year ended December 31,
2008. The audit was concluded with no change. @ke¢ars 2006-2009 remain open to examination éyrthjor taxing jurisdictions to which
the Company is subject.

Share-Based Compensatidrhe Company accounts for share-based compensatemtordance with ASC Topic 718empensation —
Stock CompensatiqiASC 718”). ASC 718 requires that all share-basechpensation to employees, including grants of eyg# stock
options, be recognized in our financial statembated on their respective grant date fair valuesletthis standard, the fair value of each
sharebased payment award is estimated on the date of gsing an option pricing model that meets centaquirements. We currently use
Black-Scholes option pricing model to estimatefdievalue of our share-based payment awards, th@étexception of options granted
containing market conditions, for which we estimie fair value using a Monte Carlo model. The Bi&choles and Monte Carlo valuation
models require extensive use of accounting judgraedtfinancial estimates, including estimates efd¢kpected term participants will retain
their vested stock options before exercising thibam estimated volatility of our common stock prinesr the expected term and the number of
options that will be forfeited prior to the compidet of their vesting requirements. Application dteanative assumptions could produce
significantly different estimates of the fair valokshare-based compensation and, consequentlyeltited amount of share-based
compensation expense recognized in the Consolid&tedment of Operations could have been signifigalifferent than the amounts
recorded. We estimate volatility using historicalatilities of similar public entities. The expedtkfe of the awards is based on a simplified
method that defines the life as the average ofttidractual term of the options and the weighteztaye vesting period for all open tranches.
Prior to our initial public offering in February @0, we did not have a history of market priceswf@mmon stock. Due to the limited period
time our equity shares have been publicly tradeglda/not have sufficient historical exercise datprbvide a reasonable basis upon which to
estimate expected term. The risk-free interestaaseimption is based on observed interest ratesajgte for the expected life of our awards.
The dividend yield assumption is based on our hystmd expectation of paying no dividends.
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Forfeitures are estimated at the time of grantrandsed, if necessary, in subsequent periods ifehddrfeitures differ from those
estimates. We consider many factors when estimatipgcted forfeitures, including employee clasenemic environment, and historical
experience. Share-based compensation expense iz@ddmour financial statements is based on awdnalsare ultimately expected to vest. If
factors change and we employ different assumptisim,ebased compensation expense may differ significdrdly what we have recorded
the past. If there are any modifications or caatielhs of the underlying unvested options, we maydguired to accelerate, increase or cancel
any remaining unrecognized share-based compensatgsnse.

Valuation at the Time of GrantVe have granted to our employees options to puecbasimon stock at exercise prices equal to the fair
market value of the underlying common stock attitme of each grant, which is the closing marketg@wf our common stock.

Under provisions of ASC 718, we recognized $2.9iom| $3.3 million and $2.7 million of share-bassmmpensation expense for
calendar year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 201€peetively. At January 1, 2011, the total compeaosatost related to unvested stock-based
awards granted to employees and non-employee diseghder our equity incentive plans but not yebgmized was approximately $3.3
million, net of estimated forfeitures of approxirelgt$2.0 million. This cost will be amortized ovemweighted-average period of approximately
2.11 years and will be adjusted for subsequentgdmgmm estimated forfeitures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Effective July 1, 2009, the Company adopted theuf@al Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) AccouagtiStandards Codification
(“ASC”) Topic 105-Generally Accepted Accounting PrinciplgdSC 105”), which establishes the FASB ASC asshmgle source of
authoritative U.S. generally accepted accountimgcples (“GAAP”) used by nongovernmental entitieghe preparation of financial
statements, except for rules and interpretive seleaf the SEC under authority of federal secsrltgs, which are sources of authoritative
accounting guidance for SEC registrants.

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upda&SU”) 2009-13,Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverabl, which amends Accounting Standards Codificatiok§C") Topic 605, which modifies the
accounting for multiple deliverable revenue arrangets to enable vendors to account for deliverad#earately rather than as a combined
unit. The adoption will not have a material effentthe consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010¥froving Disclosures About Fair Value Measurementhich requires reporting entiti
to make new disclosures about recurring or nonrg@ufair-value measurements including significaanhsfers into and out of Level 1 and
Level 2 fair-value measurements and informatioporchases, sales, issuances and settlements ossalgrsis in the reconciliation of Level 3
fair-value measurements. ASU 2010-6 is effectiveaftnual reporting periods beginning after Deceniser2009, except for Level 3
reconciliation disclosures which are effective dmnual periods beginning after December 15, 20lh8.adoption of ASU 2016-did not have
material effect on the consolidated financial stegats.
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Results of Operations
The following table sets forth selected statemémperations data for the periods indicated, exg@dsas a percentage of net sales:

Year Ended 52 Weeks Ende: 52 Weeks Ende:
December 31, 20C January 2, 201( January 1, 2011
Net sales 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%
Cost of sale: 65.7 63.€ 65.€
Gross profi 34.2 36.2 34.2
Operating expense
General and administrati\ 11.¢ 11.1 10.€
Marketing 15.C 13.5 14.¢
Fulfillment 5.9 6.5 5.7
Technology 2.4 2.5 2.3
Amortization of intangibles an
impairment los: 15.€ 0.4 1.1
Impairment loss on goodwi 2.9 — —
Total operating expens 53.7 33.¢ 34.7
(Loss) income from operatiol (19.9 2.4 (0.5)
Other income (expense
Other income — — —
Interest income (expense), I 0.6 0.1 (0.7)
Other income (expense), r 0.6 0.1 (0.3
(Loss) income before income tax (18.¢) 2.5 (0.7)
Income tax (benefit) provisic (7.9 1.8 4.7
Net (loss) incomi (11.0% 0.7% (5.9%

The impact of foreign currency is related to odslbre operations in the Philippines and salesuofpooducts in Canada and was not
material to our operations.

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended January 2, 2010 Comparedhe Fifty-Two Weeks Ended January 1, 2011
Net Sales and Gross Marg

52 Weeks 52 Weeks
Ended Ended
January 2, January 1, $ Change % Change
2010 2011
(in thousands)
Net sales $176,28t¢ $262,27" $85,98¢ 48.8%
Cost of sale: 112,41! 172,66¢ 60,25 53.6%
Gross profil $ 63,87: $ 89,60¢ $25,73¢ 40.2%
Gross margit 36.2% 34.2% (2.0%

Net sales increased $86.0 million, or 48.8%, fecdi 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. Excluding $38illion of sales from WAG, the net
sales for fiscal 2010 were $223.2 million, an irse of 26.6% over fiscal 2009 net sales due teasss of $42.5 million, or 25.9%, in online
sales and $4.4 million, or 36%, in offline salesjat consist of our Kool-Vue™ and wholesale operai Our online sales consist of our e-
commerce, online marketplace sales channels amtkadvertising. Our e-commerce channel includeseezcommerce websites supported by
our call-center sales agents who generate crokargklip-sell opportunities. Our online marketptacensist primarily of auction and other
third-party websites. Online advertising is soldoom e-commerce websites.

The increase in online sales resulted from an aszef 355,130, or 24.8%, in total placed ordersnerease of 8.0 million, or 7.6%, in
unique visitors, partially offset by a decreas&®®24, or 1.7%, in average order value from fi&49 to fiscal 2010. The increases in total
placed orders and the unique visitors resulted frmreased marketing spend driving higher paiditraind better content on our websites
driving more organic traffic. The increases wesoalttributed to more effective pricing, betteratag data and a better customer experience.
Our average order value declined due to increageithg competition and increased sales of lowet dogct sourced products. We expect our
sales to increase in the coming year in line withantinuous effort to improve our content on eabsites and customer experience.
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Gross profit increased 40.3% from fiscal 2009 scdi 2010. Excluding the acquisition of WAG, grpssfit was $75.8 million, an
increase of 18.6%. Gross margin declined 2.0% ta%%bf net sales compared with fiscal 2009. Exeigdhe acquisition of WAG, gross
margin was 34.0% for fiscal 2010. Gross margin waavorably impacted by increased freight expemskaadiscontinuation of high margin
loyalty programs in fiscal 2010. We expect grossgimto increase in the coming year and eventuatlyease above 34% from new pricing
initiatives.

General and Administrative Expense

52 Weeks 52 Weeks
Ended Ended
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
General and administrative expel $19,64( $28,62¢ $8,98¢ 45.£%
Percent of net sal¢ 11.1% 10.%% (0.2%

General and administrative expense increased $#liormor 45.8% for fiscal 2010 compared to fis@809. Excluding $5.9 million from
WAG, the general and administrative expense inegasimarily due to the acquisition and integratiasts of $1.4 million related to our
acquisition of WAG.

Marketing Expens

52 Weeks Ende 52 Weeks Ende
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Marketing expens $ 23,41¢ $ 38,757 $15,33¢ 65.€%
Percent of net sal¢ 13.2% 14.8% 1.5%

Marketing expense increased $15.3 million, or 65.8%ofiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. Exclg$8.6 million of marketing
expense from WAG, the marketing expense increa6etifiillion or 2.9% from fiscal 2009, primarily dte higher amortization costs related
to software deployments and an increase in maigsiiend which resulted in higher listing and plaeetiees paid to commercial and search
engine websites such as eBay, Google and MSN. \fecéxo significant fluctuation in our marketingoexse in the coming year.

Fulfillment Expense

52 Weeks Ende 52 Weeks Ende
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Fulfillment expenst $ 11,437 $ 14,94¢ $ 3,50¢ 31.1%
Percent of net sal¢ 6.5% 5.7% (0.899%

Fulfillment expense increased $3.5 million, or 34,%or fiscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. Exchgd$1.7 million of fulfillment
expense from WAG, the fulfillment expense increadg® million due to an increase in external lalpartially offset by the fixed cost levere
from higher sales during fiscal 2010. The increasexternal labor is due to higher need of workéoat our distribution centers in fiscal 201!
line with the increase in our inventory. We expaat fulfilment expense to remain consistent in toening year.
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Technology Expense

52 Weeks Ende: 52 Weeks Ende
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Technology expens $ 4,467 $ 5,902 $1,43¢ 32.2%
Percent of net sal¢ 2.5% 2.3% (0.2%

Technology expense increased $1.4 million, or 32@&%iscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009. Exclud#ig3 million of technology
expense from WAG, the technology expense for fig6dl0 remained consistent from fiscal 2009. We epe significant fluctuation in
technology expense in the coming year.

Amortization of Intangibles and Impairment L«

52 Weeks Ende 52 Weeks Ende
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Amortization of intangibles and impairment Ic $ 661 $ 2,80¢ $2,14: 324.2%
Percent of net sal¢ 0.4% 1.1% 0.7%

Amortization of intangibles and impairment lossremsed by $2.1 million, or 324.2%, in fiscal 20gfmarily due to the amortization
expense of $2.3 million related to the intangitdeeads acquired in connection with our acquisitibWéG in August 2010.

Other Income (Expense), Net

52 Weeks Ende 52 Weeks Ende
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Other income (expense), r $ 191 $ (280) $ (47 (246.6)%
Percent of net sal¢ 0.1% (0.1)% (0.2%

Other income, net decreased $0.5 million, or 246(@iscal 2010 compared to fiscal 2009, primadlye to the interest of $0.4 million
paid in connection with the Company'’s credit fagikxecuted in August 2010.

Income Tax Provision (Benef

52 Weeks Ende 52 Weeks Ende
January 2, January 1,
2010 2011 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Income tax provision (benefi $ 3,12¢ $ 12,21¢ $9,09¢ 291.2%
Percent of net sal¢ 1.8% 4.7% 2.5%

For fiscal 2010 and 2009, the effective tax ratetfie Company was (715.3)% and 70.33%, respectilfélg Companys effective tax rat
is significantly higher in fiscal 2010 than the Uf&deral statutory rate primarily due to the redtign of a valuation allowance of $13.6
million. Prior to the acquisition of WAG, the Compaconcluded that it was more likely than not thatwould realize the deferred tax asse
all jurisdictions. However, with the acquisition \WAG, based largely on the weight of the combinachglative three-year adjusted loss
position, it was determined that it was not mokellf than not that the Company would realize itsdeferred tax assets. Therefore, a valuation
allowance of $18.3 million was recorded as of Janda2011, of which $4.7 million was recorded agaithe acquired deferred tax assets of
WAG as of August 12, 2010.
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The components of income (loss) before income tagasist of the following:

52 Weeks 52 Weeks

Ended Ended
January 2, January 1,

2010 2011
Domestic operation $ 3,79 $ (2,540
Foreign operation 64E 832
Total income (loss) before income ta 4,44( 1,70¢

Income tax (benefit) expense differs from the amalbat would result from applying the federal staty rate as follows:

Year 52 Weeks 52 Weeks

Ended Ended Ended
December 31 January 2, January 1,

2008 2010 2011

(in thousands)

Income tax at U.S. federal statutory r $ (9,769 $ 1,511 $ (58]
Shar-based compensatic 161 1,08¢ (93
State income tax, net of federal tax efi (1,880 72¢ (759)
Tax exempt intere: (220) (16) (8)
Foreign tax 60 (163) (210
Non deductible acquisition cos — — 25¢
Other (175) (29 1
Change in valuation allowan: — — 13,61(
Effective tax (benefit) provisio $ (11,82) $ 3,127 $12,21¢

The Company'’s effective tax rate was impacted logiine taxes incurred in foreign and state jurisdicgi With respect to the income of
its foreign subsidiaries, the Company takes théipoghat the earnings of the foreign subsidiades permanently invested in that jurisdiction.
As a result, no additional income taxes have beevwigied on the possible repatriation of these egsito the parent company. The Company
has not calculated the amount of deferred taxlitglthat would result from such repatriation aslsaetermination is not practicable.

The favorable impact of foreign taxes is due igéapart to a tax holiday in the Philippines, whigleffective through September 2011.
The term of the tax holiday is four years, provi@sdan incentive for new business and no furttggrirements exist to maintain the tax holic
The impact of this tax holiday decreased foreigeseby $0, $136,000 and $182,000 for calendar 3@@8, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010,
respectively. The benefit of the tax holiday oninebme per share (diluted) was immaterial forrélated years.

As of January 1, 2011, the Company had no mateni@cognized tax benefits, interest or penaltikged to federal and state income tax
matters.

Year Ended December 31, 2008 Compared to the Fiftys Weeks Ended January 2, 2010
Net Sales and Gross Marg

Year Ended 52
Weeks Ende(
December
31, January 2, $ Change % Change
2008 2010
(in thousands)
Net sales $153,42: $ 176,28t $22,86¢ 14.%
Cost of sale: 100,86¢ 112,41 11,54¢ 11.4%
Gross profi $ 52,55t $ 63,87 $11,31¢ 21.5%
Gross margit 34.2% 36.2% 1.9%
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Net sales increased $22.9 million, or 14.9%, fecdi 2009 compared to calendar year 2008. Thigaser was mainly attributable to an
increase in our online sales of $23.6 million, 6r8P%, offset in part by a decrease of $0.8 milli@n5.9%, in our offline business, which
consists of our Kool-Vue™ and wholesale operati@ns: online business consists of our e-commercepatide marketplace sales channels
and includes online advertising. Our e-commercechbincludes our e-commerce websites supportemlibgall-center sales agents who
generate cross-sell and up-sell opportunities.@line marketplaces consist primarily of auctiod ather third-party websites. Online
advertising is sold on our e-commerce websites.

E-commerce sales increased $22.9 million, or 1916%140.1 million for fiscal 2009 compared to $2Liillion for calendar year 2008.
The increase is primarily due to increased traffi®.5 million or 9.9% to 106.1 million unique Migis and a 10 basis point increase in
conversion rate to 1.35% for fiscal 2009 compaoe@@.6 million unique visitors and a conversiorerat 1.25% for calendar year 2008. The
increase in unique visitors primarily resulted frorareased marketing spend driving higher paiditraind better content on our websites
driving more organic traffic. The increase in corsien was largely due to more effective pricingitéecatalog data and a better customer
experience. Total e-commerce orders increased ByAaA or 18.3% to 1.4 million orders for fiscal 20@ur average order value declined to
$119 for fiscal 2009 compared with $124 for calengdsar 2008 which was primarily attributable toreased pricing competition and increa
sales of lower cost direct sourced products.

Online marketplace sales decreased $0.5 millio,2%0, to $20.5 million for fiscal 2009 comparedb&i.0 million for calendar year
2008 due in part to a decline in marketplace traffi

Net sales from our offline business declined by$fillion, or 5.9%, to $12.3 million for fiscal 26Grom calendar year 2008. The
decrease in net sales was the result of reduceth@ses from a significant customer in fiscal 2009.

We have historically experienced seasonality inlmiginess. We expect seasonality to continue urdutears as automobile collisions
during inclement weather create increased demantbidy parts in winter months, and consumers aftetrertake projects to maintain and
enhance the performance of their automobiles irstibemer months. We anticipate that seasonalityosititinue to have a material impact on
our financial condition and results of operatioosthe foreseeable future.

Gross profit was $63.9 million, or 36.2% of netesalfor fiscal 2009, compared to $52.6 million3dr3% of net sales, in the prior year.
The 1.9% increase in gross margin for fiscal 20@®@pgared to the prior year was primarily due to Iometbound freight expense, lower
product costs, purchase discounts, and increasedue from sales of advertising on our websites.

General and Administrative Expense

Year Ended 52 Weeks
December 31 Ended January 2
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
General and administrative expel $ 18,23 $ 19,64( $1,40¢ 7.7%
Percent of net sal¢ 11.9% 11.1% (0.899%

General and administrative expense increased $illidmor 7.7% for fiscal 2009 compared to calengaar 2008 primarily due to an
increase in bonuses and share-based compensatioarfemployees, increased merchant fees due igharsales volume, increased legal fees
related to the litigation to protect our intellegkproperty, and increased depreciation and anaditiz expense for internally-developed
software that was placed into production in fis2@09; partially offset by lower professional feesl dabor expense.

During fiscal 2009, share-based compensation expecseased by $0.4 million primarily due to penfiance-based option awards.
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Marketing Expens

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2,
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Marketing expens $ 22,96¢ $23,41¢ $ 454 2.0%
Percent of net sal¢ 15.(% 13.2% 1.77%

Marketing expense increased $0.5 million, or 2.886fiscal 2009 compared to calendar year 2008a figrcentage of net sales,
marketing expense decreased 1.7% to 13.3% fol 29 compared to the prior-year primarily duegduced personnel costs, partially offset
by higher e-commerce advertising spending fromeased unique visitors. Marketing spend as a pexgerdf sales was 7.1% for fiscal 2009
compared to 7.3% in the prior year. Reduced spemdii online marketplaces sales channel also danéd to this percentage decrease for
fiscal 2009.

Fulfillment Expens:

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2,
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Fulfillment expenst $ 9,11¢ $11,437 $ 2,321 25.5%
Percent of net sal¢ 5.9% 6.5% 0.6%

Fulfillment expense increased $2.3 million, or 25,50r fiscal 2009 compared to the prior year. Ameecentage of net sales, fulfillment
expense increased 0.6% to 6.5% for fiscal 2009amilyndue to expenses related to our new distrdrutienter in Virginia that opened in 2009.

Technology Expense

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2,
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Technology expens $ 3,64C $ 4,467 $ 82t 22.1%
Percent of net sal¢ 2.4% 2.5% 0.1%

Technology expense increased $0.8 million, or 22@4iscal 2009 compared to the prior year. Aecpntage of sales, technology
expense increased 0.1% to 2.5% mainly due to higéesonnel related expenses and increased comrianibandwidth to support our
growing infrastructure and investments in our olleéeghnology platform.

Amortization of Intangibles and Impairment L«

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2,
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Amortization of intangibles and impairment Ic $ 23,89¢ $ 661 $(23,239) (97.29%
Percent of net sal¢ 15.€% 0.4% (18.1%

Amortization of intangibles and impairment lossldrexd by $23.2 million, or 97.2%, in fiscal 2009%l€ndar year 2008 included non-
cash impairment of $18.3 million on intangible ass€or further discussion refer‘tdote -6 Goodwill and Intangiblesdf the Notes to
Consolidated Financial Statements included in Rgrtem 15 of this report. We estimate aggregat®sdization expense related to these
intangibles for the years 2010, 2011, 2012, 20182014 to be approximately $323,000, $323,000, ¥8¥B $288,000 and $112,000,
respectively.
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Impairment Loss on Goodw

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2, $ Change % Change
2008 2010
(in thousands)
Impairment loss on Goodwi $ 4,43 $ — $(4,430) (200)%
Percent of net sale 2.9% 0.C% (2.9%

There was no impairment on goodwill in fiscal 20@@lendar year 2008 included non-cash impairmef#af million on goodwill. For

further discussion refer ttNote -6 Goodwill and Intangiblesbf the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statemerdisidedin Part IV, Item 15 o
this report.

Other Income (Expense), Net

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2,
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Other income (expense), r $ 1,00C $ 191 $ (809 (80.9%
Percent of net sal¢ 0.7% 0.1% (0.6) %

Other income, net decreased $0.8 million, or 80i@4iscal 2009 compared to the prior year, resglfirom lower interest income from a
decline in interest rates during fiscal 2009 coredao calendar year 2008.

Income Tax Provision (Benef

52 Weeks
Year Ended Ended
December 31 January 2,
2008 2010 $ Change % Change
(in thousands)
Income tax provision (benefi $ (11,82) $ 3,12¢ $14,94¢ 126.%%
Percent of net sal¢ (7.71% 1.8% 9.5%

For fiscal 2009 and 2008, the effective tax ratetfie Company was 70.33% and 41.36%, respectiVély.Company’s effective tax rate
is higher than the U.S. federal statutory rate prily as a result of state income taxes and otbardeductible permanent differences. The
increase in income tax provision during fiscal 2008 primarily due to a $1.1 million tax effectstbck option forfeitures and other non-
deductible permanent differences. The decreaseome tax provision (benefit) during calendar y2@08 was primarily due to the tax effect
of the $4.5 million and $23.4 million impairmenskes on our goodwill and intangible assets, resgbet
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
Sources of Liquidity

In fiscal 2010, we funded our operations with castl cash equivalents generated from operationgdnyears, sale of marketable
securities, credit facilities and capital leasafinings. We had no balance outstanding under ok lbge of credit during fiscal 2010.

Cash Flows

The following table summarizes the key cash flowtrioe from our consolidated statements of cash flowcalendar year 2008, fiscal
2009 and fiscal 2010, respectively, ended:

December 31 January 2, January 1,
2008 2010 2011

(in thousands

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 2,99¢ 11,587 (1,709
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 11,17¢ (18,079 (31,04
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (1,07%) 11F 23,88:
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (25) 15¢E 21¢
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equis 13,07« (6,2272) (8,65€)

We had cash and cash equivalents of $17.6 milkoof danuary 1, 2011, representing a $8.7 milliecrelase from $26.3 million of liquid
assets as of January 2, 2010. The decrease irashiand cash equivalents as of January 1, 201pnvaarily due to our acquisition of WAG,
purchase of inventory and investment in property equipment, which was partially offset by cashegated from operations, sale of
marketable securities and borrowings under ouritfadility in fiscal 2010.

Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities decredseapproximately $13.3 million for fiscal 2010, aempared to fiscal 2009. The
decrease was primarily due to an increase in psech&inventory, which was offset by an improveniarttming of payments on accounts
payable and net earnings in fiscal 2010 after aidiggor non-cash items such as depreciation anarération and deferred income taxes. Net
cash provided by operating activities increasedjgyroximately $8.6 million for fiscal 2009, as caangd to calendar year 2008. The increase
was primarily due to higher earnings after adjgsfior non-cash items such as depreciation and &atdn and deferred income taxes, which
was partially offset by utilization of cash for phase of inventory. The improvement in cash flosesf operating activities in fiscal 2009 also
reflected the timing of payments on accounts payaht collections on accounts receivables.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities increasedpgyroximately $13.0 million for fiscal 2010, as quaned to fiscal 2009. The increase
was primarily due to our acquisition of WAG and ¢haise of property and equipment, which was partadfset by proceeds from sale of short-
term marketable securities. Net cash used in imgsictivities increased by approximately $29.3ionil for fiscal 2009, as compared to
calendar year 2008, primarily due to higher purehafsshort-term marketable securities and purcb&peoperty and equipment.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increabgdpproximately $23.8 million for fiscal 2010, @smpared to fiscal 2009. The
increase was primarily due to borrowings of $25iorilunder our credit facility in fiscal 2010. Ne&sh provided by financing activities
increased by approximately $1.2 million for fis@8I09, as compared to calendar year 2008, primduié/to a decrease in the payments made
on borrowings.
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Funding Requirements

As of January 1, 2011, our working capital was 20.8 million. The historical seasonality in our mess during the fourth and first
calendar quarters of each year cause cash anegastalents, inventory and accounts payable todoeally higher in these quarters, resulting
in fluctuations in our working capital.

In August 2010, the Company and Silicon Valley BétBank”) entered into a Loan and Security Agreetr@me “Loan Agreement"and
other definitive documentation for a $35 milliorceeed credit facility (the “Facility”). The Facilitis comprised of a term loan in the original
principal amount of $25 million and a revolvingdinf credit with availability up to $10 million. EhFacility has a final maturity date of
June 30, 2014, and borrowings under the Faciligr ligerest, at the election of the Company, at@®B(with a floor of 1.25%) plus a margin
of from 2.00% to 3.00% per annum, or at the Wak&tJournal Prime Rate plus a margin of from 1.80%.00% per annum, based upon the
Companys maximum funded debt ratio. An unused revolving fiee of 0.375% per annum is payable on the undmmmitted amount of tt
revolving line of credit. Interest on outstandingrtowings under the term loan and the revolving lirfi credit is payable no less than quarterly,
and the outstanding principal of the term loan amed over four years and payable quarterly, with autstanding amount under the Facilit
be paid in full on the final maturity date. Borrawgs under the Facility are secured by liens odaasalets of the Company, including shares of
stock in each of the Company’s subsidiaries. Teth@fCompany’s subsidiaries are acting as co-barswnder the Facility. At January 1,
2011, the LIBOR rate and the margin were 1.25%300% per annum, respectively. The Company hadonmWings on the revolving line of
credit during fiscal 2010.

The Loan Agreement requires the Company to comjily asnumber of covenants, including financial aueets related to Maximum
Funded Debt to Consolidated EBITDA, Liquidity, a@dnsolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratios; negplddge requirements; requireme
to deliver quarterly and annual consolidated finalngtatements; requirements to maintain adequaterances; prohibitions on changes in the
business and disposition of the Company’s assetspther customary covenants. The Loan Agreementraljuires the Company to obtain a
prior written consent from the Bank when the Conypdetermines to pay any dividends on or make astyidution related to our common
stock. The Loan Agreement includes usual and custpevents of default and remedies for facilitiéshis nature. On February 28, 2011, the
Company and the Bank entered into Amendment No.Lb&an and Security Agreement and Limited Waivénfendment”). The Amendment
waived the Company'’s lack of compliance with then§alidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Covenathieil.oan Agreement as of
January 1, 2011. The Amendment also amended tivdtatefs of Baseline Liquidity and Consolidated HBIA to more readily accommodate
the Company’s integration of the WAG acquisition.

We anticipate that funds generated from operatioscash on hand will be sufficient to meet ourkiray capital needs, expected capital
expenditures and the servicing of the debt foeast the next twelve months. Our future capitaliiregnents may, however, vary materially
from those now planned or anticipated. Changesiiroperating plans, lower than anticipated netssaldditional acquisitions, increased
expenses, continued or worsened economic conditiwrather events, including those described irskFRiactors,’may cause us to seek deb
equity financings in the future. Financings may betavailable on acceptable terms, on a timelysbasiat all, and our failure to raise adequate
capital when needed could negatively impact oumthigplans and our financial condition and resuftefgerations. As of January 1, 2011, our
$4.1 million (fair value) of ARPS investments remalassified as long-term investments as a residiled auctions and market liquidity
issues. We may not have immediate access to thosis.f

We also plan to continue our technology investmants effort to improve our websites, operatingtsyns, and backend platforms.

Debt and Available Borrowing Resourc

Short-term debt and long-term debt increased by B6llion and $18.1 million, respectively, for fsc2010 as compared to fiscal 2009.
The net increase is due to spending on the acipuisif WAG and executing capital leases in fisd@l@ The Company had no borrowings in
fiscal 2009, and the short-term debt of $47,000ckdendar year 2008 was related to capital leabgation that was paid off in fiscal 2009.
There was no long-term debt in calendar year 2008.

Our debt-equity ratio is calculated as the carryiatyie of debt divided by the carrying value of igguAs of January 1, 2011, our debt-
equity ratio was 0.33 due to borrowings under aw eredit facility in fiscal 2010.

As of January 1, 2011, an unused revolving lineretlit with availability up to $10 million was alable to the Company to obtain short-
term and long-term financings if we need additidialidity.
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Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We have no off-balance sheet arrangements.

Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth our contractual cabligations and commercial commitments as of JanLia2011.

Payment Due By Period (in thousands)

Less thar More than
Contractual Obligations: Total 1 year 1-3 years 3-5 years 5 years
Principal payments on lo-term debi® 24,00( 6,12t 13,12¢ 4,75(
Interest payments on lo-term debi@ 2,04( 90¢ 1,051 81
Operating lease obligatiol® 6,004 1,482 2,88: 1,26( 37¢
Capital lease obligatior® 332 19¢ 13€

@ Amounts represent the expected principal cash patgwelating to our lor-term debt and do not include any fair value adjestis or

discounts and premium

Amounts represent the expected interest cash pagmedating to our lor-term debt. The interest rate at January 1, 2011us@d tc
calculate the expected future interest paymt

Commitments under operating leases relate primaritur lease on our principal facility in Cars@glifornia, our distribution center in
Chesapeake, Virginia, and our call center in thiéifptines. The lease on WAG's office in Chicago amarehouse space in LaSalle,
lllinois and Independence, Ohio are also inclut

Commitments under capital leases relate to equipfease agreement

(@)

®

4)

Seasonality

We believe our business is subject to seasonalfitions. We have historically experienced higlees of body parts in winter months
when inclement weather and hazardous road conditiguically result in more automobile collisionsidine parts and performance parts and
accessories have historically experienced highes$a the summer months when consumers have rimoeetd undertake elective projects to
maintain and enhance the performance of their aoibiles and the warmer weather during that timeigdaicive for such projects. We expect
the historical seasonality trends to continue teehematerial impact on our financial condition aesults of operations in subsequent periods.

Inflation

Inflation has not had a material impact upon owraping results, and we do not expect it to hawh sun impact in the near future. We
cannot assure you that our business will not bectdtl by inflation in the future.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARK  ET RISK

Market risk represents the risk of loss that magdnt our financial position, results of operationgash flows due to adverse changes in
financial commodity market prices and rates. Weexigosed to market risk primarily in the area adrafpes in United States interest rates and
conditions in the credit markets. We also have serpmsure related to foreign currency fluctuatiol'e. do not have derivative financial
instruments. Under our current policies, we dousa interest rate derivative instruments to maexgesure to interest rate changes. We
attempt to increase the safety and preservati@uoinvested principal funds by limiting defaulskj market risk and reinvestment risk. We
mitigate default risk by investing in investmenade securities and mutual funds that hold debtritexsu

Interest Rate RislOur investment securities generally consist of fggdde auction rate preferred securities. As ofidanl, 2011, our
long-term investments included $4.1 million (faitlwe) of investments in ARPS, which consist of higlade (A or AAA rated) collateralized
debt obligations issued by municipalities and ségfencies. Our ARPS have an interest rate thaset in short intervals through auctions. The
current conditions in the global credit marketséhavevented some investors from liquidating theldimgs of ARPS because the amount of
securities submitted for sale has exceeded the minadypurchase orders for these securities. Ifeheinsufficient demand for the securities at
the time of an auction, the auction may not be deted and the interest rates may be reset to medieted higher rates. When auctions for
these securities fail, the investments may noebdity convertible to cash until a future auctidrihreese investments is successful or they are
redeemed or mature. If the credit ratings of theusty issuers deteriorate and any decline in markhie is determined to be other- than-
temporary, we would be required to adjust the ¢agryalue of the investment through an impairmdatrge.

On February 13, 2008, we were informed that theae iwsufficient demand at auctions for four of bigh-grade ARPS, representing
approximately $7.8 million. As a result, these etiel securities are currently not liquid and theriest rates have been reset to the
predetermined higher rates. For the period Jun@@m8 through January 1, 2011, we have receivethpegdemptions at par on all four ARPS
totaling $3.5 million. The remaining principal bate on our ARPS is $4.2 million as of January 1,120

In the event we need to access the funds thahame illiquid state, we will not be able to do sithout the possible loss of principal until
a future auction for these investments is succkestfiney are redeemed by the issuer. At this timanagement has not obtained sufficient
evidence to conclude that these investments as-titlan-temporarily impaired or that they will ro# settled in the short term, although the
market for these investments is presently uncertbime are unable to sell these securities innttagket or they are not redeemed, then we may
be required to hold them indefinitely. We do nopest to have a need to access these funds fortmpexigourposes for the foreseeable future.
We plan to continue to monitor and evaluate thesestments on an ongoing basis for impairment. @aseour ability to access our cash and
other short-term investments, our expected casVsfland our other sources of cash, we do not pateeithat the potential illiquidity of these
investments will affect our ability to execute aurrent business plan. However, due to the illigyioh the market, we have recorded $0.1
million of unrealized losses on our investment fodid as of January 1, 2011.

As of January 1, 2011, we had a balance of $24ll®dbmbutstanding under a term loan under our arility with Silicon Valley Bank.
The interest rate on this loan is computed at &0RBoan rate, adjusted by features specified in@am agreements. At our current debt level
as of January 1, 2011, a 100 basis point increasgedrest rates would not materially affect oum@ags and cash flows. If, however, we are
unable to meet the covenants in our loan agreementyould be required to renegotiate the termgedit under the loan agreement, including
the interest rate. There can be no assurancerthataegotiated terms of credit would not mateyiatipact our earnings. As of January 1,
2011, the Company’s Consolidated Fixed Charge Gmeeratio was lower than the ratio required bycvenants in the Loan and Security
Agreement between the Company and Silicon ValleykBdhe bank has granted an amendment and limigédew which will not impact
operating flexibility going forward.

Foreign Currency RiskOur purchases of auto parts from our Asian supphee denominated in U.S. Dollars; however, a chamghe
foreign currency exchange rates could impact oodget costs over time. Our financial reporting eaay is the U.S. Dollar and changes in
exchange rates significantly affect our reportesits and consolidated trends. For example, ifit& Dollar weakens year- over- year relative
to currencies in our international locations, ooingolidated net sales, gross profit, and operaipgnses will be higher than if currencies had
remained constant. Likewise, if the U.S. Dollaestithens year- over- year relative to currenciesiminternational locations, our consolidated
net sales, gross profit and operating expensedwilbwer than if currencies had remained cons@nt.operating expenses in the Philippines
are generally paid in Philippine Pesos, and agxicbange rate fluctuates, it adversely or favorahlyacts our operating results. In light of the
above, we believe that a fluctuation of 10% inBeso/U.S. Dollar exchange rate would have appraeima $0.3 million impact on our
operating expenses for fiscal 2011. Our Canadidrsitesales are denominated in Canadian Dollamseter, fluctuations in exchange rates
from these operations are only expected to hawa@nal impact on our operating results due to #iatively small number of sales generated
in Canada. We believe it is important to evaluateaperating results and growth rates before atat Hfe effect of currency changes.
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ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

The financial statements required by this lteme3sat forth in Part IV, Item 15 of this report earé hereby incorporated into this Item 8
by reference.

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON AC COUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresgydesi to provide reasonable assurance that infoomagiquired to be disclosed in
reports filed with the SEC under the SecuritiestExge Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Aisttgcorded, processed, summarized
and reported within the specified time periods, #rad such information is accumulated and commuedtto management, including our Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, ggpeopriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure. Our management, with
the participation of our Chief Executive Officerda@hief Financial Officer, evaluated the effectigss of our disclosure controls and
procedures as of January 1, 2011 pursuant to Ralelh and 15d-15 of the Exchange Act. Based oretfatiation, the CEO and CFO have
concluded that, as of such date, our disclosure@srand procedures were effective to meet theatives for which they were designed and
operated at the reasonable assurance level.

Management's Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnagidtaining adequate internal control over finah@gorting (as defined in Rule 13a-
15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934rasnded). We assessed the effectiveness of eanahtcontrol over financial reporting as
of January 1, 2011, based on the “Internal Contrdhtegrated Framework” issued by the Committe8mdnsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (the “COSO framework”). Thisessment was conducted utilizing our documentatigrolicies and procedures, risk
control matrices, gap analysis, key process walktiphs and management’s knowledge of and interaetith its controls and testing of our
key controls.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or détaisstatements. Also, projection of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future peri@subject to the risk that controls may becomeednadte because of changes in conditions, or
that the degree of compliance with the policiepraicedures may deteriorate.

A material weakness is a deficiency, or combinatibdeficiencies, in internal control over finarlaieporting, such that there is
reasonable possibility that a material misstatero&éptr annual or interim financial statements wit be prevented or detected on a timely
basis. Based on such assessment and criteria, Brapaghas concluded that the internal controls imancial reporting were effective, and
were operating at the reasonable assurance leeélJasiuary 1, 2011. Our independent registeretipabcounting firm, Deloitte & Touche
LLP, has included an attestation report on ourir@econtrol over financial reporting, which is lnded below.

For purposes of conducting its 2010 evaluatiorhefdffectiveness of the Company’s internal cordxar financial reporting,
management has excluded the acquisitions of WA@pteted on August 12, 2010, whose financial statémeonstitute 6.4 percent and 12
percent of net and total assets, respectively, jdrent of net sales, and 43.2 percent of net tdgke consolidated financial statement
amounts as of and for the year ended January 1, Zofer to'Note 5 — Business Combinatiorni Part IV, Item 15 of this report for further
discussion of the acquisitions and their impacttenCompany’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company monitors and evaluates on an ongoisig fia internal control over financial reportimgdrder to improve its overall
effectiveness. In the course of these evaluatitvesCompany modifies and refines its internal psses as conditions warrant. As required by
Rule 13a-15(d), the Company’s management, incluttiegChief Executive Officer and the Chief Finah€#ficer, also conducted an
evaluation of the Company’s internal control oveafhcial reporting to determine whether any chamgesirred during the quarter ended
January 1, 2011 that have materially affected rer@asonably likely to materially affect, the Canp’s internal control over financial
reporting. Based on that evaluation, there has heesuch change during the period covered by dgert.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc.
Carson, California

We have audited the internal control over finansgplorting of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc and sdiasies (the “Company”) as January 1,
2011 based on criteria establishednternal Control — Integrated Frameworksued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise
Treadway Commission. As describedMianagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting, management excluded from its
assessment the internal control over financial niapgp at Automotive Specialty Accessories and PEMEAG”), which was acquired on

August 12, 2010, and whose financial statementstitate -6.4 percent and 12.1 percent of net and total sssstpectively, 14.9 percent of
sales, and 43.2 percent of net loss of the coregelitifinancial statement amounts as of and fopéh®d ended January 1, 2011. Accordingly,
our audit did not include the internal control ofieancial reporting at WAG. The Company’s manageti responsible for maintaining
effective internal control over financial reportingd for its assessment of the effectiveness efnial control over financial reporting, included
in the accompanyiniylanagement’s Report on Internal Control Over Finah&eporting.Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the
Company'’s internal control over financial reportiogsed on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether effectivenaiteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corgvar financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etiaguthe design and operating effectiveness ofiraiecontrol based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considezeessary in the circumstances. We believe thadadit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repogiis a process designed by, or under the supenvidij the company’s principal executive
and principal financial officers, or persons pemfiorg similar functions, and effected by the compaipard of directors, management, and
other personnel to provide reasonable assuraneedieg the reliability of financial reporting anltkt preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallymedeaccounting principles. A company’s internaitcol over financial reporting includes
those policies and procedures that (1) pertaiheéaaintenance of records that, in reasonableldataurately and fairly reflect the transacti
and dispositions of the assets of the companypr@jide reasonable assurance that transactioneereded as necessary to permit preparation
of financial statements in accordance with gengiadcepted accounting principles, and that recaiptsexpenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of ngangent and directors of the company; and (3) peowédsonable assurance regarding
prevention or timely detection of unauthorized asigjon, use, or disposition of the company’s assleat could have a material effect on the
financial statements.

Because of the inherent limitations of internaltcolhover financial reporting, including the possti of collusion or improper management
override of controls, material misstatements duertor or fraud may not be prevented or detected timely basis. Also, projections of any
evaluation of the effectiveness of the internaltoarover financial reporting to future periods atebject to the risk that the controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditivttgt the degree of compliance with the policgeprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all mialerespects, effective internal control over figal reporting as of January 1, 2011 based
on the criteria established internal Control — Integrated Framewoitsued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatifrtke Treadway
Commission.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@inited States), the consolidated
financial statements as of and for the period erddediary 1, 2011 of the Company and our repordddirch 16, 2011 expressed an
unqualified opinion on those financial statements.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, CA
March 16, 2011
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ITEM9B. OTHER INFORMATION
None.

PART Il

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNA NCE

(a) Identification of DirectorsThe information under the caption “Election of Qiters,” appearing in the Proxy Statement (“Proxy
Statement”), is hereby incorporated by referente Froxy Statement will be filed with the SEC withi20 days from the end of fiscal year
2010.

(b) Identification of Executive Officers and Certaig@ficant Employeed he information under the caption “Executive Conmgaion
and Other Information—Executive Officers,” appegrin the Proxy Statement, is hereby incorporatedefigrence.

(c) Compliance with Section 16(a) of the Exchange Put. information under the caption “Section 16(ah&&ial Ownership Reporting
Compliance,” appearing in the Proxy Statementgeigby incorporated by reference.

(d) Code of Ethics The information under the caption “Corporate Goaace — Code of Ethics and Business Conduct,”appgin the
Proxy Statement, is hereby incorporated by referenc

(e) Board CommitteesThe information under the caption “Corporate Gaaeice — Board Committees and Meetings,” appeainitige
Proxy Statement, is hereby incorporated by refexrenc

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The information under the caption “Executive Comgaion and Other Information”, appearing in thexyrStatement, is incorporated
herein by reference.

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

The information under the captions “Equity CompéiosaPlans” and “Ownership of Securities by Certaeneficial Owners and
Management,” appearing in the Proxy Statemenhdsrporated herein by reference.

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information under the captions “Corporate Goaece — Director Independence” and “Certain Reteatigps and Related
Transactions,” appearing in the Proxy Statemercigrporated herein by reference.

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES

The information under the caption “Fees Paid tepehdent Registered Public Accounting Firm,” apipgan the Proxy Statement, is
incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
(a) Documents filed as part of this report:

(1) Financial Statement§.he following financial statements of U.S. Auto BaMetwork, Inc. are included in a separate seaifdhis
Annual Report on Form 10-K commencing on the pagisenced below:

Page
Report of Deloitte & Touche LLP, independent regiist public accounting firr F-1
Report of Ernst & Young LLP, independent registegpedlic accounting firn F-2
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of January 1, 2@ January 2, 201 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheoftiree years in the period ended January 1, F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity for each of the three years in the periodeghJanuary 1, 201 F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoftiree years in the period ended January 1, F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7
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(2) Financial Statement Schedules

All schedules have been omitted because they daneqoired or the required information is includeaur consolidated financial
statements and notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits.

The following exhibits are filed herewith or incomated by reference to the location indicated below

Exhibit
No.

2.1*

2.2

3.1

3.2

4.1*
10.1+*
10.2+*
10.3+*
10.4+*
10.5+*
10.8+*
10.9+*

10.10*
10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*
10.271

10.291”

EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Acquisition Agreement dated May 19, 2006 by and ragnid.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Partsbin,,lon.the one hand, and
The Partshin.com, Inc., All OEM Parts, Inc., Poleast, Inc., Auto Parts Web Solutions, Inc., Web alutions, Inc.,
Everything Internet, LLC, Richard E. Pine, LowellMann, Brian Tinari and Todd Daugherty, on theeothanc

Stock Purchase Agreement executed August 2, 20bd@ihe Acquisition Sub, WAG, Riverside and theeotstockholders ¢
WAG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.57tte Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed witik Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 4, 20

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incatjmor of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. as filed wihe Delaware Secretary
of State on February 14, 2007 (incorporated byregiee to Exhibit 3.1 to the Annual Report on Fo®rKLfiled with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on April 2, 2!

Amended and Restated Bylaws of U.S. Auto Parts Netwnc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 82he Annual Report ¢
Form 1(-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarApril 2, 2007,

Specimen common stock certifici

U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. 2006 Equity Incent®ian

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the U.S. ARdots Network, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive PI

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under th&UAuto Parts Network, Inc. 2006 Equity IncentRian.

Form of Acceleration Addendum to Stock Option Agneait under the U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. 2096ify Incentive Plar
U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Plan famchs of agreemen

Offer Letter of Employment dated May 19, 2006 bg #etween U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Richrireg

Non-Competition Agreement dated May 19, 2006 by andragrJ.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Richard Pireyell Mann,
Brian Tinari and Todd Daugher

Shareholde' s Release dated May 19, 2006 by and between U 18.Rarts Network, Inc. and Richard P

Commercial Lease Agreement dated January 1, 20@hdtpetween U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and@liboe Enterprises,
LLC, amended effective February 1, 2(

Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Leaseésress dated October 1, 2006 by and between U.®. Rarts Network,
Inc. and Margay 2003, LLC, amended effective Fetyda2010

Standard Industrial/Commercial Mi-Tenant Leas— Gross dated July 12, 2004 by and between U.S. Ratts Network, Inc
and Isadore Socransky, amended effective Febry&91D

Lease dated November 30, 2004 by and between Wi8. Parts Network, Inc. and William Co:

Catalog License and Parts Purchase Agreement Natesimber 20, 2006 by and between U.S. Auto Parta/dig, Inc. anc
WORLDPAC, Inc.

Services Agreement dated October 3, 2006 by avaddest U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Efficienbrier, Inc.
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Exhibit
No

10.32+’
10.33+

10.35*
10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39+

10.40+

10.41+

10.42+

10.43

10.44+

10.45

10.46

10.47+

Description
Offer Letter of Employment dated January 1, 200@&bg between U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Houdkhavar

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers aDdectors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit3®to the Annual Report
on Form 1+K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarMarch 15, 201C

Deeds of Assignment and Declarations of Trust eteeL8eptember 2006 regarding MBS Tek Corporatiockstransfel

Purchase Agreement, dated April 20, 2007, by anohgntd.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc., Access Worldw@Emmunications
Inc. and their respective Philippine affiliatescinporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Qarr Report on Form 1@ filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission on M5y2007)

Lease Agreements, dated August 8, 2007, by and gi@8 Tek Corporation and Roshan Commercial Cangofporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Reporform 10-Q filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on August 2,
2007)

Form of Supplier Agreement entered into between U.S. Auto Parts Bigtwnc. and certain of its U.S. based supplied
primary drop-ship vendors (incorporated by refeeeticExhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on FordaQ filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 27

Employment Agreement dated March 29, 2010 betwe&n Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Shane Evangétisb(porated by
reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Quarterly Repororm 10-Q filed with the Securities and Excha@Ggenmission on May 12,
2010)

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated October2l®7 between U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and 8harangelis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to therént Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securiteesd Exchange Commission
on October 17, 200"

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated October2l®)7 (performance grant) between U.S. Auto Paetsviirk, Inc. and
Shane Evangelist (incorporated by reference tolix9.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filediwthe Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 17, 2C

2007 New Employee Incentive Plan (incorporateddignence to Exhibit 99.5 to the Current Report omFE-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Octoberaar).

Lease Agreement, dated October 11, 2007, by anteketMBS Tek Corporation and Averon Holding Corpiora(incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Reépor Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exaj@Commission on
November 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated March 29, 2010, betweeiCompany and Aaron Coleman (incorporated tsreeice to Exhibi
10.44 to the Quarterly Report on Form-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissioiMay 12, 2010

Support Continuity Agreement, dated April 28, 2008tween the Company and Alexander Adegan (incatpdrby reference
Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on For-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarApril 28, 2008’

Consulting Agreement, dated April 28, 2008, amdrgg@ompany, uParts.com, Inc. and Alexander Adegaorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current ReporfForm 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange @ussion on April 28,
2008)

Nor-Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated April 2808, between the Company and Alexander Adeganrficated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current ReporfForm 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchange @ussion on April 28,
2008)
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Exhibit
No.
10.48+

10.49

10.50+

10.51

10.52+

10.53+

10.54+

10.55

10.56

10.58

10.59

10.63+

10.64
10.65

10.66

Description

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated May 15,208y and between the Company and Shane Evan(etistporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporForm &K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarMay 15, 2008

Stipulation of settlement in the matter entitladré U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. Securities Latign, Case No. CV (-203(-GW
(JC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1th® Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the@&ies and Exchange
Commission on November 6, 20(

Separation Agreement and Release of Claims, dadedrber 9, 2008, between the Company and Michd#tGlane
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to therént Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securitéesd Exchange Commission on
December 9, 200¢

Consulting Agreement, dated December 9, 2008, twlee Company and Michael J. McClane (incorporbtereference ti
Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on For-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarDecember 9, 200:

Employment Agreement, dated March 29, 2010 betwleeiCompany and Theodore Sanders (incorporatedfbyence to Exhibit
10.53 to the Quarterly Report on Formr-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissioMay 12, 2010

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated Febru&@y2D09, between the Company and Theodore Saridecsgorated by
reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the Current ReporFomm 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchanger@assion on February 17,
2009)

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (performance gratdited February 16, 2009, between the Companyrhaddore Sande
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.64 toGherent Report on Form 8-K filed with the Secustand Exchange Commission
on February 17, 200¢

Commercial Lease Agreement dated December 16, 20@8d between U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. andiéysindian River
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68He Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Settes and Exchange
Commission on March 26, 200

Commercial lease dated January 7, 2010 by and batWeS. Autoparts Network Philippines Corporatiod &obinsons Land
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhibitsb to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed witletSecurities and Exchange
Commission on March 15, 201

Guarantee executed August 2, 2010 by the Compangrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to thenany's Current Repol
on Form K filed with Securities and Exchange CommissionAugust 4, 2010

Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 13, 2b&lyeen Bank, USAPN, ASAP, Go Fido Inc., Parts Bobo, Whitney.
Value, Private Label, Pacific, AutoMD, and LocaldoShops (incorporated by reference to Exhibit @@dbthe Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the Securities Exchange and Commissiorugust 17, 201(

2011 Base Salaries and Target Bonuses of certbgeisf (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@he Current Report on
Form &K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarDecember 9, 2011

Sublease dated December 4, 2007 by and betweeretaykVerks, Inc. and J.C. Whitney & C

Second Amendment To Lease Agreement dated Febtu2808 by and between JCM Management LLC andrf’ Concepts
Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreementlamidted Waiver, dated February 28, 2011, by and rmgn®ilicon Valley
Bank and USAPN, ASAP, Go Fido Inc., Parts Bin, LoWthitney, Value, Private Label, Pacific, AutoMhdaLocal Body Shops
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to@erent Report on Form 8-K filed with the Secustend Exchange Commission
on March 4, 2011
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Exhibit

No.

16.1

211
23.1
23.2
311

31.2

32.1

32.2

—+

Description

June 21, 2010 Letter from E&Y to the SEC (incorpedaherein by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed
with the SEC on June 23, 201

Subsidiaries of U.S. Auto Parts Network, |
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing

Certification of the principal executive officerq@red by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) of the S¢iesrExchange Act of 1934, as
amendec

Certification of the principal financial officergeired by Rule 12-14(a) or 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
amendec

Certification of the Chief Executive Officer reqeidt by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursaéedtion 906 of th
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer reged by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursa&é8edtion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of the sammber from the registration statement on Fo-1 of U.S. Auto Parts Network, In
(File No. 33:-138379) initially filed with the Securities and Evxange Commission on November 2, 2006, as ame!

Indicates a management contract or compensatomygplarrangemet

U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. has been grantedidenfial treatment with respect to certain portiohthis exhibit (indicated b
asterisks), which have been separately filed WiehSecurities and Exchange Commiss
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f{the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report on
Form 10-K to be signed on its behalf by the undgrsd, thereunto duly authorized.

Date: March 16, 201 U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC.

By: /s/ Shane Evangeli
Shane Evangelis
Chief Executive Office

POWER OF ATTORNEY

We, the undersigned officers and directors of W80 Parts Network, Inc., do hereby constitute apdoint Shane Evangelist and
Theodore Sanders, and each of them, our true aridllattorneys-in-fact and agents, each with fuiimer of substitution and resubstitution, for
him and in his name, place and stead, in any drdphcities, to sign any and all amendments ®réport, and to file the same, with exhibits
thereto, and other documents in connection thehewiith the Securities and Exchange Commissiomtgrg unto said attorneys-in-fact and
agents, and each of them, full power and authteiyo and perform each and every act and thingisigwr necessary to be done in and about
the premises, as fully to all intents and purpaseke might or could do in person, hereby, ratffyand confirming all that each of said
attorneys-in-fact and agents, or his substitutsubistitutes, may lawfully do or cause to be dongitiye hereof.

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xga Act of 1934, this report on Form 10-K has bsgned below by the following
persons on behalf of the registrant in the capecdind on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ Shane Evangelist Chief Executive Officer and Direct
Shane Evangeli (principal executive officer March 16, 201:
/s/ Theodore Sanders Chief Financial Office
Theodore Sande (principal financial and accounting office March 16, 201!

/s/ Robert J. Majteles
Robert J. Majtele Chairman of the Boar March 16, 201!

/s/ Joshua L. Berman
Joshua L. Berma Director March 16, 201

/s/ Fredric W. Harman
Fredric W. Harmat Director March 16, 201

/s/ Sol Khazani
Sol Khazan Director March 16, 201.:

/s/ Warren B. Phelps Il
Warren B. Phelps Il Director March 16, 201!

/sl Jeffrey A. Schwart
Jeffrey A. Schwart. Director March 16, 201!

/s/ Ellen F. Siminof
Ellen F. Siminofi Director March 16, 201.:
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc.
Carson, CA

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsimeet of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and slidses (the “Company”) as of
January 1, 2011 and the related consolidated stetisnof operations, stockholdeegjuity, and cash flows for the period ended Janlig®p11
These financial statements are the responsibilitieo Company’s management. Our responsibility isxpress an opinion on the financial
statements based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti@iq@nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to sbteasonable assurance about whether the finestatements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on alasis, evidence supporting the amounts and disis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting principged and significant estimates made by managenentelhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our auditigges a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, such consolidated financial statetagresent fairly, in all material respects, tinaficial position of U.S. Auto Parts, Inc. and
subsidiaries as of January 1, 2011 and the resitseir operations and their cash flows for thegueended January 1, 2011, in conformity
with accounting principles generally accepted i thnited States of America.

We have also audited, in accordance with the stdsdz the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the Company’s
internal control over financial reporting as of dary 1, 2011, based on the criteria establishédtérnal Control—Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrise Treadway Commission and our report dateccha6, 2011 expressed an
unqualified opinion on the Company’s internal cohbver financial reporting.

/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, CA
March 16, 2011
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

Board of Directors and Stockholders
U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balgineet of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and sliadges (the Company) as of
January 2, 2010, and the related consolidatednséatts of operations, stockholders’ equity and dlsts for the two years in the period ended
January 2, 2010. These financial statements anefiponsibility of the Company’s management. Osgpoasibility is to express an opinion on
these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighamlogUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform thet amdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindoecial statements are free of material
misstatement. We were not engaged to perform ait @futhe Company’s internal control over finanaiaporting. Our audits included
consideration of internal control over financigbogting as a basis for designing audit procedurasare appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion oreffectiveness of the Company’s internal contrarofinancial reporting. Accordingly, we
express no such opinion. An audit also includesréxiag, on a test basis, evidence supporting theusms and disclosures in the financial
statements, assessing the accounting principlesarsg significant estimates made by managementeaaidating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@adlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of U.S.
Auto Parts Network, Inc. and subsidiaries at Jan@aP010, and the consolidated results of the@ragons and their cash flows for the two
years in the period ended January 2, 2010, in confp with U.S. generally accepted accounting pples.

/s! Ernst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 12, 2010
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U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share data and per share)data

ASSETS

Current asset:
Cash and cash equivalel
Shor-term investment

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $135$8iR2, respectivel

Inventory
Deferred income taxe
Other current asse
Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Intangible assets, n
Goodwiill
Deferred income taxe
Investment:
Other nol-current assel

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payabl

Accrued expense

Current portion of lon-term deb!

Current portion of capital leases paya

Other current liabilitie:

Total current liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current portic
Capital leases payable, net of current por
Deferred income taxe
Other nol-current liabilities
Total liabilities

Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder’ equity:

Common stock, $0.001 par value; 100,000,000 steart®rized at January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011,
29,893,631 and 30,429,376 shares issued and oditsgaat January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011,

respectively
Additional paic-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive inco
Accumulated defici

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.
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January 2, January 1,
2010 2011
$ 26,25 $ 17,59¢

11,07 1,06z
3,38: 6,84¢
18,61( 48,10(
1,51¢ 35¢
3,14¢ 5,64¢
63,97¢ 79,61
12,40¢ 33,14(
3,11¢ 18,71¢
9,772 17,137
10,98t —
4,264 4,141
98 79C
$104,61: $153,53°
$ 11,371 $ 31,66(
8,03¢ 15,481
— 6,12¢
— 132
2,51¢ 5,527
21,927 58,92¢
— 17,87¢
— 18t
— 3,04¢
— 701
21,921 80,73:
30 3C
150,08¢ 153,96
84 24¢
(67,517 (81,43))
82,68 72,80¢
$104,61: $153,53°
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U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

Year Ended 52 Weeks 52 Weeks
December 31, Ended Ended
2008 January 2, 201( January 1, 201:
Net sales $ 153,42 $ 176,28¢ $ 262,27
Cost of sales (2 100,86 112,41¢ 172,66¢
Gross profi 52,55¢ 63,87: 89,60¢
Operating expense
Marketing (1) 22,96¢ 23,41¢ 38,757
General and administrative( 18,23¢ 19,64( 28,62¢
Fulfillment(1) 9,11¢ 11,437 14,94¢
Technology(1 3,64 4,467 5,90z
Amortization of intangibles and impairment I 23,89: 661 2,80¢
Impairment loss on goodwi 4,42¢ — —
Total operating expens 82,28 59,62« 91,031
(Loss) income from operatiol (29,729 4,24¢ (1,42¢)
Other income (expense
Other income 38 2 191
Interest income (expens 962 18¢ (477)
Total other income (expens 1,00( 191 (280)
(Loss) income before income ta» (28,729 4,44( (1,70¢)
Income tax (benefit) provisic (11,827 3,12 12,21¢
Net (loss) incomi $ (16,900 $ 1,317 $  (13,92¢
Basic net (loss) income per sh $ (0.57) $ 0.04 $ (0.4¢€)
Diluted net (loss) income per sh $ (0.57) $ 0.04 $ (0.4¢)
Shares used in computation of basic net (losshigcper shar 29,846,75 29,851,87 30,269,46
Shares used in computation of diluted net (loss)nime per shar 29,846,75 30,809,11 30,269,46
(1) Includes shar-based compensation expense related to option geenfsllows:
52 Week: 52 Week:
Year Ended
December 31 Ended Ended
January January
2008 2, 2010 1, 2011
Marketing expens $ 344 $ 43¢ $ 321
General and administrative expel 2,181 2,27¢ 1,86¢
Fulfillment expens:t 14¢ 213 37¢€
Technology expens 227 34E 17€
Total shar-based compensation expe! $ 2,901 $ 3,27( $ 2,742

(2) Excludes depreciation and amortization expeektted to sales. Such expense is included in niagkegeneral and administrative and
fulfillment costs as described “ Note 1- Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Katf Operation” below.

See accompanying notes.

F-4



Table of Contents

U.S AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands, except share data)

Accumulated
Other

Common Stock Comprehensive

Accumulated

Total
Stockholders’

Comprehensive

Additional (Loss) Income
Paid-in- for the
Shares Amount Capital Income (Loss) Deficit Equity Period

Balance, December 31, 20C 29,846,75 $ 30 $143220 $ 31z $ (51,92) $ 91,64:
Net loss — — — — (16,90¢) (16,90 $ (16,906
Shar-based compensatic — — 3,18¢ — — 3,18¢
Unrealized loss on investments, ne

tax of $59 — — — (90) — (90) (90)
Effect of changes in foreign currenc — — — (310 — (310 (310
Total comprehensive income (lo¢ $ (17,309
Balance, December 31, 20C 29,846,75 $ 30 $146,40¢ $ (88) $ (68,82Y) $ 77,52
Net Income — — — — 1,317 1317  $ 1,317
Issuance of shares in connection v

stock option exercis 46,87« — 162 — — 162
Shar-based compensatic — — 3,514 — — 3,51«
Unrealized loss on investments, ne

tax of $24 — — — 19 — 19 19
Effect of changes in foreign currenc — — — 158 — 158 153
Total comprehensive income (lo¢ $ 1,48¢
Balance, January 2, 201( 29,89363 $ 3C $150,08: $ 84 $ (67,51) $ 82,68
Net Income — — — — (13,92¢) (23,92¢ $ (13,92¢)
Issuance of shares in connection v

stock option exercise 323,10¢ 99¢ 99¢
Shar-based compensatic 212,64 — 2,87¢ — — 2,87¢
Unrealized gain on investments, ne

tax of $1 15 15 15
Effect of changes in foreign currenc 15C 15C 15C
Total comprehensive income (lo¢ $ (13,76)
Balance, January 1, 201: 30,429,37 $ 30 $153,96: $ 24¢  $ (81,43) $ 72,80/
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U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Year 52 Weeks 52 Weeks
Ended Ended Ended
December 31, 20C January 2, 201( January 1, 201!

Operating activities
Net (loss) incom $ (16,90¢) $ 1,317 $  (13,92¢)
Adjustments to reconcile net (loss) income to rehcprovided by (used in)

operating activities

Depreciation and amortizatic 3,67¢ 4,91( 9,46¢
Amortization of intangible: 4,95¢ 661 2,80¢
Deferred income taxe (11,709 3,634 12,57:
Shar-based compensatic 2,901 3,27( 2,742
Impairment loss on goodwill and intangib 23,36¢ — —
Amortization of deferred financing cos — — 50
Loss (gain) from disposition of ass: 26 — (5)
Changes in operating assets and liabilil
Accounts receivabl 1,55: (2,030 91¢
Inventory 28C (7,700 (17,129
Prepaid expense and other current as (300) (1,055 (910
Other noncurrent asse 15 3) (123)
Accounts payable and accrued expet (5,000 7,56( (68€)
Other current liabilitie: 13C 1,02z 1,812
Other noncurrent liabilitie — — 70C
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 2,99¢ 11,58 (2,709
Investing activities
Additions to property and equipme (4,33)) (8,400 (12,06%)
Acquisition of assembled workforce and other inthteg (641) (739) (1,012
Cash paid for acquisition, net of cash acqu — — (27,500
Proceeds from sale of marketable secur 21,65( 2,15( 29,64:
Purchases of marketable securi (5,500 (112,090 (29,540
Changes in restricted ca — — (319
Purchases of compa-owned life insuranc — — (250
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activi 11,17¢ (18,079 (31,049
Financing activities
Proceeds from lor-term debt — — 25,00(
Payments made on lo-term debt (1,000 — (1,000
Changes in book overdr — — (529
Payments of debt financing co: — — (467)
Payments of shc-term financing (75) (47 (77)
Proceeds from sale of common stock and exercis®ok option: — 162 95¢€
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (1,075 11E 23,88:
Effect of exchange rate changes on ¢ (25 15& 21¢
Net change in cash and cash equival 13,07« (6,227) (8,65¢€)
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of pe 19,39¢ 32,47: 26,25
Cash and cash equivalents, end of pe $ 32,47 $ 26,25 $ 17,59
Supplemental disclosure of r-cash investing and financing activitie
Accrued asset purchas 527 451 1,691
Property acquired under capital lei — — 37C
Estimated purchase price adjustm — — 994
Unrealized (loss) gain on investme (149 19 15
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the period for income ta $ 87 $ 58¢ $ 131
Cash paid during the period for inter 10¢ 2 127

See accompanying notes.
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U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policieand Nature of Operations

U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. (including its subaites, the “Company”s a distributor of aftermarket auto parts and asodes and we
established in 1995. The Company entered the e-evoensector by launching its first website in 2@0@ currently derives the majority of its
revenues from online sales channels. The Compdlsyitseproducts to individual consumers througheawork of websites and online
marketplaces. Our flagship websites are locatediat.autopartswarehouse.cogmvww.partstrain.comwww.jcwhitney.com
www.stylintrucks.comand our corporate website is locatedvatw.usautoparts.net

The Company’s products consist of body parts, engarts, performance parts and accessories. Thedaots category is primarily
comprised of parts for the exterior of an autommb®ur parts in this category are typically reptaeat parts for original body parts that have
been damaged as a result of a collision or thr@egteral wear and tear. The majority of these prsdaie sold through our websites. In
addition, we sell an extensive line of mirror prothy including our own private-label brand calledakVVue™, which are marketed and sold as
aftermarket replacement parts and as upgradessingxparts. The engine parts category is comgrigeengine components and other
mechanical and electrical parts, which are oftéarred to as hard parts. These parts serve aegpént parts for existing engine parts and are
generally used by professionals and dypeitiselfers for engine and mechanical maintenanderepair. We offer performance versions of v
parts sold in each of the above categories. Pedoce parts and accessories generally consist tf that enhance the performance of the
automobile, upgrade existing functionality of adfie part or improve the physical appearance onfwot of the automobile.

The Company is a Delaware C corporation and isdugatered in Carson, California. The Company alodmployees located in
Nashville, Tennessee, Lenexa, Kansas, Chesapeak®i¥, LaSalle, Chicago, as well as in the Pipiipes.

Change in Fiscal Year

The Company'’s fiscal year is based on a 52/53 iise&l year ending on the first Saturday followibgcember 31. The change in the
Company’s reporting year from a calendar year%@/a3 week fiscal year was disclosed and effecief January 1, 2009; therefore, there
was no transition period in connection with thiguebe in the Company’s fiscal year end.

Principles of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include tlw®ants of the Company and its wholly-owned subsiés. Intercompany balances and
transactions have been eliminated.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in conftymiith U.S. generally accepted accounting prirespl“US GAAP”) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfenetttae reported amounts of assets and liakslisied disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statemeansl the reported amounts of revenues and expduoseg the reporting period. Significant
estimates made by management include, but arénmitetdl to, the valuation of investments, valuatafrinventory, valuation of deferred tax
assets and liabilities, valuation of intangibleedssincluding goodwill, and recoverability of seftre development costs. Actual results could
differ from these estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all money market funds and-$&rm marketable securities purchased with nabmaturities of ninety days or
less to be cash equivalents. In connection withagguisition of Automotive Specialty Accessoried &arts (“WAG”), restricted cash of
$319,000 was included in other current assets darofary 1, 2011. The restricted cash was relatadbllateral paid to the landlord for the
sublease of WAG's headquarter office in Chicago asécurity deposit made to a payment processamfare market place transactions. The
entire balance of $319,000 was released from tteiceon and recorded as cash and cash equivialérgbruary 2011.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalerasgetable securities, accounts receivable and ate@ayable approximate fair value
at January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011 due togheit-term maturities. Based on the borrowingsatarently available to the Company for
bank loans with similar terms and average matgritiee fair value of our long-term debt under dréatiility approximates its carrying amount.

F-7



Table of Contents

U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Accounts Receivable and Concentration of Credit Ris

Accounts receivable are stated net of allowanceldobtful accounts. The allowance for doubtful asds is determined primarily on the
basis of past collection experience and general@o@ conditions. The Company determines termscanditions for its customers primarily
based on the volume purchased by the customenroastcreditworthiness and past transaction histing. allowance for doubtful accounts
totaled $0.1 million and $0.4 million at January2210 and January 1, 2011, respectively.

Concentrations of credit risk are limited to thetomer base to which the Company’s products ack $ble Company does not believe
significant concentrations of credit risk exist.

Marketable Securities and Investments

Marketable securities and investments are compaéetbsed-end funds primarily invested in AuctiRate Preferred Securities
(“ARPS"), Mutual Funds, Certificates of Deposit, Maipal Bonds, and US Treasuries. The underlyimgstments in ARPS are tax-exempt
municipal bonds with maturities of thirty or moreays, for which the interest rates are reset thr@utputch auction” every seven days. In
accordance with Accounting Standards Codificati&&(C”) Topic 320,Investments — Debt and Equity Securities (“ASC 320id based on
the Company’s ability to market and sell theserimaents, the Company classifies ARPS as availabledle and carries them at fair value.
Treasuries are classified as short-term investmeitiismaturities of less than 12 months and ihis intention of management to hold these
securities to maturity.

During the twelve months ended December 31, 20@Cbmpany discounted the fair value of the investnn ARPS for illiquidity in
the market as further described in Note 3, undectption “Financial Assets Valued on a Recurring Bdsil fiscal 2009, there was an
increase in liquidity which was evidenced by redeans of $2.2 million (33% of the carrying amountCecember 31, 2008 balance). For the
period from June 30, 2008 to January 1, 2011, we haceived partial redemptions at par on ARPSingt&3.5 million.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment

All of the Company’s marketable securities and staweents are subject to a periodic impairment revigve Company recognizes an
impairment charge when a decline in the fair valfigs investments below the cost basis is judgeloket other-than-temporary. The Company
considers various factors in determining whetheetmgnize an impairment charge, including the tlernd time and extent to which the fair
value has been less than the Company’s cost blasifnancial condition and near-term prospecthefinvestee, and the Compasijntent anc
ability to hold the investment for a period of timéfficient to allow for any anticipated recovenythe market value. No other-than-temporary
impairment charges were recorded on any investnoemisg fiscal 2009 and 2010. In February 2008taierARPS held by the Company fai
at auctions, as described more fully in Note 3,auritie caption Financial Assets Valued on a Recurring Bdsis

Inventory

Inventories consist of finished goods availabledale and are stated at the lower of cost or masde, determined using the first in,
first out (“FIFO”) method. The Company purchaseseimory from suppliers both domestically and in&ionally, and routinely enters into
supply agreements with U.S. based suppliers argdiitgary drop-ship vendors. The Company believesits products are generally available
from more than one supplier and seeks to maintaitiipie sources for its products, both internatibnand domestically. The Company
primarily purchases products in bulk quantitiesake advantage of quantity discounts and to assueatory availability. Inventory is reported
at the lower of cost or market, adjusted for sloawing, obsolete or scrap product. Inventory at dan@, 2010 and January 1, 2011 were $
million and $48.1 million, respectively.

Website and Software Development Costs

The Company capitalizes certain costs associatddwébsite and software developed for internalasmrding to ASC 350-50
Intangibles— Goodwill and Other — Website Development CH#tSC 350-50") and ASC 350-5htangibles — Goodwill and Other — Internal-
Use Software (“ASC 350-40")when both the preliminary project design andngsstage are completed and management has awtioriz
further funding for the project, which it deems Ipable of completion and to be used for the functimended. Capitalized costs include
amounts directly related to website and softwareligment such as payroll and paynmalated costs for employees who are directly assex
with, and who devote time to, the internal-use
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U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

software project. Capitalization of such costs esaghen the project is substantially complete aady for its intended use. The Company
capitalized $5.7 million and $2.0 million duringdal 2009 and 2010, respectively. These amoun@raocetized on a straight-line basis over
two to five years once the software is placed uge.

Long-Lived Assets and Intangibles

The Company accounts for the impairment and digiposdf long-lived assets, including intangible®@et to amortization, in
accordance with ASC 3@roperty, Plant and Equipment (“ASC 360"Management assesses potential impairments wheeegsts or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carnyahge of an asset may not be recoverable. Impairfogses will be recognized in operating
results to the extent that the carrying value edsdbe discounted future cash flows estimateddolrérom the use and eventual disposition of
the asset. During calendar year 2008, the Compaaorded a non-cash impairment charge on long-lssets totaling $18.4 million as further
described in Note 6, under the captioBdodwill and Intangibles. The Company did not recognize any impairmenséssfor fiscal 2009 and
fiscal 2010.

Goodwill and Indefinite-Lived Intangibles

The Company accounts for goodwill and indefiniteed intangible assets in accordance with ASC 3%5@ldd ASC 350, goodwill and
intangible assets with indefinite lives are not aimed but are tested for impairment annually orerfoequently if events or circumstances
occur that would indicate a reduction in fair vallreaddition, the Company identified a single mnejpg unit (the Company itself) in accordal
with ASC 280. The goodwill impairment test is a tatep impairment test. The first step comparedahesalue of each reporting unit with its
carrying amount including goodwill. The Companyirasttes the fair value of the reporting unit basedo equal weighting of two market
approaches and an income approach, which utilize®dnted future cash flows. The market approaatibsed market multiples of invested
capital from 1) comparable publicly traded comparg@ed 2) comparable transactions. The market nestfipom invested capital include
revenues, total assets, book equity plus debt amdreys before interest, taxes, depreciation anar@ation (“EBITDA”). Assumptions critice
to the fair value estimates under the discountsti law model include discount rates, cash flowjgrtions, projected long-term growth rates
and the determination of terminal values. Managéras performed a sensitivity analysis on its sigant assumptions and has determined
that a change in its assumptions within selectediseity testing levels would not impact its consion. The excess of fair value over carrying
value for our reporting unit as of October 31, 20th@ annual testing date, was approximately $18i®m and there would have to be a 65%
decrease in the fair value of the reporting unfiaibstep 1. If the carrying amount exceeds failue, then the second step of the impairmen
is performed to measure the amount of any impaitioss.

Impairment losses will be recognized in operatiesuits. During calendar year 2008, the Companyrdecba non-cash impairment
charge on goodwill and intangible assets with imdef life totaling $5.1 million, as further dedoed in Note 6, under the captioi@bodwill
and Intangibles” The Company did not recognize any impairmentdgsor fiscal 2009 and 2010.

Deferred Catalog Expenses

Deferred catalog expenses consist of third-pargctlicosts including primarily creative design, @agrinting, postage and mailing costs
for all Company direct response catalogs. Suchsa@rst capitalized as deferred catalog expenseararaimortized over their expected future
benefit. Each catalog is fully amortized within @imonths. Deferred catalog expenses are includethar current assets and amount to $1.0
million at January 1, 2011. There were no defecadlog expenses at January 2, 2010 as the catdétgs to the acquisition of WAG
discussed in Note 5.

Deferred Financing Costs

On August 13, 2010, the Company entered into aitdiaellity with Silicon Valley Bank. The credit &lity is comprised of a $25 million
term loan and a $10 million revolving line of credin connection with the credit facility, the Coany paid $0.5 million in fees. These fees
were recorded as deferred financing costs in atheent assets and other non-current assets. Bdffinancing costs are being amortized over
the life of the loan using the straight-line mettasit is not significantly different from effecéunterest method. As of January 1, 2011, the
remaining deferred financing costs were $0.4 millio
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U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

Revenue Recognition

From the Company'’s inception of business througtfitist quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company recagdirevenue from product sales
when the following four revenue recognition critewere met: persuasive evidence of an arrangemits edelivery has occurred (to the
common carrier), the selling price is fixed or datmable, and collectability is reasonably assufidtese criteria followed the Company’s
general policy to recognize revenue accordingsaliipping terms, which were F.O.B. shipping pdifitder this policy, title and risk of loss
were transferred to the customer upon deliverjpéocommon carrier, at which time, revenue was neizegl.

Although the Company had no legal obligation to pemsate the customer, the Company generally raptheeproduct or reimbursed
customer for goods that were lost or damaged irsitand filed a claim to the common carrier fdnteursement for such loss. The Company
executed a new pricing agreement with its primanyier which offered a lower price per delivery aiuninated the Company’s option to file
reimbursement claims for product lost or damagddainsit. As a result of this agreement, the Commtermined that the risk of loss or
damage during transit would be retained by the GomipTherefore, the Company determined that revéone product sales should be
recognized at the delivery date, not the ship date.

This change in the second quarter of fiscal 20%0lted in a deferral of $2.0 million of sales reverand a decrease in cost of goods sold
of $1.5 million, which reduced gross profit by $onfllion. The Company has recognized revenue updively to the customer starting the
second quarter of fiscal 2010.

Revenue from sales of advertising is recorded wieformance requirements of the related advertighogram agreement are met.
During fiscal 2010, fiscal 2009 and calendar ye#¥&, the advertising revenue represented approglyna®o of our total revenue.

The Company evaluates the criteria of ASC 605-B&venue Recognition Principal Agent Consideratiardetermining whether it is
appropriate to record the gross amount of prodeaiessand related costs or the net amount earneshamissions. Generally, when the
Company is the primary party obligated in a tratisagthe Company is subject to inventory risk, lgude in establishing prices and
selecting suppliers, or has several but not ahe$e indicators, revenue is recorded gross.

Return allowances, which reduce product revenutadyompany’s best estimate of expected produgtrirgt are estimated using
historical experience. The Company generally respurayment by credit card at the point of sale. dmt® received prior to when the Comp.
delivers goods to customers are recorded as ddfesvenue.

The Company periodically provides incentive offersts customers to encourage purchases. Suclsaffelude current discount offers,
such as percentage discounts off current purcteasksther similar offers. Current discount offevben accepted by the Compasigustomer:
are treated as a reduction to the purchase pritteeatlated transaction. Current discount offexsiaducement offers are classified as an
offsetting amount in net sales.

Sales discounts are recorded in the period in wihietrelated sale is recognized. Sales returnsilmaiances are estimated based on
historical amounts. Credits are issued to custofieeneturned products. Credits amounted to $191kom, $19.0 million and $25.7 million for
calendar year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 201€peetively No customer accounted for more than 0% e Company’s net sales in the past
three years.

The following table provides an analysis of theerge for sales returns and the reserve for doubtfabunts:

Balance a

Charged tc
o Balance a
Beginning Revenue,
Cost or End of
(In thousands) of Period Expenses Deductions Period
Year Ended December 31, 2C
Reserve for sales retur $ 7i1C (48) — $ 662
Reserve for doubtful accour 12 11¢ (16) 11F
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended January 2, 2(
Reserve for sales retur $ 662 29t — $ 957
Reserve for doubtful accour 11F 27 @) 13t
Fifty-Two Weeks Ended January 1, 2(
Reserve for sales retur $ 957 35¢ — $ 1,31¢
Reserve for doubtful accour 13t 38C (143 372
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Interest Income (Expense)

Interest income consists primarily of interest imeoon investments. Interest expense consists plynediinterest expense on our
outstanding loan balances and capital leases.

Other Income
Other income consists of miscellaneous income agajain from disposition of assets.

Cost of Goods Sold

Cost of goods sold consists of the direct costsaated with procuring parts from suppliers andwging products to customers. These
costs include direct product costs, purchase digspoutbound freight and, warehouse supplies.ddrapany includes freight and shipping
costs in cost of goods sold. Total freight and ginig expense included in cost of goods sold foermddr year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010
were $19.3 million, $19.2 million and $31.6 milliorespectively. Depreciation and amortization disecelated to sales are excluded from cost
of goods sold and included in marketing, generdlaiministrative and fulfillment costs as notechel

Marketing

Marketing costs, including advertising, are expensgincurred. The majority of marketing expenggaisl to Internet search engine
service providers and Internet commerce facilimtéor calendar year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fis6aD2the Company recognized advertising
costs of $10.1 million, $11.4 million and $16.5 lioih, respectively. Marketing costs also includgmgiation and amortization expense
directly related to sales.

General and Administrative

General and administrative expense consist prignafiadministrative payroll and related expensesraimant processing fees, legal and
professional fees, and other administrative c@émneral and administrative expense also includpsed@&tion and amortization expense
directly related to sales.

Fulfillment

Fulfillment costs consist primarily of payroll anelated costs associated with warehouse emplofgkity rent, building maintenance,
and other costs associated with inventory managearghwholesale operations. Fulfillment costs alstude depreciation and amortization
expense directly related to sales.

Technology

Technology expenses consist primarily of payrotl eglated expenses, and costs associated with dengupport, information
technology, software development and connectivity.

Comprehensive Income

The Company reports comprehensive income in acoosdaith ASC 22@omprehensive Income\ccumulated other comprehensive
income includes net income or loss, foreign curyananslation adjustments related to the Compafoysign operations and unrealized gains
and losses from investments in ARPS that hold teegt municipal bonds and investments in mutuadluthhat hold debt securities.

Leases

The Company analyzes lease agreements for opekadings capital lease treatment in accordanceA8iB 840Leases Rent expense
for leases designated as operating is expensediwaight-line basis over the term of the lease.
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Foreign Currency Translation

For each of the Compars/foreign subsidiaries, the functional currencigsgdocal currency. Assets and liabilities of fapeioperations ai
translated into U.S. Dollars using the current exgje rates, and revenues and expenses are trdnstaté).S. Dollars using average exchange
rates. The effects of the foreign currency traisfeadjustments are included as a component ofnagiated other comprehensive income (li
in stockholders’ equity.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes in accordaitbeASC 740Income TaxesUnder ASC 740, deferred tax assets and lialslitie
are recognized for the future tax consequencebutible to temporary differences between the fifrstatement carrying amount of existing
assets and liabilities and their respective taxebabBeferred tax assets and liabilities are medausimg enacted tax rates expected to apply to
taxable income in the years in which those tempyadiferences are expected to be recovered oesetiVhen appropriate, a valuation reserve
is established to reduce deferred tax assets, vilnitide tax credits and loss carry forwards, ®dmount that is more likely than not to be
realized. In making such determination, the Compamgsiders all available positive and negative ewé, including future reversals of
existing taxable temporary differences, projectddre taxable income, tax planning strategies aodnmt financial operations.

Prior to the acquisition of WAG, the Company couwlgd that it was more likely than not that we woddlize the deferred tax assets in
all jurisdictions. However, with the acquisition WAG, based largely on the weight of the combinechalative three-year adjusted loss
position, it was determined that it was not mokellf than not that the Company would realize itsdeferred tax assets. Therefore, a valuation
allowance of $18.3 million was recorded as of Janda2011, of which $4.7 million was recorded agaithe acquired deferred tax assets of
WAG as of August 12, 2010.

The Company utilizes a two-step approach to reaggiand measuring uncertain tax positions. The fitep is to evaluate the tax
position for recognition by determining if the whtgf available evidence indicates it is more ljkilan not that the position will be sustained
on audit, including resolution of related appeal$tmation processes. The second step is to nreabe tax benefit as the largest amount w
is more than 50% likely of being realized uponmbie settlement. We consider many factors wheruatia and estimating our tax positions
and tax benefits, which may require periodic adnestts and which may not accurately forecast actutglomes. As of January 1, 2011, the
Company had no material unrecognized tax bendfitisiest or penalties related to federal and stategme tax matters. The Company'’s policy
is to record interest and penalties as income tprrese.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company accounts for share-based compensatemtordance with ASC 7XBompensation — Stock Compensatiovhich was
adopted on January 1, 2006. All stock options idsaeemployees are recognized as share-based ceatmenexpense in the financial
statements based on their respective grant datedflaies, and are recognized within the statemeoperations as general and administrative,
marketing, fulfilment or technology, based on eaygle departmental classifications.

Under this standard, the fair value of each shaset payment award is estimated on the date of gsarg an option pricing model that
meets certain requirements. The Company currestyg the Black-Scholes option pricing model to estinthe fair value of share-based
payment awards, with the exception of options graitbntaining market conditions, which the Compestymates the fair value using a Monte
Carlo model. The determination of the fair valueslére-based payment awards utilizing the Blaclkeleshand Monte Carlo models is affected
by the Company'’s stock price and a number of as§omg including expected volatility, expected Jifesk-free interest rate and expected
dividends.

The Company estimates volatility using historicalatilities of similar public entities. The expedtife of the awards is based on a
simplified method that defines the life as the agerof the contractual term of the options andaéighted average vesting period for all open
tranches. Prior to our initial public offering irBruary 2007, we did not have a history of marketgs of our common stock. Due to the
limited period time our equity shares have beeriplyliraded, we do not have sufficient historiexlercise data to provide a reasonable basis
upon which to estimate expected term. The risk-fnegrest rate assumption is based on observegksitetes appropriate for the expected life
of awards. The dividend yield assumption is basethe Company expectation of paying no dividends. Forfeitunesestimated at the time
grant and revised, if necessary, in subsequemgeif actual forfeitures differ from those estiemtThe Company considers many factors
when estimating expected forfeitures, including Exiyge class, economic environment, and historigpegence.

The Company accounts for equity instruments issueschange for the receipt of goods or servicesifnon-employee directors in
accordance with the provisions of ASC 718.
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The Company accounts for equity instruments issuestchange for the receipt of goods or servicesifother than employees in
accordance with ASC 505-Fquity-Based Payments to Non-Employ€ests are measured at the estimated fair markee¢ wdlthe
consideration received or the estimated fair valfutae equity instruments issued, whichever is meliably measurable. The value of equity
instruments issued for consideration other thanleyeg services is determined on the earlier ofrffopmance commitment or completion of
performance by the provider of goods or serviceglity instruments awarded to non-employees areg@ieally re-measured as the underlying
awards vest unless the instruments are fully vesteadediately exercisable and non-forfeitable aadhate of grant.

Segment Data

The Company manages its operations on a consdlil@ss for purposes of assessing performance akiohgioperating decisions.
Accordingly, the Company operates in one reportabgment and reporting revenues by product lirgeographic location is impracticable.
accordance with the provisions ASC 280 Segment Reportiogy acquisition of WAG does not meet the critedadeparate reporting of
WAG'’s operations. Our single reportable segmentaiapd consistent in fiscal 2010. Seldte 6- Goodwill and Intangibleielow for furthel
discussion.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In October 2009, the Financial Accounting Stand&dard (“FASB”) issued Accounting Standards Upda&SU”) 2009-13,Revenue
Arrangements with Multiple Deliverabl, which amends Accounting Standards CodificatickSC”) Topic 605, which modifies the
accounting for multiple deliverable revenue arrangets to enable vendors to account for deliverad@earately rather than as a combined
unit. The adoption will not have a material effentthe consolidated financial statements.

In January 2010, the FASB issued ASU 2010¥froving Disclosures About Fair Value Measurementhich requires reporting entiti
to make new disclosures about recurring or nonrg@ufair-value measurements including significaanhsfers into and out of Level 1 and
Level 2 fair-value measurements and informatiomporchases, sales, issuances and settlements ossalgssis in the reconciliation of Level 3
fair-value measurements. ASU 2010-6 is effectiveaftnual reporting periods beginning after Decenise2009, except for Level 3
reconciliation disclosures which are effective donual periods beginning after December 15, 20h6.adoption of ASU 2016-did not have
material effect on the consolidated financial steats.

Note 2 — Investments
As of January 1, 2011, the Company held the follmsecurities and investments, recorded at fairevéih thousands):

Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losse: Fair Value
Auction rate preferred securities in municipal atate agencie® $ 4,22¢ $— $(84) $ 4,141
Mutual funds@ 1,07( — ()] 1,062
Total $ 529¢ $— $ (92 $ 5,20¢

As of January 2, 2010, the Company held the folhgnsecurities and investments, recorded at fairevéih thousands):

Unrealized
Amortized
Cost Gains Losses Fair Value
Auction rate preferred securities in municipal atate agencie® $ 4,35C $— $ (86) $ 4,264
US Treasury Bills with maturities of less than gear®) 4,10¢€ 5 — 4,111
Certificates of Deposit and Municipal Bon® 6,98¢ — (24) 6,96(
Total $15,44( $ 5 $(110) $15,33¢

@ Auction rate preferred securities in municipal atete agencies have a maturity of 15 to 30 yeatsemnclassified as long-term

investments available-for- sale. As of JanuaryQIL12 all of these securities were held in four ¢éaeempt municipal bonds managed under
close-end funds and had been in a continuous loss podgigiomore than twelve month

F-13



Table of Contents

U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

@ Mutual funds are classified as st-term investments availal-for-sale and recorded at fair market value, based otedprices o

identical assets that are trading in active mar&stsf the end of the period for which the valuesdeterminec

US Treasury Bills are shterm investments with maturities of less than 12the. These securities matured in fiscal 2(
Certificates of Deposit and Municipal Bonds reprgshor-term investments with maturities of less than 12the which are classifie
as investments available-for-sale and recordediatrfarket value, based on quoted prices of idehtissets that are trading in active
markets as of the end of the period for which thle@s are determine

®)
4

Proceeds from the sale of available-for-sale stesrare disclosed separately in the accompanyingatidated statements of cash flow.
For fiscal 2010, the Company recognized grosszedlgain and losses of $27 and $8, (in thousaedpgctively. For fiscal 2009 and calendar
year 2008, the Company recognized no gross readjaedand losse:

The accumulated unrealized net loss on the sezsidtid investments at January 1, 2011 and Januaéi @ was $0.1 million.

Note 3 — Fair Value Measurements

Fair value is defined as an exit price represerttiegamount that would be received to sell an agseaid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participantssiéch, fair value is a market-based measuremenstioalld be determined based on
assumptions that market participants would useigiry an asset or liability.

Provisions of ASC 820 establish a three-tier faiue hierarchy, which prioritizes the inputs usednieasuring fair value. These tiers
include:

Level 1- Observable inputs such as quoted prices in antekets;

Level 2- Inputs other than quoted prices in active marktes are either directly or indirectly observaladad

Level 3- Unobservable inputs in which little or no markieta exists, therefore, requiring an entity to dgvés own assumptions.

Financial Assets Valued on a Recurring Basis

As of January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010, the @agnpeld certain assets that are required to beune@ at fair value on a recurring
basis. These included the Company’s financial imsénts, including investments associated with tietian rate preferred securities (“ARBS”
The Company measures the following financial assetair value on a recurring basis. The fair vadfighese financial assets was determined
using the following inputs at January 1, 2011 aswaudry 2, 2010 (in thousands):

As of January 1, 2011

Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash and cash equivale(® $17,59¢ $17,59¢ $— $ —
Shor-term investment® 1,062 1,062 — —
Non-current investments availal-for-sale®) 4,141 — — 4,141
$22,79¢ $18,65" $— $4,141
As of January 2, 2010
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Assets:
Cash and cash equivale(® $26,25! $26,25! $— $ —
Shor-term investment® 6,96¢ 6,96¢ — —
Non-current investments availal-for-sale® 4,26¢ — — 4,26¢
$37,48( $33,21¢ $— $4,26¢
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@ cash and cash equivalents consists primarily ofeponarket funds with original maturity dates ofesamonths or less at the date

purchase, for which the Company determines faimevthrough quoted market pric:

Shor-term investments consist of mutual funds. S-term investments are classified as investmentdadle-for-sale and recorded at f
market value, based on quoted prices of identesgia that are trading in active markets as oétiageof the period for which the values
are determinec

As of January 1, 2011, the Company had investe? ilion (par value) in ARPS, which are classifiasl availabl-for-sale securitie
and reflected at $4.1 million (fair value), whiaitiudes an unrealized loss of $0.1 million. The @any has included its investments
related to ARPS in the Level 3 categc

As of January 2, 2010, sh-term investments consist of municipal bonds antfwates of deposit. Shc-term investments are record
at fair market value, based on quoted prices aftidal assets that are trading in active marketsf #se end of the period for which the
values are determine

@

®

4)

Before utilizing Level 3 inputs in our fair valuesmsurement, the Company considered significantllZebservable inputs of similar
assets in active and inactive markets. The Comgdmyker dealer received estimated market valwes &n independent pricing service as of
the balance sheet date and the anticipated futarkanfor such investments. These investments sbsalely of collateralized debt obligations
supported by municipal and state agencies; donohide mortgage-backed securities or student Idems redemption features that call for
redemption at 100% of par value; and have a cuoredit rating of A or AAA. However, the fact thittere is not an active market to liquidate
these investments was considered in classifyingithe Level 3. Due to the uncertainty with regartheoshortterm liquidity of these securitie
the Company determined that it could not rely onvadue to represent fair value. Therefore, the fany estimated the fair values of these
securities utilizing a discounted cash flow valoatmodel as of January 1, 2011 and January 2, 201§ .analysis considered the
collateralization underlying the security investrigehe creditworthiness of the counterparty, timéng of expected future cash flows, and the
expectation the security will have a successfutian®or market liquidity. These securities wereoatempared, when possible, to other
observable market data with similar characterigticthe securities held by the Company.

As a result of the temporary declines in fair veloiethe Company’s ARPS, which the Company gengilributes to liquidity issues
rather than credit issues, the Company recordethezalized loss of $0.1 million to accumulated otemprehensive income as of January 1,
2011 and January 2, 2010. Due to the Company’sfitbiat the market for these collateralized insenta may take in excess of twelve months
to fully recover, the Company has classified thagestments as noncurrent and has included thenv@stments on the consolidated balance
sheets at January 1, 2011 and January 2, 201 Jswary 1, 2011, the Company continues to eaendst on all of its ARPS instruments.
Any future fluctuation in fair value related to Heeinstruments that the Company deems to be temypdmaluding any recoveries of previous
write-downs, would be recorded to accumulated otberprehensive income. If the Company determinatiahy decrease in the value of the
instruments was other-than-temporary, it would ré@charge to earnings as appropriate. The Comigamyt certain how long it may be
required to hold each security. However, given@eenpany’s current cash position, liquid cash edeiva and expected cash provided by
operations, it believes it has the ability to hadgd intends to continue to hold the ARPS as lengrtinvestments until the market stabilizes.

During fiscal 2009 and 2010, there were no trasséédevel 1 and level 2 assets. The following éalpresent the Company’s ARPS
measured at fair value on a recurring basis usgmjfcant unobservable inputs (Level 3) at Janugr2011 and January 2, 2010 (in thousal

Long-Term
Investments
Balance as of January 2, 2C $ 4,264
Redemptior (12%)
Unrealized gain 2
Balance as of January 1, 2C $ 4,141
Long-Term
Investments
Balance as of January 1, 2C $ 6,351
Redemptior (2,150
Unrealized gain 63
Balance as of January 2, 2C $ 4,26¢
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Non-Financial Assets Valued on a Non-Recurring Basi
The Company’s long-lived or indefinite-lived intdblg assets are measured at fair value on a nanfieg basis. These assets are
measured at cost but are written down to fair vafugecessary, as a result of impairment.

As of January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010, the @ogip long-lived and indefinite-lived intangiblesa$s did not indicate a potential
impairment under the provisions of ASC 350 and A80 and, as such, they were not measured at flaie va

The Company’s long-lived assets and indefinitediiitangible assets were determined to be impaiseof June 30, 2008 and
December 31, 2008. These assets were measuredatlfee using significant unobservable inputs €le?), as described in Note 6, under the
caption “Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Note 4 — Property and Equipment, Net

In August 2010, in connection with the acquisitaflWAG, the Company allocated $16.4 million of fhechase price to the following
property and equipment:

Gross

Weighted-Average Carrying

Useful Life Amount
(in thousands
Land Indefinite life $ 63C
Building 21 year 10,68(
Furniture and fixture 3 year 403
Machinery and equipmel 2-3 year 3,84:
Leasehold improvemen 5 year: 561
CIp 313
Total $ 16,43(

The acquired property and equipment are being degiesl on a straight line basis in accordance thigr estimated useful life. See Note
5 below for further details on the acquisition.

The Companys fixed assets consisted of computer softwarer(iatly developed and purchased), machinery andoeggnt, furniture an
fixtures, and vehicles, and are stated at costdesgsmulated depreciation and amortization. Deptigei and amortization are provided for in
amounts sufficient to relate the cost of depreei@nsd amortizable assets to operations over thmated service lives. Depreciation expense
for calendar year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2888 $2.0 million, $2.0 million and $3.4 milliorespectively. Software amortization expense
for the same periods was $1.7 million, $2.9 millamd $6.1 million, respectively. The cost and edeiccumulated depreciation of assets
retired or otherwise disposed of are removed frioeaccounts and the resultant gain or loss isateffiein earnings.

Property and equipment consisted of the followihdeauary 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011:

January 2, January 1,

2010 2011

(in thousands)

Land $ — $ 63C
Building — 10,68(
Machinery and equipmel 6,93¢ 12,21¢
Computer software and equipm 14,23¢ 22,56¢
Vehicles 20¢ 17z
Leasehold improvemen 1,151 1,961
Furniture and fixture 52¢ 1,13:
Construction in proces 4,004 5,241
27,06¢ 54,60(
Less accumulated depreciation and amortize (14,659 (21,460
Property and equipment, r $ 12,40¢ $ 33,14(
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At January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011, $0.9 mibiod $2.1 million , respectively, of the Company&t property and equipment was
located in the Philippines. Additionally, gross pecty and equipment includes $0.3 million of equmunder capital lease arrangements and
the related accumulated depreciation of $0.2 nmilis of January 1, 2011. There were no capitagteas of January 2, 2010.

Depreciation of property and equipment is providsihg the straight-line method for financial repagtpurposes, at rates based on the
following estimated useful lives:

<
D
2
]

N
=

Building

Machinery and equipmel

Computer software (purchased and develo
Computer equipmet

Vehicles

Leasehold improvementt

Furniture and fixture

WWWNhNN
~ o1 o1 o101 o1

* the estimated useful life is the lesser -5 years or the lease ter

Note 5 — Business Combination

On August 12, 2010, the Company completed the @sesiithe “Acquisition”) of all of the issued andgianding shares of WAG, a
leader in the automobile aftermarket performancesgand accessories market. Assets acquired inahtaiegible assets consisting of customer
relationships, technology, and trade names andttwenand fixtures, machinery and equipment, aB8@&000 square foot distribution center in
LaSalle, lllinois with a headquarter office locaiadChicago, Illinois. The purchase price of WAGs27.5 million in cash, subject to certain
adjustments as set forth in that certain Stock lifage Agreement executed August 2, 2010 (the “PaechAgreement”) among Go Fido, Inc.,
WAG, 2000 Riverside Capital Appreciation Fund, LaRd the other stockholders of WAG. The Companyeetgpthat the Acquisition will
provide it with product line expansion into allr&n vehicles, recreational vehicles and motorcy,cdes well as deep product knowledge into
niche segments like Jeep, Volkswagen and truckusights. The Company expects this expansion ipribduct line to increase its customer
reach in the do-it-yourself automobile and off-readessories market. In addition, WAG'’s state-efdint Midwest facility located in lllinois,
which was custom built for business-to-consumeritistion of auto parts, is expected to allow ther@pany to complete a three-distribution
center network. With this three-distribution cemetwork, 95% of customers in the U.S. are expeittedceive parts within two days of
purchase using ground or common carrier. The Cognpatieves that the combination of WAG’s establsbeands and focus on the customer
experience, coupled with the Company’s capacigotmpete online, will create opportunity for growltihese expected synergies from the
Acquisition contributed to the goodwill associateith the Acquisition of $7.4 million. See purchgméce allocation table below for further
details.

The Acquisition has been accounted for under thielase method of accounting in accordance with 88%&Business Combinations
Accordingly, the assets and liabilities of WAG hdeen recorded as of the acquisition date at thspective fair values, and combined with
the Company’s assets and liabilities. The resdltperations of WAG and the estimated fair marladtes of the acquired assets and liabilities
have been included in the consolidated financatkstents from the date of the Acquisition.

The purchase price was allocated based on an éstohthe fair value of assets and liabilities @ceplias of the date of acquisition. The
determination of estimated fair value requires ngangent to make significant estimates and assunptidme current allocation of the purch
price to property equipment and intangible assegsiiged and goodwill is based on a preliminary aihn study. The Company has not
completed its detailed analysis of prior year costerder to assist in valuing the internet platiantellectual property. In addition, the
Company has not completed its detailed analyspsiof year business development costs in ordessgstin valuing the customer relationsh
The Company expects to complete these evaluatiptisebsecond quarter of 2011. Any changes to teknpinary estimate used in the opening
balance sheet could materially impact both thecation of purchase price between the intangibletasnd goodwill and the related
amortization that has been previously recorded.dllogation of the purchase price will be adjudtedeflect the results of the final valuation
study in the future. The determination of estimdtedvalue requires management to make signifiestimates and assumptions.
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The purchase price for the Acquisition was preliamily allocated to assets purchased and liabildesumed as follows (in thousands):

Purchase price paid in cash $ 27,50(
Estimated purchase price adjustment (999
Estimated purchase price $ 26,50¢
Purchase price allocation is presented be
Assets:
Accounts receivabl 2,64:
Inventory 12,36¢
Deferred income taxe 12C
Property and equipme 16,43(
Intangible assel 17,37¢
Other asset 2,281
Total asset $51,22;
Liabilities:
Accounts payabl $(23,547)
Accrued expense (4,539
Deferred income taxe (2,739
Other liabilities (1,272
Total liabilities $(32,087)
Goodwill (iii) $ 7,36¢
Estimated purchase price $ 26,50¢

() Represents the purchase price paid in cash atdkieg of the Acquisition of $27.5 millior

(i) The estimated purchase price adjustment of $1.milepresents the amount that USAP believestiheeholders of WAG are obligat
to pay to USAP for the negative working capital aimmtoof WAG on the acquisition date determined iocidance with the purchase
agreement for the Acquisition. The Purchase Agreerets forth the definitions of net working capéad includes procedures for WAG
and USAP to determine the working capital amount/éfG on the acquisition date. The $1.0 million extte is based on USAP’s
calculation of the working capital of WAG on thegacsition date and, upon final determination of wwrking capital number in
accordance with the Purchase Agreement, may miyerfeange.

(i) The goodwill resulting from this Acquisition is n-deductible for tax purpose

Of the total purchase price, approximately $8.2iamlhas been preliminarily allocated to trade nassets with an indefinite life and
$9.2 million has been preliminarily allocated toatizable intangible assets acquired. The amortgzeibangible assets are being amortized on
a straight line basis over their respective usiéfak except for internet platform intellectual pesty which is amortized on an accelerated basis
over 10 months based on the Company’s estimategeusahe asset as follows:

Gross
Weighted- Average Carrying
Useful Life Amount

(in thousands
Intangible assets subject to amortizati

Internet platform intellectual proper 10 month $ 4,30C
Product design intellectual prope 9 year: 2,75C
Customer relationshir 4 year: 2,05(
Favorable lease 2.5 year 78
9,17¢
Intangible assets not subject to amortizat

Trade name indefinite life 8,20(
Total $ 17,37¢
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WAG'’s financial results have been included in oomsolidated statement of operations since the aitigui date of August 12, 2010. The
following pro forma financial information preserttee results as if the WAG acquisition had occuatthe beginning of each fiscal year
presented (in thousands, except share and per aimanents):

Fifty-Two Weeks Ended

January 2, 201( January 1, 201:

Net sales $ 299,55: $ 338,88
Net loss (30,829 (29,802
Basic net loss per sha (1.09) (0.9¢)
Diluted net loss per sha (1.09) (0.9¢)
Weighted average shares used in computing baslossper

common shar 29,851,87. 30,269,46
Weighted average shares used in computing dilutétbas pe

common shar 29,851,87 30,269,46

During fiscal 2010, the net sales of $39.1 millaomd the net loss of $6.0 million of WAG were inadddn the consolidated statement of
operations since the acquisition date of Augus2020.

Related to the Acquisition, the Company incurregiugsition and integration related costs of $3.1lioml, which were recorded in the
general and administrative expenses.

Note 6 — Goodwill and Intangibles

Goodwill is tested for impairment at a level belawoperating segment (also known as a componénte ur acquisition in August
2010, WAG's operations have been in the proce$einly integrated into the Company, and there wveilhb separation both operationally and
financially. This integration is expected to be stalntially completed during 2011. The Company adwriteed no additional reporting unit is
necessary as a result of our acquisition baseefotlowing reasons:

. Products of both companies use the same technc

. Both companies use the same catal

. Both companies sell the same parts to custor

. Both companies ship from the same warehouses aggltgdhe market in the same way; .
. Both companies are being managed under the samagerment

Accordingly, the Company’s single reporting segntemtained consistent from the previous years. Toragany performed its annual
goodwill impairment testing and passed the firgpgif the impairment test. For the valuation uritlerincome approach, the Company used a
discount rate, which it believes reflects the askl uncertainty related to the projected cash fl®Resulting from the Company’s operating
results and the continuous increase in the Compastgtk price in 2010, the fair value of our repgrtunit significantly exceeded its carrying
value by approximately $187 million as of Octob#&r 2010, our annual impairment test date, and tivexgd have to be a 65% decrease in the
fair value of the reporting unit to fail step 1.d&edingly, the second step of the impairment tezd mot performed. Based on the results of its
annual impairment tests, the Company determinedithéanpairment of goodwill existed as of Januarg@11 and January 2, 2010. During
calendar year 2008, the share prices of stocks wegevolatile and under considerable pressuraigtasned turbulent markets. Following the
deterioration in economic conditions, the Compasytek price declined to a level indicating a madapitalization below book value during
the fourth quarter ended December 31, 2008. Thepaagnperformed the first step of the impairment &=l noted that the carrying value of
the single reporting segment exceeded its fairezais such, the Company performed the second $tibye ampairment test to measure the
amount of any impairment loss by comparing the ietpfair value of the reporting unit to its carrgimalue and recorded an impairment loss of
$4.4 million as of December 31, 2008. In estimatimgimplied fair value of the reporting unit, wilimed the discounted cash flow method
under the income approach and the guideline compadyguideline transactions methods under the rhagqoach.
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The following table summarizes the change in owdydll during fiscal 2010 (in thousands):

Balance at December 31, 2C $14,20:
Impairment loss on goodwi 4,42¢
Balance at December 31, 2008 and January 2, $ 9,77:
Goodwill from WAG acquisitior 7,36
Balance at January 1, 20 $17,13:

The accumulated impairment loss on goodwill wag $4illion as of January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011

During fiscal 2010, the Company acquired certaibsites and domain names for a purchase price 6fiillion, of which $843,000 we
allocated to amortizable intangibles. During fis2@09, the Company acquired certain websites anthdfonames for a purchase price of
$739,000, of which $625,000 was allocated to arnablie intangibles. The intangible assets were dalising a discounted cash flow model
and the estimated useful life of the amortizabketsswas determined to be five years. The Compihyad note events or changes in
circumstances indicating that the carrying valuéhefintangible assets may not be recoverables@afi2010 and 2009. Therefore, no
impairment loss was recognized for intangible asastof January 1, 2011 and January 2, 2010.

During calendar year 2008, the Company recordezhacash impairment charge totaling $18.4 milliolated to the intangibles
associated with the Partsbin business, which thregaoy acquired in May 2006. The impairment was aused of $16.7 million for its
websites; $0.1 million for software; $0.9 millioorfvendor agreements; and $0.7 million for domamas. The impairment charge was
primarily the result of: (i) the deterioration imet economic environment and the Company’s stodep(ii) lower sales and profitability which
generated losses from certain Partsbin websiiggl€ficiencies in the software platform also aicgd from Partsbin, and (iv) the terminatior
volume discounts and marketing co-ops from cenaimdor agreements. Given the indicators of impaitna@d the excess of carrying value
over the undiscounted cash flows associated wibelintangibles, the Company utilized a discounéesth flow approach in determining fair
value for both the websites and vendor agreemésmgible assets. The decrease in future cash fi@nscertain acquired websites and vendor
agreements resulted in the loliged assets being impaired, as the carrying vafube website assets and vendor agreement assetsded th
fair value of those assets. Fair value is deterthasethe net present value of future projected fiagls. The software and domain name assets’
fair value was determined using a relief from réyalpproach which also resulted in a lower faitueathan the carrying value.

During calendar year 2008, the Company also recoadeon-cash impairment charge totaling $0.5 mmillielated to the assembled
workforce, which the Company acquired in April 200he impairment charge was primarily the resulh oéduction during calendar year 2!
of the workforce originally acquired in the Philipps. The Company utilized a replacement cost ambran determining fair value which
resulted in a lower fair value than the carryintpesof the asset.

Intangibles subject to amortization are expensed stmaight-line basis except for the internetfptat intellectual property which is
amortized on an accelerated basis. Amortizatiorese relating to intangibles totaled $5.0 milli$@,7 million and $2.8 million for calendar
year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, respeadtiy
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Intangibles, excluding goodwill, consisted of tioldwing at January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011thGnsands):

January 2, 2010

January 1, 2011

Gross Net
Carrying Carrying Gross Net
Accum. Carrying Accum. Carrying
Useful Life Amount Amort. Amount Amount Amort. Amount
Intangible assets subject to amortizati
Websites S5yearr $1,191 $ (190 $1,001 $ 2,03t $ (594 $ 1,441
Software 2-5year 1,04( (1,040 — — — —
Internet platform intellectual proper® 10 month — — — 4,30( (1,989 2,31¢
Product design intellectual prope® 9 year: — — — 2,75C (11€) 2,63¢
Customer relationshif® 4 year — — — 2,05(C (197) 1,85:
Assembled workforc 7 year: 45E (87) 36¢ A47¢ (182) 29¢€
Purchased domain nam 3 year 17t (175 — — — —
Favorable leas® 2.5 year — — — 78 (14 64
Sut-Total 2,861 (1,492 1,36¢ 11,69! (3,087 8,60/
Intangible assets not subject to amortizat
Domain and trade nam®) Indefinite life 1,74¢ — 1,74¢ 10,11 — 10,11
Total $4,60€ $(1,497) $3,11¢ $21,80¢ $(3,087) $18,71¢

(1) Includes the intangible assets acquired in conoedtith the acquisition of WAC
(2) Includes domain names of $8.2 million purchasecbimnection with the acquisition of WA(

The following table summarizes the future estimatedual amortization expense for these assetstiwerext five years (in thousands):

2011 $3,65¢
2012 1,34z
2013 1,30¢
2014 1,08¢
2015 81¢
Thereaftel 38t
Total $8,60¢

Note 7 — Borrowings

At December 31, 2007, the Company had a $7.0 miliammitted line of credit agreement with a banthvimterest at 0.25% above the
lender’s reference rate maturing on October 319200ere were no compensating balance requirenaatsubstantially all the assets of the
Company served as collateral on the line of cré&tbtamounts were outstanding on this line of cratiDecember 31, 2007 and 2008. The
credit agreement contained customary covenantsahaing other things, required compliance withaiertinancial ratios and targets and
restricts the incurrence of additional indebtedn&sg Company was compliant with all loan covenastef December 31, 2007 and 2008. In
connection with the transition of the Company’s ceancial banking relationship to a new bank in twerth quarter of 2008, the line of credit
was cancelled effective December 31, 2008.

As a component of the purchase price for the adopnisof Partshin, the Company entered into proomgsiotes (“Notes”) in the
aggregate principal amount of $5.0 million with 8teckholders of Partsbhin. The Notes bore inteaaektBOR and were interest only until
June 2007. Beginning in the quarter ending Jun@07, the Notes were payable in equal quartegtallments until March 31, 2008. The
Notes became due and payable upon the completitre @@ompan’s initial public offering, as defined. The Notegm secured by
substantially all the assets of the Company. Duiliegyear ended December 31, 2007 and 2008, $4i6m@nd $1.0 million was paid on the
Notes, respectively, with the proceeds from thgahpublic offering which occurred on February?®07. There was no outstanding amour
of January 2, 2010.
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On August 13, 2010, the Company executed a LoarBaocdrity Agreement (the “Loan Agreement”) and otiefinitive documentation
for a $35 million secured credit facility (the “Rlty”). Silicon Valley Bank (“Bank”) is the lendennder the Facility. The Facility is comprised
of a term loan in the original principal amount$@5 million and a revolving line of credit with dlability up to $10 million. The Facility has a
final maturity date of June 30, 2014, and borrowingder the Facility bear interest, at the eleatibthe Company, at LIBOR (with a floor of
1.25%) plus a margin of from 2.00% to 3.00% peruannor at the Wall Street Journal Prime Rate plosaegin of from 1.00% to 2.00% per
annum, based upon the Company’s maximum fundedre#gbt An unused revolving line fee of 0.375% panum is payable on the undrawn
committed amount of the revolving line of credittdrest on outstanding borrowings under the tean kEnd the revolving line of credit is
payable no less than quarterly, and the outstaringipal of the term loan amortized over four igeand payable quarterly, with any
outstanding amount under the Facility to be paifiiihon the final maturity date. Borrowings undbe Facility are secured by liens over all
assets of the Company, including shares of stoelaah of the Company’s subsidiaries. Ten of the @y's subsidiaries are acting as co-
borrowers under the Facility.

The Loan Agreement requires the Company to comjtly asnumber of covenants, including financial ausets related to Maximum
Funded Debt to Consolidated EBITDA, Liquidity, a@dnsolidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratios; negplddge requirements; requireme
to deliver quarterly and annual consolidated finalngtatements; requirements to maintain adequaterances; prohibitions on changes in the
business and disposition of the Company’s assetspther customary covenants. The Loan Agreementraljuires the Company to obtain a
prior written consent from the Bank when the Conypdetermines to pay any dividends on or make astyidution related to our common
stock. The Loan Agreement includes usual and custpevents of default and remedies for facilitiéshis nature. On February 28, 2011, the
Company and the Bank entered into Amendment No.Lb&an and Security Agreement and Limited Waivénfendment”). The Amendment
waived the Company'’s lack of compliance with then§alidated Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio Covenathieil.oan Agreement as of
January 1, 2011. The Amendment also amended thataefs of Baseline Liquidity and Consolidated HBIA to more readily accommodate
the Company’s integration of the WAG acquisition.

At January 1, 2011, the LIBOR rate and the marginean .25% and 3.00% per annum, respectively. Thep@aay had no borrowings on
the revolving line of credit at January 1, 2011eTamaining term loan balance was $24 million a%aofuary 1, 2011 and is to be repaid
according to the following schedule (in thousands):

Payments Due by Period
Total 2011 2012 2013 2014

$24,00( $6,12¢ $6,25( $6,87¢ $4,75(

As of January 1, 2011, the Company had a capaéakl®bligation of $317,000. Sé&¢ote 13 — Commitments and Contingenciés’
further detail.

Note 8 — Share-Based Compensation and StockholdeEsquity

The Company adopted the 2007 Omnibus Incentive @han‘2007 Omnibus Plan”) in January 2007, whielcdme effective on the
effective date (February 8, 2007) of the registrastatement filed in connection with the Compaiiyisal public offering. Under the 2007
Omnibus Plan, the Company is authorized to isstienllion shares of common stock under variousrimsents plus an automatic annual
increase on the first day of each of the Compafigtal years beginning on January 1, 2008 anchgrah January 1, 2017 equal to (i) the le
of (A) 1,500,000 shares of common stock or (B) fdeecent (5%) of the number of shares of commockstaitstanding on the last day of the
immediately preceding fiscal year or (ii) such E&¥ssumber of shares of common stock as determipédebCompany’s Board of Directors.
Options granted under the 2007 Omnibus Plan gdpergbire no later than ten years from the datgraht and generally vest over a period of
four years. The exercise price of all option grantsst be equal to 100% of the fair market valu¢hendate of grant. The 2007 Omnibus Plan
provides for automatic grant of options to purches@mon stock to non-employee directors.

At January 1, 2011, 1,712,259 shares were avaifableiture grants under the 2007 Omnibus Plan.
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The following table summarizes the Company'’s stogton activity under the 2007 Omnibus Plan:

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Contractual
Weighted Aggregate
Average Term (in Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price years) Value
Options outstanding, January 2, 2( 4,791,36! $ 3.6€ 8.5t
Granted 600,00( $ 7.37
Exercisec (305,109 $ 3.3¢
Expired (104,51) $ 5.9¢
Forfeited (166,62%) $ 5.32
Options outstanding, January 1, 2( 4,815,11! $ 4.1C 7.7¢ $20,802,03
Vested and expected to vest at January 1, 4,581,97. $ 4.04 7.7¢ $20,072,58
Options exercisable, January 1, 2( 2,688,42! $ 4.0z 7.3t $11,809,46

The weighted-average fair value of options grami@dng calendar year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fis€dl®@was $1.20, $1.40 and $3.75,
respectively.

The intrinsic value of stock options at the dat¢hef exercise is the difference between the fdirevaf the stock at the date of exercise
and the exercise price. During fiscal 2010, theltiotirinsic value of the exercised options wagi$tillion. Aggregate intrinsic value is
calculated as the difference between the exercise pf underlying awards and the fair value poééhe Companys common stock for optiol
that were in-the-money as of January 1, 2011. Téragany had $3.0 million of unrecognized share-basedpensation expense related to
stock options outstanding as of January 1, 201ichwéxpense is expected to be recognized over ghtezl-average period of 2.20 years.

Additional information with respect to outstandiogtions under the 2007 Omnibus Plan as of Jany&9111 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining

Contractual Term
Average Average
Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Options Outstanding (in years) Price Options Exercisable Price

$1.31-$1.31 75,00( 8.1¢€ $ 1.31 32,81: $ 131
$1.5¢-$1.59 725,00( 8.01 $ 1.5¢ 347,39 $ 1.5¢
$1.74$2.05 496,66( 7.9 $ 1.7¢ 214,57¢ $ 1.77
$2.14-$2.14 290,00( 8.34 $ 214 146,39° $ 214
$3.0¢-$3.06 531,42: 7.3 $ 3.0¢€ 372,66 $ 3.0¢
$3.24-$3.72 567,04 7.4¢€ $ 3.47 450,92° $ 3.5z
$3.8(-$4.91 503,89 7.22 $ 4.4f 340,70: $ 4.4¢
$5.3¢-$5.81 685,00( 7.27 $ 5.5¢ 471,24¢ $ 5.6t
$5.8¢-$7.99 483,00( 9.44 $ 7.1: 2,812 $ 6.0¢
$8.05-$9.41 458,00( 7.37 $ 8.4t 308,90: $ 8.5C
Totals 4,815,11! 7.7¢€ $ 4.1cC 2,688,42! $ 4.0¢

The Company adopted the 2007 New Employee InceRlize (the “2007 New Employee Plan”) in October200nder the 2007 New
Employee Plan, the Company is authorized to isstienllion shares of common stock under variousrimaents solely to new employees.
Options granted under the 2007 New Employee Plaergdly expire no later than ten years from the aditgrant and generally vest over a
period of four years. The exercise price of ali@pigrants must not be less than 100% of the fairket value on the date of grant.

At January 1, 2011, 750,000 shares were availabplifure grants under the 2007 New Employee Plan.
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The following table summarizes the Company'’s stogtion activity under the 2007 New Employee Plan:

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted Contractual Term Aggregate
Average Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price (in years) Value
Options outstanding, January 2, 2( 1,250,001 $ 5.65 8.3¢
Granted — —
Exercisec — —
Expired — —
Forfeited — —
Options outstanding, January 1, 2( 1,250,001 $ 5.6 7.32 $3,625,00!
Vested and expected to vest at January 1, 1,225,53! $ 5.72 7.3C $3,465,87
Options exercisable, January 1, 2( 877,08 $ 6.2 7.21 $2,054,16:

The weightedaverage fair value of options granted during fi209 was $0.51. There were no new options grantedlendar year 20!
and fiscal 2010. Aggregate intrinsic value is cklted as the difference between the exercise pfittee underlying awards and the fair value
price of the Company’s common stock for optiond there in-the-money as of January 1, 2011. The Gompad $ 0.3 million of
unrecognized share-based compensation expensedrédastock options outstanding as of January 11 2@hich expense is expected to be
recognized over a weighted-average period of 1€z,

Additional information with respect to outstandiogtions under the 2007 New Employee Plan as ofalgriy 2011 is as follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted
Average Weighted- Weighted-

Remaining

Contractual Term
Average Average
Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Options Outstanding (in years) Price Options Exercisable Price

$1.15-$1.31 500,00( 8.1z $ 1.1t 283,33¢ $ 1.1t
$8.65 750,00( 6.7¢ $ 8.6 593,75( $ 8.6F
Totals 1,250,001 7.32 $ 5.6f 877,08: $ 6.2¢

The Company adopted the U.S. Auto Parts Netwoik,2006 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2006 Plaim"March 2006. All stock options
purchase common stock granted to employees in @06 granted under the 2006 Plan and had exendtsspequal to the fair value of the
underlying stock, as determined by the Company’arB@f Directors on the applicable option granedahe Board of Directors determined
the value of the underlying stock by considerimguenber of factors, including historical and progetfinancial results, the risks the Company
faced at the time, the preferences of the Compdprgferred Stock holders and the lack of liquidityhe Company’s common stock. No stock
options were granted by the Company prior to theptidn of the 2006 Plan. At January 1, 2011, thegee no shares available for future grants
under the 2006 Plan.

The following table summarizes the Company’s stogtons activity under the 2006 Plan:

Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted Contractual Term Aggregate
Average Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price (in years) Value
Options outstanding, January 2, 2( 736,12¢ $ 8.2¢ 6.4€
Granted — $ —
Exercisec (18,000) $ 6.7¢
Expired (4,289 $ 10.3(
Forfeited (541) $ 11.5¢
Options outstanding, January 1, 2( 713,30: $ 8.2¢ 5.47 $781,91¢
Vested and expected to vest at January 1, 713,30: $ 8.2¢ 5.47 $781,91¢
Options exercisable, January 1, 2( 713,30« $ 8.2 5.4 $781,91¢

There were no new options granted during calendar 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010.

The intrinsic value of stock options at the datexdrcise is the difference between the fair valuthe stock at the date of exercise .



the exercise price. During fiscal 2010, the tatéfinsic value of the exercised options was $0.UBam.
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During calendar year 2008 and fiscal 2009, theneewe options exercised under this plan. Aggregetmsic value is calculated as the
difference between the exercise price of underlgwgrds and the fair value price of the Compangiamon stock for options that were in-the-

money as of January 1, 2011. The Company fullygezed share-based compensation expense relas¢actooptions outstanding as of
January 2, 2010 and January 1, 2011.

Additional information with respect to outstandiogtions under the 2006 Plan as of January 1, 204% follows:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable
Weighted
Average Weighteo- Weighteo-
Remaining
Contractual Term
Average Average
Options Exercise Exercise
Range of Exercise Prices Outstanding (in years) Price Options Exercisable Price
$5.8¢-$7.80 482,66¢ 5.24 $ 6.7¢ 482,66« $ 6.7¢
$8.7(-$11.68 230,64( 5.94 $ 11.4¢ 230,64( $ 11.4¢
Total 713,30 5.47 $ 8.2¢ 731,30 $ 8.2¢
Warrants
The following table summarizes the outstanding a@ts at January, 1, 2011:
Weighted
Average
Remaining
Weighted Contractual Term Aggregate
Average Intrinsic
Shares Exercise Price (in years) Value
Warrants outstanding, January 2, 2! 30,00( $ 2.14 6.33
Granted 20,00( $ 8.3z
Exercisec — $ —
Expired — $ —
Forfeited — $ —
Warrants outstanding, January 1, 2 50,00( $ 4.61 5.7: $189,40(
Vested at January 1, 20 23,33 $ 4.1z 5.7¢ $ 99,71¢
Options exercisable, January 1, 2( 23,33: $ 4.1z 5.7¢ $ 99,71¢

On May 5, 2009, the Company issued warrants tohase up to 30,000 shares of common stock, whichawesr terminate seven years
after their grant date. The warrants were issuembimection with the financial advisory servicesyided by a consultant to the Company. The
warrants vest in thirty-six equal monthly increnseat 833 shares each on the last calendar daychfedendar month commencing May 5,
2009. The grant date fair value of these warrassdad on May 5, 2009 was $1.09 per share. On Apri2010, the Company issued additional
warrants to purchase up to 20,000 shares of consteoh to the same holder in connection with thardirial advisory services provided to the
Company. The warrants vest in twenty-four equal thigrincrements of 833 shares each on the lashdateday of each calendar month
commencing April 27, 2010. The grant date fair eaid the additional warrants issued on April 271@@Was $2.12 per share. The Company
determined the fair value of the warrants at the dégrant using the Black-Scholes option priaingdel based on the estimated fair value of
the underlying common stock. No warrants were @gedcin fiscal 2009 and 2010. Aggregate intringitue is calculated as the difference

between the exercise price of underlying awardsthedair value price of the Company’s common stimckwvarrants that were in-thmoney a
of January 1, 2011.
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Note 9 — Accounting for Share-Based Compensation

The fair value of each option grant was estimatethe date of grant using the Black-Scholes opgigcing model with the following
assumptions for each of the periods ended:

December 31, January 2, January 1,
2008 2010 2011
Expected life 1-6.24year 5.99-6.25year 6-6.25year
Risk-free interest rat 1% - 3% 2% - 3% 2% - 3%
Expected volatility 40%-— 50% 50%- 52% 51%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0% 0%

In May 2008 and February 2009, respectively, tharB@pproved option grants, which contained mas&atlition requirements. These
options will vest based on the achievement of $jgecstock price appreciation milestones, whictrespnts a market condition, over a five-
year period commencing on May 15, 2008 and Febriiéy2009. The May 2008 option grants were for @80,shares each. The Febru
2009 option grants were for 100,000 shares. Thievédile of the options were estimated on the dagganmt using the Monte Carlo option
pricing model with the following weighted-averagesamptions for each of the periods ended:

December 31
January 2,
2008 2010

Expected life 2 years 3.3 year
Risk-free interest rat 3.01% 1.87%
Expected volatility 41% 50%
Expected dividend yiel 0% 0%
Initial stock price $ 3.7z $ 1.1f

Share-Based Compensation Expense

The Company recognized shdvased compensation expense of $2.9 million, $3lBmiand $2.7 million, net of $287,000, $245,00@
$186,000 of expense capitalized as internally-dmped software, for each of calendar year 2008affi28809 and fiscal 2010, respectively. The
Company has recognized an income tax benefit df §illion, $1.2 million for calendar year 2008 dfigtal 2009, respectively. No tax benefit
was recoghnized for fiscal 2010 due to the valuagibowance position.

Under ASC 718, forfeitures are estimated at the tifigrant and revised, if necessary, in subseqenids if actual forfeitures differ
from those estimates. Our estimated forfeiture wate calculated based on actual historical forfegiexperienced under our equity plans. In
the fourth quarter of fiscal 2010, the Company @ened its periodic review of the estimated forfedtuate during the last fifty-two weeks and
noted no significant forfeitures which would charige estimated forfeiture rate from the previouary@herefore, the weighted-average
forfeiture rate from 10% to 18% was used as coasisvith the prior year.

There was $3.3 million of unrecognized compensagiquense related to stock options and warrant$ qnoiary 1, 2011, which expense
is expected to be recognized over a weighted-aequagod of 2.11 years. The table below sets fimthexpected amortization of share-based
compensation expense for the next three yeardlfoptions granted as of January 1, 2011, assumiirgmployees remain employed by the
Company for their remaining vesting periods:

Fifty -Two Weeks Ending

Dec. 29 Dec. 28
Dec. 31
2011 2012 2013
Amortization of shar-based compensati $1,88¢ $ 957 $ 551
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Note 10 — Net Income (Loss) Per Share

Net income (loss) per share has been computectordaence with ASC 26Barnings per Sharelhe following table sets forth the
computation of basic and diluted net income (Ipss)share:

52 Weeks Ende 52 Weeks Ende
Year Ended
December 31, January 2, January 1,
2008 2010 2011

(in thousands,mhareand per share data)
Net (Loss) Income Per She
Numerator:
Net (loss) incomi $ (16,90 $ 1,317 $ (13,92¢)
Denominator
Weighte-average common shares outstanc

(basic) 29,846,75 29,851,87 30,269,46
Common equivalent shares from common stock

options and warran — 957,23t —
Weighted-average common shares outstanding

(diluted) 29,846,75 30,809,11 30,269,46
Basic net (loss) income per shi $ (0.57) $ 0.04 $ (0.46)
Diluted net income (loss) per sh $ (0.57) $ 0.04 $ 0.4¢€

Potentially dilutive securities were not includedie calculation of diluted net income per shareslise these securities would be anti-
dilutive due to the Company’s stock price. Thetedlasecurities are as follows (in common equivasatres):

Year Ended 52 Weeks 52 Weeks Ende
December 31 Ended
January 2, January 1,
2008 2010 2011
Common stock warran 84,33: — 12,03:
Options to purchase common stc 5,669,66. 6,777,49 1,508,28!
Total 5,753,99. 6,777,49. 1,520,23:

Additionally, due to the loss in calendar year 2@08 fiscal 2010, 115,211 and 1,700,550 sharesecéigely, have been excluded from
the computation of diluted net income (loss) perrsh

Note 11 — Income Taxes

As discussed ifiNote 1- Summary of Significant Accounting Policde®l Nature of Operations’the Company adopted new accounting
principles on accounting for uncertain tax posisiém calendar year 2008. The new principles prbesaiirecognition threshold and a
measurement attribute for the financial statemecdgnition and measurement of tax positions takexxpected to be taken in a tax return. For
those benefits to be recognized, a tax positiont ieisnore-likely-than-not to be sustained upon ération by taxing authorities. The amount
recognized is measured as the largest amount efibémat has greater than 50 percent likelihoodaihg realized upon ultimate settlement.

During calendar year 2008, the Company was autliyetie Internal Revenue Service for the years elEmember 31, 2006 and 2007.
The audit was concluded with the payment of a material sum. During fiscal 2010, the Company waditad by the Internal Revenue Sen
for the year ended December 31, 2008. The auditwasluded with no change. The tax years 2006-286fin open to examination by the
major taxing jurisdictions to which the Companyisject. The Company does not anticipate a sigmifichange to the amount of
unrecognized tax benefits within the next twelvenths.
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The components of income (loss) before income tagasist of the following:

Year 52 Weeks

Ended Ended
December January 2,

31,
2008 2010
(in thousands)

Domestic operation $(28,717) $ 3,79
Foreign operation (15 64E
Total income (loss) before income ta: $(28,72%) $ 4,44C

Income tax (benefit) expense for calendar year 2868l 2009 and fiscal 2010 consists of the follg:

Year 52 Weeks
Ended Ended
December January 2,
31,
2008 2010
(in thousands)
Current:
Federal tay $ (50 $ (779
State tay (121) 192
Foreign tax 52 56
Total current taxe (119 (525)
Deferred:
Federal ta (9,099 2,56¢
State ta> (2,60€) 1,08(
Foreign tax — —
Total deferred taxe (11,709 3,64¢
Valuation allowanct — —
Income tax (benefit) expense, consolide $(11,827) $ 3,128
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Income tax (benefit) expense differs from the amalbat would result from applying the federal staty rate as follows:

Year 52 Weeks 52 Weeks

Ended Ended Ended
December January 2, January 1,

31
2008 2010 2011
(in thousands)

Income tax at U.S. federal statutory r $ (9,76¢) $ 1,511 $ (68)
Shar-based compensatic 161 1,08¢ (93
State income tax, net of federal tax efi (2,880 72¢ (759
Tax exempt intere: (220) (16) 8
Foreign tax 60 (163) (210
Non deductible acquisition cos — — 25¢
Other (17%) (29 1
Change in valuation allowan — — 13,61(
Effective tax (benefit) provisio $(11,829) $ 3,12¢ $12,21¢

The Company’s effective tax rate was impacted lopine taxes incurred in foreign and state jurisditgi With respect to the income of
its foreign subsidiaries, the Company takes thétipaghat the earnings of the foreign subsidiades permanently invested in that jurisdiction.
Additionally, the foreign subsidiaries are currgntl a cumulative deficit earnings and profits piasi for tax purposes. As a result, no
additional income taxes have been provided on tissiple repatriation of these earnings to the gar@mpany. The favorable impact of fore
taxes is due in large part to a tax holiday inRhdippines, which is effective through Septemb@t®2. The term of the tax holiday is four yei
provided as an incentive for new business and rtbdurequirements exist to maintain the tax hglidehe impact of this tax holiday decreased
foreign taxes by $0, $136,000 and $182,000 fomzkeyear 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, retbpely. The benefit of the tax holiday on
net income per share (diluted) was immaterial fierrelated years.

For calendar year 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 201® effective tax rate for the Company was 41.380633% and (715.28)%,
respectively. The Company’s effective tax ratedalendar year 2008 differs from the U.S. federatiubry rate primarily as a result of state
income taxes and other non-deductible permanefardifces. The Company’s effective tax rate foraig009 differs from the U.S. federal
statutory rate primarily as a result of state inedaxes and other non-deductible permanent diféeereincluding stock option forfeitures with a
tax effected value of $1.1 million as describedbelThe Company’s effective tax rate for fiscal @@iiffers from the U.S. federal statutory
rate primarily as a result of the recording of 8 $Imillion valuation allowance against the Compameferred tax assets.

During the review of the Company’s income tax psaw for the thirteen weeks ended April 4, 2009,nweed that deferred tax assets for
permanent differences created by vested non-geclifiock option forfeitures had not been propextiuced in accordance with ASC 740. We
have evaluated the effects of this misstatememtriom period’s consolidated financial statementadeordance with the guidance provided by
ASC 250-10Accounting Changes and Error Correctionand concluded that no prior period financialetadnts are materially misstated. We
also evaluated the effect of correcting this missteent on our interim and annual results of openatfor the respective quarters ended
September 30, 2007 through the thirteen weeks eAdat4, 2009.

The total impact of the quarterly adjustments ezldb the balance sheet is summarized as follows:

Thirteen
Weeks
Three Months Ended, Ended
Sept. 30, Dec. 31, Mar. 31, June 30, Sept. 30, Dec. 31 April 4,
(in thousands 2007 2007 2008 2008 2008 2008 2009
Deferred Tax Asse $ (93 $ (181) $ @B $ (B $ (14H) $ (4O % (579
Total Assets as Report: $109,60t $110,05¢ $109,77¢ $98,63¢ $94,51¢ $90,43( $93,54¢
Adjusted Total Asset $109,51: $109,87! $109,69¢ $98,59¢ $94,36¢ $90,39( $92,96¢
Effect on Total Asset (0.1%) (0.2%) (0.1%) (0.C%) (0.2%) (0.0%) (0.€%)

F-29



Table of Contents

U.S. AUTO PARTS NETWORK, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continu ed)

The total impact of the quarterly adjustments ®itittcome statement is summarized as follows:

Thirteen
Weeks
Three Months Ended, Ended
Sept. 30 Mar. 31, Sept. 30
Dec. 31, June 30, Dec. 31 April 4,
(in thousands) 2007 2007 2008 2008 2008 2008 2009
Tax Provisior $ 93 $ 181 $ 80 $ 38 $ 147 $ 4C $ 57¢
Net Income (loss) as Report $ 89: $(5,49¢ $ (875 $(12,067) $ (491 3,477 $ (100
Effect on Net Income (los: (10.4%) 3.3% 9.1% 0.2% 29.9% 1.2% 57<%
Effect on EPS $ 0.0C $ 0.00¢ $ 0.0C $ 0.0C $0.00¢ $ 0.0C $0.01¢

Considering both quantitative and qualitative measuwe determined that the judgment of a reasenadison relying upon the financial
statements would not have been changed or inflaebgehe inclusion or correction of these itemshia respective quarters or in the thirteen
weeks ended April 4, 2009. We determined that tlestaitements are immaterial to the financial statasas of December 31, 2007 and 2008
and for each of the respective quarters of thosesyélowever, we concluded that the impact of miogrthe cumulative effect of these periods
may be material. As permitted by ASC 250-10, weduke iron curtain approach to quantify the migstant. The iron curtain approach
assumes that because the prior year financialhséates were not materially misstated, correctingianyaterial errors that existed in those
statements in the current year is the correct atooy Therefore, we recorded the cumulative adjesit during the thirteen weeks ended
April 4, 2009 by decreasing deferred tax assetsiaereasing current income tax expense.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilitieBextember 31, 2008, January 2, 2010 and Janu@&311, consisted of the following:

December 31 January 2, January 1,

2008 2010 2011
(in thousands)

Deferred tax asset

Inventory and inventory related rese $ 592 $ 64z $ 1,71
Shar-based compensatic 1,941 2,10¢ 3,21¢
Amortization 12,53¢ 10,85¢ 12,51°
Sales and bad debt allowan: 31C 422 68¢
Vacation accrue 11¢ 191 284
Other comprehensive incor 60 33 34
Net operating loss and AMT credit ce-forwards 1,361 88 4,16¢
Other — 257 32z
Total deferred tax asse 16,91¢ 14,59¢ 22,94t
Valuation Allowance — — (18,339
Net deferred tax asse 16,91¢ 14,59¢ 4,61(
Deferred tax liability:
Tax over book depreciatic 762 2,10C 1,582
Tax over book amortizatic — — 5,28¢
Other — — 42€
Total deferred tax liability 762 2,10(¢ 7,29
Net deferred tax assets (liabilitie $ 16,15¢ $12,49¢ $ (2,687
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At January 1, 2011, federal and state net operé&tsgy(NOL) carryforwards were $6.8 million and &illion respectively. Federal
NOL carryforwards of $2.7 million were acquiredtire acquisition of WAG which are subject to IntdriRavenue Code section 382 ¢
limited to an annual usage limitation of $135,08dditionally, a tax benefit of $0.9 million related the federal and state NOL carryforwards
that were created by the exercise of stock optichde credited to additional paid in capital orrealized as a reduction of income taxes
payable. Federal NOL carryforwards expire in 2088 2030, while state NOL carryforwards begin toiexp 2016. The state NOL
carryforwards expire in the respective tax yearfohsws:

2016- 2022 $24,91¢
2023- 2030 2,55¢
$27,46¢

The valuation allowance for deferred tax assetsrostl during fiscal 2010 is based on a more likiein not threshold. The ability to
realize deferred tax assets depends on the afuilfjgnerate sufficient taxable income within therydaack or carryforward periods provided for
in the tax law for each applicable tax jurisdictid¥e considered the following possible sourceswéble income when assessing the realiz
of deferred tax assets:

. Future reversals of existing taxable temporaryedédhces

. Future taxable income exclusive of reversing terapodifferences and carryforwarc
. Taxable income in prior carryback years; i

. Tax-planning strategie:

The assessment regarding whether a valuation atlosvis required or should be adjusted also corsid@enong other matters, the nature,
frequency and severity of recent losses of the doethUSAP and WAG operations, forecasts of futudditability, the duration of statutory
carryforward periods, our experience with tax btttés expiring unused and tax planning alternativemaking such judgments, significant
weight is given to evidence that can be objectivesified.

Concluding that a valuation allowance is not reggliis difficult when there is significant negatedence that is objective and
verifiable, such as cumulative losses in recentgdlthough we expect that the operations of #eently acquired WAG business and our
ability to achieve future profitability of these eqations was enhanced by the cost reductions tiaireed as a result of the acquisition and
subsequent integration efforts, WAG'’s historic @terg results remain relevant as they are refleativthe industry and the effect of economic
conditions. The fundamental businesses and inheskstin which the WAG business operates did hainge from those which existed priol
the acquisition. We utilized a three-year analg$iactual results as the primary measure of cunveldsses in recent years. However, because
a substantial portion of those cumulative losskdedo impairment of intangible assets and goddthibse three-year cumulative results are
adjusted for the effect of these items. In addijtibe near- and medium-term financial outlook iesidered when assessing the need for a
valuation allowance.

The valuation of deferred tax assets requires jugrand assessment of the future tax consequehegsms that have been recorded in
the financial statements or in the tax returns, @andfuture profitability represents our best estienof those future events. Changes in our
current estimates, due to unanticipated eventsherwise, could have a material effect on our faialhcondition and results of operations.
Prior to the acquisition of WAG, the Company couldd that it was more likely than not that we worddlize the deferred tax assets in all
jurisdictions. However, with the acquisition of WABased largely on the weight of the combined catie thre-year adjusted loss position,
it was determined that it was not more likely tima that the Company would realize its net defetesdassets as of January 2, 2011. There
a valuation allowance of $18.3 million was recor@dsdf January 1, 2011, of which $4.7 million wasarded against the acquired deferred tax
assets of WAG as of our acquisition date of Aud2st2010.

If, in the future, we generate taxable income eustained basis in jurisdictions where we haverdazbfull valuation allowances, our
conclusion regarding the need for full valuatiolmaknces in these tax jurisdictions could changsuliting in the reversal of some or all of the
valuation allowances. If our operations generatalike income prior to reaching profitability onwstined basis, we would reverse a portic
the valuation allowance related to the correspandialized tax benefit for that period, without ohg our conclusions on the need for a full
valuation allowance against the remaining net defetax assets.

Included in accrued expenses are income taxes [@agh$24,000, $39,000 and $95,000 for calendar 2688, fiscal 2009 and fiscal
2010, respectively, consisting primarily of foreigxes.

Note 12 — Related-Party Transactions

Beginning in November 2003, the Company leasedoitporate headquarters and primary warehouse frianCNloe, LLC (“Nia Chlog),
a member of which, Sol Khazani, is one of our baaeinbers. Another Nia Chloe member, Mehran Nia, alss one of our board members
until his resignation in December 2009. Lease paymand expenses associated with this related padpgement totaled $548,000, $535,
and $389,000, respectively, for the years ended
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December 31, 2008, January 2, 2010, and Janu&d11, The Company has evaluated its relationshiip Mia Chloe with regard to ASC 810
Consolidation(*ASC 810”) (formerly referenced as FIN 46RConsolidation of Variable Interest Entiti€&s The Company has determined !
Nia Chloe does not meet the criteria for consoi@atinder ASC 810 and therefore this entity iscmisolidated in the Compé’s financial
statements.

From time to time, the Company purchased invenfiany an entity that was partially owned until 2a@@a member of the Company’s
Board of Directors. During the years ended DecerBtte2008 and January 2, 2010, the Company purdhiagentory totaling $242,000 and
$330,000 respectively, from the entity, which th@r@any believes to be at fair market value.

Since October 2006, the Company has purchasedspaidh engine marketing services from an entityfo€h a member of the
Company’s Board of Directors served as CEO unfil®8nd chairman until mid-2009. During the yeardeshDecember 31, 2008 and
January 2, 2010, the Company purchased paid seagihe marketing services totaling $281,000, arkRbEI00, respectively, from the entity,
which the Company believes to be at fair marketi®al

In September 2008, the Company entered into a vagsaement with a member of the Company’s Boariodctors, Mehran Nia, to
provide consulting services. The arrangement cbalterminated by either party at anytime, and trectbr was paid $10,000 per month.
Mr. Nia resigned from the Board of Directors in Bewer 2009. For the year ended January 2, 201€handear ended January 1, 2011, the
total consulting fees paid were $120,000 and $IDr86pectively, to the individual. The arrangemeas terminated as of January 2, 2010, and
the final payment made to settle the account ésatfdate.

The Company has entered into indemnification agezesnwith the Company’s directors and executiveeef§. These agreements require
the Company to indemnify these individuals to thiekt extent permitted under law against liakgBtthat may arise by reason of their service
to the Company, and to advance expenses incurradesult of any proceeding against them as tohiey could be indemnified. The
Company also intends to enter into indemnificaagneements with the Company’s future directorsexetutive officers.

Note 13 — Commitments and Contingencies

The Company'’s primary warehouse facilities are urdease which commenced in November 2003, exjpir&@ecember 2008, was
month-to-month until February 1, 2010 when an esitamof the lease incorporating a reduction in thrdugh January 31, 2011 was signed,
and continues on a month-to-month basis.

In September 2004, the Company entered into a ledseuse the Company’s corporate headquarterfoandhrehouse space adjacent to
its primary facility in Carson, California from alated party under an agreement that expired AWBLIS2006. This lease was renewed through
February 28, 2009 and is currently month-to-mo@th.October 1, 2006, the Company entered into d thase agreement for additional
warehouse space adjacent to its primary facilii€Sarson, CA. This lease expired May 31, 2009, masth-to-month until February 1, 2010
when an extension of the lease incorporating aatémtuin rent through January 31, 2011 was sigaed,continues on a month-to-month basis.

In January 2010, the Company’s Philippines subsidéatered into a new lease agreement that witbmrcsodate the Company’s
Philippines workforce into one (1) office buildifigm its previous offices in Pasig and Makati; thases for the Pasig and Makati facilities
were terminated in July and October 2010, respelgtilunder the terms of the lease agreement, tiep@ay added approximately 39,665
square feet of space for a period of 63 monthsctffe March 1, 2010. Monthly rental fee of approately $25,000 is subject to 5% annual
escalation beginning on the 3rd year of the leasa ind renewable for a sixty (60)-month term upnutual agreement of both parties. In
December 2008, the Company entered into a five-gparating lease for warehouse space in Chesapémgmmia, which commenced in
January 2009 and expires in December 2013. Undeetins of the lease, the Company added approXini&2es00 square feet of space for
initial monthly rent of approximately $15,000 witlhhnual rent escalations. Additionally, the Comphag one option to extend the terms for an
additional five years on or before June 30, 2018 a@me option to terminate the lease effective Ddmam31, 2011 with six months prior written
notice.

Upon our acquisition of WAG, we assumed a leassedlto their office and warehouse space (60,84&redfeet) in Independence, Ohio
which was originally executed on January 1, 2008amended on October 3, 2003 and February 1, Z0@8lease expires on January 31,
2013, with two five-year renewal options. Commegaim February 1, 2008, the rent is $0.2 million year, payable in equal monthly
installments of $0.02 million on the first day @fah month during the initial term.
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Also, upon our acquisition of WAG, we assumed deade related to their headquarter office (22,3R@&ee feet) in Chicago, lllinois
which was originally executed on December 4, 200i& term of the lease commenced on May 14, 200&vlhdxpire on January 13, 2017.
The annual base rent for the initial lease terraugh January 31, 2009 is $0.3 million with an ahmsaalation of $0.1 million commencing
from February 1, 2009 through the remaining leaset

Facility rent expense, inclusive of amounts paitli@ Chloe, for the years ended December 31, 2D@8jary 2, 2010 and January 1,
2011, was $1.6 million, $1.9 million and $2.4 nuli, respectively.

Future minimum facility lease payments requiredarttie above operating leases as of January 1,&@141,482,000, $1514,000,
$1,369,000, $719,000, $541,000 and $379,000 fot 202015 and thereafter, respectively.

Capital lease commitments at January 1, 2011 wefellaws:

(in thousands)

2011 2012 2013 Total
Capital lease commitmen 19¢ 10¢ 27 332
Less: interest paymer (12 3 = (19
Capital lease obligatior 184  10€ 27 317

There were no capital leases as of January 2, 2010.

Legal Matters

The Company is subject to legal proceedings arithslavhich arise in the ordinary course of its bess Although occasional adverse
decisions or settlements may occur, the poterdsas,lif any, cannot be reasonably estimated. Hormvéwe Company believes that the final
disposition of such matters will not have a mateattverse effect on the financial position, resafteperations or cash flow of the Company
with the exception of the items noted below. Thenpany maintains liability insurance coverage tagebthe Company’s assets from losses
arising out of or involving activities associatedtwongoing and normal business operations.

Parts Geek Litigation

On June 25, 2009, the Company filed suit in thetdéthBtates District Court for the Central Disto€California against Parts Geek LLC,
certain of its members and employees for misappatpn of trade secrets, breach of contract andiuobmpetition and requesting monetary
damages and injunctive relief, and Parts Geek filednswer on August 12, 2009. On January 27, 2B&@;omplaint was amended to include
claims for copyright infringement and to add anitiddal party. Parts Geek filed an answer and cexatims to the amended complaint on
February 22, 2010. Each party filed a motion fanmary judgment requesting that the Court rule drnlaims made in this matter without
sending the matter to a jury. On June 7, 2010Citwert ruled on all claims in the matter, denying @ompany’s claims against Parts Geek and
Lucas Thomason and denying Parts Geek’s claimsisigthie Company. The judge additionally deniedsP@gek’s counterclaims against the
Company. Parts Geek and Lucas Thomason petitidree@durt to order the Company to pay their legas fend costs, the Court ordered the
Company to do so and on August 11, 2010 all pastipsilated that approximately $1.1 million of Iéfzes and costs would be owed to Parts
Geek and Lucas Thomason should the Company loaegsal or win its appeal and lose in trial. A bbiad been posted to guarantee payment
of $1.1 million plus interest, at a cost of approately $0.02 million to the Company. The Companyasrequired to pay the fees and costs at
this time; they would be due if the Company losgesppeal and determines to not appeal beyondtth€icuit Court of Appeals, or if the
Company wins on appeal but loses at trial once#ise is remanded to the trial court and, in acecmelavith ASC 450-2Qoss Contingencies
(“ASC 450-20"), the Company has not accrued foséhkees and costs. The Company filed an appediladdts initial brief on January 21,
2011. The reply brief is due March 21, 2011. Thenpany has analyzed this matter in accordance w&ft A5020 and, in accordance with 1
definition of probable loss described therein, vagenconcluded that no accrual is necessary atitiés

California Air Resources Board Inquiry

The Company received an inquiry by the CaliforniaRResources Board (“CARB”) into sales of non-Gatlifia compliant catalytic
converters in the state of California via our stsbip and drop-ship network. On March 4, 2010, agdin on June 16, 2010, the Company met
with CARB to discuss alleged sales of catalyticvasters into California by the Company and thirdtpauppliers that are not compliant with
California regulations. CARB informed the Compahgttpenalties shall be assessed with regard to@mcompliant sales; discussions are
ongoing, and due to a number of variables, anylpfieaare not estimable at this time. This will iagp sale of products for emissions systen
the state and may
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adversely impact our sales and operating resufts.Jompany is unable to assess the amount ofrthlenfionetary cost in this regard, other
than legal fees that have been and may continbe tocurred in preparing responses and defendm@tmpany in the inquiry and that there
will be an associated cost for penalties in thistena

Asbestos

WAG is a named defendant in several lawsuits innglelaims for damages caused by installation akés during the late 1960’s and
early 1970’s that contained asbestos. WAG marketeiin brakes, but did not manufacture any braR&sG maintained liability insurance
coverage to protect its and the Company’s assets lkvsses arising from the litigation and coverisgerovided on an occurrence rather than a
claims made basis, and the Company is not expéatedur significant out-of-pocket costs.

Note 14 — Employee Retirement Plan

Effective February 17, 2006, the Company adoptédlgk) defined contribution retirement plan covgrail full time employees who
have completed one month of service. The Comparny atats sole discretion, match fifty cents pell@oup to 6% of each participating
employee’s salary. The Compasycontributions vest in annual installments oveedhyears. Discretionary contributions made byGbepany
totaled $147,000, $154,000 and $213,000 for caleystar 2008, fiscal 2009 and fiscal 2010, respebtiv

In January 2010, the Company adopted the U.S. Ratts Network, Inc. Management Deferred Compensdian (the “Deferred
Compensation Plan”), for the purpose of providiighly compensated employees a program to meetfinaincial planning needs. The
Deferred Compensation Plan provides participantls thie opportunity to defer up to 90% of their baakary and up to 100% of their annual
earned bonus, all of which, together with the aisged investment returns, are 100% vested fronotiiget. The Deferred Compensation Plan,
which is designed to be exempt from most provisioithe Employee Retirement Security Act of 198&dinformally funded by the Company
through the purchase of Compaoymned life insurance policies with the Company (kEwer) as the owner and beneficiary, in order &Esprve
the tax-deferred savings advantages of a non-ipaliflan. The plan assets are the cash surrentler ebthe Company-owned life insurance
policies and not associated with the deferred corsgt#on liability. The deferred compensation lidlgis (consisting of employer contributions,
employee deferrals and associated earnings anesloase general unsecured obligations of USAP.ilitiab under the Plan are recorded at
amounts due to participants, based on the fairevafyparticipants’ selected investments. The Compaay at its discretion contribute certain
amounts to eligible employee accounts. In Januaiy) 2the Company began to contribute 50% of tis¢ #%6 of participants’ eligible
contributions into their Deferred Compensation Rlaoounts. In September 2010, the Company establishd transferred its ownership to a
rabbi trust to hold the Company-owned life insuepolicies. As of January 1, 2011, the assets asacéated liabilities of the Deferred
Compensation Plan were $261,000 and $224,000,cteply, and are included in other non-current essaed non-current liabilities,
respectively, in our consolidated balance shedis.aksociated liabilities mainly include the emplgontributions of $175,000 and the
employer contributions of $34,000 made as of JanLiaR011. Included in other income, the Compamypréed a gain of $11,000 for the
change in the cash surrender value of the Compeumea life insurance policies during fiscal 2010.
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Note 15 — Quarterly Information (Unaudited)

The following quarterly information includes alljagtments which management considers necessagyféir presentation of such
information. For interim quarterly financial statents, the provision for income taxes is estimatdgithe best available information for
projected results for the entire year. The sunheffour quarters will not agree to the year totsd tb rounding within a quarter.

Thirteen Weeks Ended Thirteen Weeks Ended
April 4, July 4, Oct. 3, Jan 2, April 3, July 3, Oct. 2, Jan 1,
2009 2009 2009 2010 2010 2010 2010 2011

(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Consolidated Statement of Income Data:

Net sales $ 39,66: $ 43,808 $ 47,047 $ 4577¢  $ 56,29: $ 53,18¢ $ 72,34¢ $ 80,45(
Gross profit 14,64( 15,86¢ 16,89¢ 16,46" 19,801 18,397 24,007 27,39¢
Income (loss) from operatiol 59¢ 1,072 1,32¢ 1,25¢ 2,47¢ 65¢ (1,980 (2,580
Income (loss) before income tax 684 1,09¢ 1,38% 1,27: 2,497 687 (2,060) (2,837
Net (loss) incomi $ 679 $ 62 $ 781 $ 58t $ 1547 $ 46z $ (13,039 $ (2,89¢)
Adjustment:

Tax benefit (provision)(1 8
Adjusted net (loss) income ( $ 671) $ 62¢ $ 781 $ 58t $ 1547 % 462 $ (13,039) $  (2,89)
Basic net (loss) income per share as reported djndtad (1,  $ (0.02) $ 00z $ 0.0: $ 00z $ 0.0 $ 0.0z $ 0.49) $ (0.10)
Diluted net (loss) income per share as reportedaaiasted (1 $ (0.02) $ 00z $ 0.0: $ 00z $ 0.0 $ 0.01 $ (0.49) $ (0.10)
Shares used in computation of basic net (loss)hirecper shar

as reported and adjust 29,846,75 29,846,75 29,848,69  29,865,45 30,003,11 30,314,47.  30,357,98 30,402,26
Shares used in computation of diluted net (loss)rime per

share as reported and adjus 29,846,75 30,395,18 31,004,03 31,147,86 31,425,00 31,994,44 30,357,98 30,402,26

(1) Includes immaterial adjustments recorded for adirtgrs of calendar year 2008 during the thir-weeks ended April 4, 2009. S* Note 11- IncomeTaxe!” for further information

Note 16 — Subsequent Events

February 28, 2011, the Company and its lendeic@ilValley Bank (“Bank”), entered into Amendment.Ndo Loan and Security
Agreement and Limited Waiver (“Amendment”). The Amdenent waived the Company’s lack of compliance whth Consolidated Fixed
Charge Coverage Ratio Covenant in the Loan andriBeégreement entered into by and between the Gomiand Bank on August 13, 2010
(“LSA"). The Amendment also amended the definitiofi8aseline Liquidity and Consolidated EBITDA tmm readily accommodate the
Company'’s integration of the WAG acquisition.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Description

Acquisition Agreement dated May 19, 2006 by and ragnid.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Partsbin,,Ion.the one hand, and
The Partsbin.com, Inc., All OEM Parts, Inc., Powest, Inc., Auto Parts Web Solutions, Inc., Web Chalutions, Inc.,
Everything Internet, LLC, Richard E. Pine, Lowellann, Brian Tinari and Todd Daugherty, on theeothanc

Stock Purchase Agreement executed August 2, 20bdguhe Acquisition Sub, WAG, Riverside and thesotstockholders ¢
WAG (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5Tte Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed vilile Securities and
Exchange Commission on August 4, 20

Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incatfwor of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. as filedlwihe Delaware Secretary
State on February 14, 2007 (incorporated by referén Exhibit 3.1 to the Annual Report on Form 1@il&d with the Securities
and Exchange Commission on April 2, 20

Amended and Restated Bylaws of U.S. Auto Parts Nikwnc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit &2he Annual Report ¢
Form 1(-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarApril 2, 2007,

Specimen common stock certifice

U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. 2006 Equity IncentRian

Form of Stock Option Agreement under the U.S. ARdots Network, Inc. 2006 Equity Incentive Pl

Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Option under th&SUAuto Parts Network, Inc. 2006 Equity Incent®lan.

Form of Acceleration Addendum to Stock Option Agneait under the U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. 206i& Incentive Plan
U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. 2007 Omnibus Plan famohs of agreemen

Offer Letter of Employment dated May 19, 2006 bd &etween U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Richiire:

Non-Competition Agreement dated May 19, 2006 by andragrlJ.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Richard Pirmyell Mann,
Brian Tinari and Todd Daugher

Shareholde' s Release dated May 19, 2006 by and between U 18.Parts Network, Inc. and Richard P

Commercial Lease Agreement dated January 1, 20@htpetween U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and@hée Enterprises,
LLC, amended effective February 1, 2(

Standard Industrial/Commercial Multi-Tenant Leasdsress dated October 1, 2006 by and between U.S. Raitts Network, In
and Margay 2003, LLC, amended effective Februag010

Standard Industrial/Commercial Mi-Tenant Leas— Gross dated July 12, 2004 by and between U.S. Ratts Network, Inc
and Isadore Socransky, amended effective Febry&91D

Lease dated November 30, 2004 by and between Wits. Parts Network, Inc. and William Co:

Catalog License and Parts Purchase Agreement Nategimber 20, 2006 by and between U.S. Auto Partedt&, Inc. anc
WORLDPAC, Inc.

Services Agreement dated October 3, 2006 by avadeleet U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Efficiendiiiier, Inc.
Offer Letter of Employment dated January 1, 200@bg between U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Haoudkhavar

Form of Indemnification Agreement for Officers aDdectors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit3B0to the Annual Report ¢
Form 1(-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommisgarMarch 15, 201C

Deeds of Assignment and Declarations of Trust ebeec8eptember 2006 regarding MBS Tek Corporatiockstransfe!
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10.36

10.37

10.38

10.39+

10.40+

10.41+

10.42+

10.43

10.44+

10.45

10.46

10.47+

10.48+

10.49

Description

Purchase Agreement, dated April 20, 2007, by anohgnt).S. Auto Parts Network, Inc., Access Worldw@Emmunications, Inc
and their respective Philippine affiliates (incorgied by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quart&dport on Form 10-Q filed with
the Securities and Exchange Commission on May Q7%

Lease Agreements, dated August 8, 2007, by and g@M@8 Tek Corporation and Roshan Commercial Cangofporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Reparform 10-Q filed with the Securities and Excha@Ggenmission on August 2,
2007)

Form of Supplier Agreement entered into between U.S. Auto Parts bidtwnc. and certain of its U.S. based suppliei
primary drop-ship vendors (incorporated by refeestacExhibit 10.2 to the Quarterly Report on For@aQ filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on August 27 %

Employment Agreement dated March 29, 2010 betweé&n Auto Parts Network, Inc. and Shane Evangetiso(porated by
reference to Exhibit 10.39 to the Quarterly Reporform 10-Q filed with the Securities and Excha@genmission on May 12,
2010)

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated October2®7 between U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and 8Siarangelis
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to therént Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securiteesd Exchange Commission
on October 17, 2007

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement dated October28)7 (performance grant) between U.S. Auto Paetsvirk, Inc. and
Shane Evangelist (incorporated by reference tolkx89.4 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filediwihe Securities and
Exchange Commission on October 17, 2C

2007 New Employee Incentive Plan (incorporateddigrence to Exhibit 99.5 to the Current Report om#8-K filed with the
Securities and Exchange Commission on Octoberdd?):.

Lease Agreement, dated October 11, 2007, by aneelbetMBS Tek Corporation and Averon Holding Corpiora(incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Repor Form 10-Q filed with the Securities and Exadmiommission on
November 14, 2007

Employment Agreement, dated March 29, 2010, betvwileei@ompany and Aaron Coleman (incorporated lgreefce to Exhibi
10.44 to the Quarterly Report on Formr-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiotMay 12, 2010

Support Continuity Agreement, dated April 28, 2008tween the Company and Alexander Adegan (incatpdrby reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on For-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarApril 28, 2008

Consulting Agreement, dated April 28, 2008, amdrgg@ompany, uParts.com, Inc. and Alexander Adeigaorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Current ReporfFomm ¢-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissiarpril 28, 2008

Non-Incentive Stock Option Agreement, dated April 2808, between the Company and Alexander Adeganrfiocated by
reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Current Reporfomm ¢-K filed with the Securities and Exchange Commissarpril 28, 2008

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated May 15,808y and between the Company and Shane Evan(jetistporated b
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current ReporfFomm &K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarMay 15, 2008

Stipulation of settlement in the matter entitlearé U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. Securities latign, Case No. CV (-203(-GW
(JC) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1ht® Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed with the@#ies and Exchange
Commission on November 6, 20(
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10.50+

10.51

10.52+

10.53+

10.54+

10.55

10.56

10.58

10.59

10.63+

10.64
10.65

10.66

16.1

211
23.1
23.2

Description

Separation Agreement and Release of Claims, dadedrbber 9, 2008, between the Company and Michd&tGlane
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to therént Report on Form 8-K filed with the Securiteesd Exchange Commission
on December 9, 200!

Consulting Agreement, dated December 9, 2008, twlee Company and Michael J. McClane (incorporbtereference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Current Report on For-K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommisgsiarDecember 9, 200:

Employment Agreement, dated March 29, 2010 betwleeiCompany and Theodore Sanders (incorporatedfégence to Exhibit
10.53 to the Quarterly Report on Formr-Q filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiotMay 12, 2010

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement, dated February?D®9, between the Company and Theodore Sanderforated b
reference to Exhibit 10.63 to the Current ReporfFomm 8-K filed with the Securities and Exchanger®assion on February 17,
2009)

Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement (performance gyatated February 16, 2009, between the Compadyarodore
Sanders (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@o6#he Current Report on Form 8-K filed with thec8rities and Exchange
Commission on February 17, 20(

Commercial Lease Agreement dated December 16, @p@8d between U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. ankléysindian River
LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.68He Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the Settes and Exchange
Commission on March 26, 200

Commercial lease dated January 7, 2010 by and batWeS. Autoparts Network Philippines Corporation &obinsons Land
Corporation (incorporated by reference to Exhilbit5é to the Annual Report on Form 10-K filed wikle tSecurities and Exchange
Commission on March 15, 201

Guarantee executed August 2, 2010 by the Compangrfiorated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to thenany's Current Repoil
on Form K filed with Securities and Exchange CommissionAagust 4, 2010

Loan and Security Agreement, dated August 13, 2B&flyeen Bank, USAPN, ASAP, Go Fido Inc., Parts Bobo, Whitney,
Value, Private Label, Pacific, AutoMD, and Locald3oShops (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2@dthe Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form -Q filed with the Securities Exchange and Commissiorugust 17, 201(

2011 Base Salaries and Target Bonuses of certhaeisf (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 1@1He Current Report ¢
Form &K filed with the Securities and Exchange CommissiarDecember 9, 201!

Sublease dated December 4, 2007 by and betweereMagiVerks, Inc. and J.C. Whitney & C

Second Amendment To Lease Agreement dated Febtu@308 by and between JCM Management LLC andrf’ Concepts
Corp.

Amendment No. 1 to Loan and Security Agreementlamdted Waiver, dated February 28, 2011, by and rgn8ilicon Valley
Bank and USAPN, ASAP, Go Fido Inc., Parts Bin, LoWhitney, Value, Private Label, Pacific, AutoMhdLocal Body Shops
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.70 to @Gherent Report on Form 8-K filed with the Secustand Exchange Commission
on March 4, 2011

June 21, 2010 Letter from E&Y to the SEC (incorpedsherein by reference to the Comg’s Current Report on Forn-K filed
with the SEC on June 23, 201

Subsidiaries of U.S. Auto Parts Network, |
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accouriing
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311 Certification of the principal executive officerqred by Rule 13-14(a) or 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
amendec

31.2 Certification of the principal financial officergeired by Rule 12-14(a) or 15-14(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
amendec

32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer reqedr by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursaaedtion 906 of the
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer reqged by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursa&é8edtion 906 of the Sarbanes-
Oxley Act of 200z

* Incorporated by reference to the exhibit of thene number from the registration statement on Fewinof U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc.
(File No. 33:-138379) initially filed with the Securities and Exange Commission on November 2, 2006, as ame!

+ Indicates a management contract or compensatonygplarrangemer

Tt U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. has been grantedidential treatment with respect to certain pors®f this exhibit (indicated by asterisks),
which have been separately filed with the Secwritied Exchange Commissic



Exhibit 10.64
SUBLEASE

THIS SUBLEASE (this “Sublease”) is made as of ttis day of December, 2007 betweadarketing Werks, Inc ., an lllinois
corporation (“Sublessor”), whose address is 11\WBcker Drive, Ste 3000, Chicago, lllinois 60601d drC. Whitney & Co. , a Delaware
corporation, (“Sublessee”), whose address is 22%MN\dichigan Avenue, Chicago, IL 60601.

1. Premises. Sublessor, in consideration of the rents to hé aad the terms and conditions to be performe8uliylessee, does hereby
sublease to Sublessee, those certain premisegediinaChicago, lllinois, more particularly deseibas Suite 3000, containing approximately
22,323 rentable square feet (the “Premises”), &xtah the 3@ floor of the building located at 11Macker Drive, Chicago, Illinois 60601
(the “Building”), together with the right to useetikommon facilities of the Building.

2.Term . The term of this Sublease shall be for a permdroencing on May 14, 2008 (the “Commencement Dated) shall expire on
January 31, 2017 (the “Expiration DateQn or before May 14, 2008 Sublessor shall deliesspssion of the Premises to Sublessee (i) fre
clear of all occupants, (ii) with all personal pesty removed other than the Furniture, and (iiijgasonably clean condition (the “Delivery
Condition”). In the event Sublessor fails to detittee Premises to Sublessee in the Delivery Canditn or before the Commencement Date,
subject to Sublessee’s rights and remedies avaitalfbublessee in this Sublease, at law or inyghi# Commencement Date shall be
postponed until such time as Sublessor deliver®theises to Sublessee in the Delivery Condition.

a) In the event Sublessor does not deliver the Besnto Sublessee on or before May 21, 2008 iD#iwery Condition,
Sublessor acknowledges that such delay will résiBublessee having to hold over in their exispingmises under their
sublease agreement (the “Midas Sublease”) with Mideernational Corporation (“Midas”) at 225 NofNtichigan Avenue.
Therefore, without limiting Sublessee’s other right remedies under this Sublease, at law or iityegacluding Sublesses’
right to receive Delay Damages, Sublessor will pagemnify and defend Sublessee from and agaihstaéis and
damages, including, but not limited to, direct, ®equential and special damages, sustained by reaSublessos failure tc
deliver the premises by May 21, 2008 (the “Holdobamages”). The Holdover Damages include, but atdimited to,
holdover rent and any damages payable by Sublésdéilas or any other party. Sublessor acknowledigassthe prime
landlord under the Midas Sublease (“Midas LandIpfds the right to extend the term of Midas’ tenyafoe a period of one
(1) year at two hundred percent (200%) of the gp@ss rent in the last year of the lease for 73réb6able square feet as a
result of any holdover. If Midas Landlord exercisesh right, not including any other damages thay be payable by
Sublessee, the annual gross rent cost payabledasMiandlord will be approximately $5,000,000. &sbke shall have the
right to offset any such Holdover Damages for wiclblessor is responsible against |



b)

c)

3.Rent.

payable pursuant to this Sublease. In such casdesdor shall have the right, but not the obligatim negotiate a settlement
with Midas Landlord and Sublessee shall reasonatdperate with Sublessor in any such negotiatibngaost to
Sublessee), provided that any such settlement mgmteshall be subject to Sublessee’s reasonabltexsi@nd in no event
shall such settlement agreement adversely affdueSsee’s obligations or rights under the Midasl&se or with respect to
Midas Landlord

In addition, and without limiting Subles¢s other rights or remedies under this Subleadayabr in equity, including
Sublessee’s right to receive Holdover Damagesylii€éssor does not deliver the Premises to Sublesseebefore May 14,
2008 in the Delivery Condition, Sublessor shall papublessee as liquidated damages for such ¢mlayot to compensate
Sublessee for Holdover Damages), and not as atpetied amount of $2,000 per day (“Delay Damagéx”each day of
such delay through the actual delivery date. Ssbleshall pay all such accrued Delay Damages t¢teSsde on a weekly
basis as such Delay Damages accrue. The paymBrei@j Damages shall not affect Sublessor’s obligatd also pay
Holdover Damages, if applicable, and any other arteopayable to Sublessee by Sublessor. If Sublésd®to pay the
Delay Damages when required, Sublessee shall hawgght to offset such Delay Damages againstpapable under this
Sublease

In addition, and without limiting Sublessee’g@t rights or remedies, including Sublessee’s rightceive Holdover
Damages and Delay Damages or any other right cedgrander this Sublease, at law or in equity, iI8ssor does not
deliver the Premises to Sublessee on or before In2008, Sublessee shall have the right to textaithis Sublease at no
cost whatsoever to Sublessee, provided such nistibelivered before delivery of the Premises tol&sdee in the Delivery
Condition.

Sublessee shall pay to the Sublessor as baseirréme Premises during the term of this Sublepagable in advance, the
monthly installments listed below (the “Base Rendh or before the twenty-fifth day of each andrgvaonth preceding the
month such rent is due, commencing with the Commerenit Date; provided, however, that if the termisttanmence on a
day other than the first day of a calendar monthall end on a day other than the last day otendar month, the rental f
such first or last fractional month shall be suobpertion of the monthly rental as the number of-dm such fractional
month bears to the total number of days in thentile month, provided further, that if Sublessedl sltaupy the Premises
prior to the Commencement Date, such occupancy Isbalubject to all of the terms and conditionshig Sublease, but
Sublessee shall not be required to pay Base Rekdditional Rent until the Commencement Dz

Commencement Da— January 31, 200¢ $25,113.38/mont
February 1, 200- January 31, 201( $26,043.50/mont
February 1, 201- January 31, 201: $26,973.63/mont
February 1, 201- January 31,201 $27,903.75/mont
February 1, 201- January 31, 201 $28,833.88/mont
February 1, 201- January 31, 201« $29,764.00/mont
February 1, 201~ January 31, 201! $30,694.13/mont
February 1, 201- January 31, 201¢ $31,624.25/mont

February 1, 201- January 31, 201" $32,554.38/mont



b)

Sublessee shall pay Sublessor Base Rent, pjuadalitional Operating Expenses incurred by Sublessnt adjustments,
rent adjustment deposits, or other sums chargetthéoPremises pursuant to the terms of the Amehtedler Lease (as
defined in Section 6 below) (therein referred tdAdditional Rent”) at the address set forth fol&ssor below, or at such
other place as Sublessor shall designate fromttntiene:

Marketing Werks, Inc.

111 E. Wacker Drive, Ste 3000
Chicago, lllinois 60601
Attention: Julie Guida

First month’s rent shall be due within five (5) daafter Sublessee, Sublessor and Master Landleel dxeecuted and
delivered the Master Landlord’s Consent (as defineslection 17) to this Sublease. Notwithstandhmgforegoing, provided
Sublessee is not in Default hereunder or undeAthended Master Lease, gross Rent (inclusive of #attil Rent) shall
abate from the Commencement Date through Noventhe&2(8 (the “Abatement Period”). For the avoidaotdoubt,
provided Sublessee is not in Default hereundendeuthe Amended Master Lease, Sublessee shdlenatquired to pay
Base Rent or Additional Rent from the Commencerdaté through November 30, 2008. If the CommencerDate does
not occur on May 14, 2008 (unless due to Sublestie=Abatement Period shall be extended one dagafch day that the
Commencement Date is delayed beyond May 14, 2008.

Additional Rent shall be payable in the same maasdrrovided in the Amended Master Lease and badlased on Mast
Landlord’s statements, including estimates renderesliblessor with respect to such items, whictestants shall be made
available by Sublessor to Sublessee promptly edtipt thereof from Master Landlord. To the extdat any amounts paid
by Sublessee on account of any of such items aed



on estimates provided by Master Landlord and extee@mount actually due and payable by Sublessesihder, such
overpayment shall, in accordance with the procetiyr@hich overpayment of such an item is treatedienthe Amended
Master Lease, be either refunded to Sublesseedited against the amounts next coming due fronsthidessee for the
applicable item pursuant to this Section prompftgraSublessor has received the refund or credihfiMaster Landlord;
provided, however, that if such overpayment shallehbeen credited to Sublessee and is not fullylreised by such credit
prior to the expiration of this Sublease term, tpesmptly following the expiration or earlier temmaition of the term of this
Sublease, Sublessor shall reimburse Sublesseeefoemaining balance of such overpayment, les@amyunts Sublessee
may owe to Sublessor upon the expiration of the tefrthis Sublease. To the extent that any estidnateounts so paid by
Sublessee are less than the amount actually dupaadble hereunder by Sublessee, Sublessee shafigdifference to
Sublessor within twenty (20) days after notice ¢loér If any refund or credit results from an auditallenge or other
proceeding instituted by Sublessor, Sublessor Seatintitled to first deduct from any such refund¢m@dit Sublessos’ actua
reasonable expenses incurred in connection withiriby such refund or credit and Sublessee shahitided to the net
refund or credit within twenty (20) days after riptdoy Sublessor either, at Sublessor’s optiorg easedit against Rent next
due and payable or in the form of a reimbursemayient to Sublessee. Sublessee’s payments und&dbiion for any
partial lease year shall be prorated on a per thasis. At Sublessee’s request, Sublessor shaktisgdts audit rights (at no
cost to Sublessor) under the Amended Master Leageetextent that such rights are available urfde®mended Master
Lease and shall share such information with Subkds no event shall Sublessee’s obligation toAwdgitional Rent
hereunder exceed the amount attributable to theiBes due and payable by the Sublessor under thenéed Master Leas
Sublessee shall be entitled to the portion of r@itlits if any, given by Master Landlord to Sublesso overpayment of such
costs that are attributable to the Premises duhiederm of this Sublease. The provisions of tlgsti®n shall survive the
expiration or sooner termination of this Sublei

4. Security Deposit. Sublessee shall pay Sublessor the amou@nefHundred Fifty-three Thousand Four Hundred Sevety and
62/100 ($153,470.6Dollars (equal to three months’ gross rent), witlive (5) days after Sublessor, Sublessee and Maatedlord have
executed and delivered the Master Landlord’s Can@sndefined in Section 17) to this Subleasegeasrity deposit for Sublessee’s faithful
performance of Sublessor’s obligations hereund&ublessee fails to pay rent or otherwise defawiltis respect to any provision of this
Sublease, Sublessor may, after the expirationl @jpgllicable notice and cure periods, use, apphetain all or any portion of the deposit for
payment of any rent or any other sum to which Ssddemay become obligated by reason of Sublesdetsit, or to compensate Sublessor
for any loss or damage which Sublessor may suffeby. Sublessee shall not




required to keep the deposit separate from itsrgéaecount. If Sublessee performs all of Subléssaligations hereunder, the deposit, or so
much thereof as has not theretofore been appliefulbjessor or refunded to Sublessee, shall benetuwithout payment of interest or other
increments for its use, to Sublessee within 30 ddigs the expiration of the term hereof and afteblessee has vacated the Premises.
Notwithstanding the foregoing, provided that Subéesis not then in Default and no event which withpassage of time or the giving of no
or both would constitute a Default exists, the S Deposit shall be reduced to two months’ gnesd (the “Reduced Security Deposit
Amount”) on and as of February 1, 2014 (the “Seagubieposit Reduction Date”). Accordingly, if Subdeg is not in Default as of February 14,
2014 and no event which with the passage of tinteegiving of notice or both would constitute af@ét exists, Sublessor shall refund the
excess Security Deposit within thirty (30) dayeaftebruary 14, 2008. Notwithstanding the foregpih§ublessee is in Default on the Sect
Deposit Reduction Date or Sublessee is in breathi®Sublease but the applicable notice and cereg has not expired by such date, then
upon Sublessee’s cure of any such Default or breagblessee shall have the right to reduce therBg@eposit to the Reduced Security
Deposit Amount, provided that if Sublessee has lim@efault more than three (3) times during thenT@rior to the Security Deposit
Reduction Date then Sublessee shall have not Ihaveght to reduce the Security Deposit after Sgcireposit Reduction Date regardless if
Sublessee ultimately cures such Default or breach.

Instead of a cash security deposit, Sublesseelshad! the right at any time during the SubleasenTi@rcluding, without limitation, on or
before the date that the cash Security Depositéstetreunder) to replace the cash Security Depfthita clean, unconditional and irrevocable
Letter of Credit Security Deposit (the “Letter ofedit”). If Sublessee elects to deposit a Lette€oddit, the Letter of Credit and any substitute
Letter of Credit shall be issued in a form and liyaak (the “Bank”) approved by Sublessor, in Sudnes reasonable discretion. Upon
Sublessea deposit of the Letter of Credit with SublessahiBssor shall immediately return the cash Secégosit. Sublessee shall main
the Letter of Credit, or a substitute Letter of @tefrom the Bank approved by Sublessor, in acancg with the terms hereof, in full force and
effect at all times during the entire term of tBisblease (subject to terms of this Sublease) ara fperiod of thirty (30) days thereafter (the last
day of such 30 day period shall be referred tdvasReturn Date”) or until all obligations due frdBublessee under this Sublease have been
paid in full. If the Letter of Credit expires beéothe Return Date, Sublessee shall replace therlaftCredit deposited with Sublessor by
providing Sublessor with a substitute Letter ofd@itrat least thirty (30) days prior to the expioatidate of the then effective Letter of Credit
being held by Sublessor in the amount requiredumeter. Sublessor shall have the right to draw uperietter of Credit and apply such Letter
of Credit or portion thereof to cure any Defaultfblessee under this Sublease in same manneibdekitr this Section 4. Within thirty days
following the expiration or earlier termination this Sublease, Sublessor shall return the Lett@redit, or so much thereof as shall not have
theretofore been applied in accordance with thdenf this paragraph or drawn upon by Sublessompptied to cure any default of Sublessee
existing at the expiration or earlier terminatidrtids Sublease. If the Security Deposit is in fitlven of a Letter of Credit when the Security
Deposit is reduced on February 14, 2014 as destabeve, Sublessee shall have the right to repifecexisting Letter of Credit with a new
Letter of Credit in the required amount. Upon steglacement Sublessor shall return the Letter efiifpreviously in Subless’s possessiol



5. Assignment/Subletting. Sublessee may not assign this Sublease in windtepart or sublet the Premises, without the pwidtten
consent of the Sublessor, which consent shall eatrveasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed,Master Landlord to the extent Master
Landlord’s consent is required. If permitted untier terms of the Amended Master Lease, Sublessonsent shall not be required for an
assignment or sublease of all or any portion ofRRfemises to (i) any entity resulting from a mergfeconsolidation with Sublessee or any
organization purchasing substantially all of Suséess assets, (ii) any entity succeeding to subiatlyrall the business and assets of Sublessee
(iii) any subsidiary, affiliate or parent of Subdeg, (iv) any entity controlling, controlled bywmder common control with Sublessee, or (v)
entity resulting from the reorganization of Subtessutside of bankruptcy organization. Howeversimch assignment or subletting shall reli
Sublessee of its obligations hereunder.

6. Master Lease.

a) This Sublease shall be subordinate to the Leaiss as of February 24, 2005 betwP&RKWAY REALTY SERVICES,
LLC, a Delaware limited liability company as successdrinhcoln-Carlyle Illinois Center, L.L.C., a Delavelimited
liability company, as landlord (“Master Landlordgnd Sublessor, as tenant (the “Master Leasegmasnded by the First
Amendment to Office Lease dated May 17, 2006 (fiest Amendment” and together with the Master Le#ise “Amended
Master Leas”), copies of which are attached hereto and incorpdtageein as Exhibit A

b) Except as set forth in this Sublease and excepghéfollowing sections of the Amended Master Leakéh are exclude
from this Sublease

Section 3 — Rent;

Section 29 — SECURITY DEPOSIT;

Section 35 — OPTION TO EXTEND LEASE;

Section 36 — RIGHT OF FIRST OFFER,;

Section 2 of the First Amendment (Landlord’s Work);
Section 3(b) of the First Amendment (BASE RENT)Jan
Section 6(i) of the First Amendment (Early OptionTerminate)

the obligations of Sublessor and Sublessee to @theh, and the terms, conditions and provisionthisfSublease shall be
deemed to be those set forth in the Amended Mastse, and for such purposes, the terms “Landl6f@nant” and
“Lease” as used in the Amended Master Lease shalelemed to mean Sublessor, Sublessee, and Sutelspsetively. In
the event of any conflict between this SubleasetheadAmended Master Lease, the terms, conditiodpamvisions of this
Sublease shall prevail. In particular, the Sublesegl be responsible for all operating costs amddscalations that may be
passed through under the Amended Master Leasetetatthe period after the Commencement C



c)

d)

)

During the term of this Sublease, Sublessee ey expressly assume and agree to performagathvery obligation of
Sublessor under the Amended Master Lease pertdinitige Premises; except for (i) payment of Baset @efined in the
Amended Master Lease) and, except as otherwisédaaberein, Additional Rent (defined in the Amedidéaster Lease),
(i) except for the posting of a security deposther than as required pursuant to this Subleégggany obligations accruin
before Commencement Date, and (iv) any obligatiisirey due to the acts or omissions of Sublesaablessee shall hold
Sublessor free and harmless of and from all lighijjudgment, costs, damages, claims or demandisidimg attorney fees
arising out of Subless’s failure to comply with or perform Subles’s obligations as described in this Suble.

Sublessor will perform all of the obligationstbé tenant pursuant to the Amended Master Leasepéthose undertaken by
Sublessee pursuant to this Suble.

If Master Landlord fails to perform any of the pigiens set forth in the Amended Master Lease tpdréormed by Maste
Landlord, Sublessor shall upon written requestudfl&ssee use reasonable efforts in seeking torothtaiperformance of
Master Landlord pursuant to the Amended Master é.elasaddition, Sublessee shall have the righake fany action against
Master Landlord in its own name and for that pugp@sd only to such extent, Sublessor grants téeSske the rights of
Sublessor with respect to the Premises, retainicmnaurrent right to enforce such rights. If angtsaction against Master
Landlord in Sublessee’s name is barred by reastachfof privity, non-assignability or otherwiseyi8essor shall permit
Sublessee to take such action or otherwise exdtsisghts under this Sublease in Sublessoeme; provided, however, tl
Sublessee shall indemnify and hold Sublessor hasagainst all liability, loss or damage which $s8bbr may incur or
suffer by reason of any such action, and that Sskke provides to Sublessor copies of all papersaticks of all
proceedings so Sublessor may be kept informedsipect thereof. Sublessor shall execute any docwmeasonably requir
to permit Sublessee to take any such action ine8sbl’'s name. Sublessee shall not receive anyrabatef rent under this
Sublease because of the Master Landlord’s faitupetform any of its obligations under the Mastease, except that if
Sublessor receives an abatement of rent from thstdviandlord relating to the Premises which argesuant to Master
Landlord’s obligations under the Amended Masterdee&ublessee shall receive a corresponding abatefeent
hereunder

If Sublessor receives an abatement of rent fromtétasandlord relating to the Premises which arfp@suant to Maste
Landlord’s obligations under the Amended Masterdee&ublessee shall receive a corresponding abatefeent
hereunder



9)

h)

Sublessor shall use reasonable efforts to oftaiBublessee the benefit of all rights grante8ublessor, as tenant under the
Amended Master Lease, with respect to the Prenmisegler to effectuate the intent of the partied #re purpose of this
Sublease

Sublessor and Sublessee each promptly shall futnite other copies of any notices of default gilsg Master Landlorc

Sublessor will not consent (i) to a terminatiortttd Amended Master Lease that will be effectivepbefore the earlier ¢
(a) the termination of this Sublease or (b) theiatjpn Date (for reasons other than casualty odeonation as expressly
permitted under the Amended Master Lease), otqign amendment of the Amended Master Lease witheutonsent of
the Sublessee, which consent shall not be unreblgowéhheld, delayed or conditioned. Furthermareither Sublessor nor
its agents, employees or contractors will causefault to occur under the Amended Master Leaseshall take all actions
reasonably necessary to preserve the Amended Ma=sdse

All notice requirements and grace periods as s#t fo the Amended Master Lease for defaults thedeu shall be
applicable to defaults hereunder, except as otlseraét forth herei

This Sublease shall be treated for all purposesasnmercial lease and not as a consumer lease.

7. Option to Terminate .

a)

b)

Sublessor shall not exercise the option to teseithe Amended Master Lease set forth in Se8ffoof the Master Lease (as
amended by the First Amendment); provided, howeseblessor shall have the right to terminate theeAded Master Lea
effective as of January 31, 2014 in accordance thighterms of the Amended Master Lease if Sublesserises

Sublesse’s termination option set forth in this Sectior

Sublessee shall have the option to terminate thide@se effective January 31, 2014 with prior wnthotice delivered t
Sublessor on or before December 1, 2012, togethbmpayment of $258,708.30, and the balance of FZEB30 delivered |
Sublessor on or before December 1, 2013. Sublegssfically shall not have the option to terminaseset forth in
Section 6 (i) of the First Amendment. Sublessed klaae no obligation whatsoever to pay the “Teration Payment” (as
defined in the Amended Master Lease) to Master laadd

8. Alterations . Sublessee agrees it will make no alterationheédPremises without the written consent of Subkesgoich shall not be
unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed, llagdter Landlord (if consent is required under teelhded Master Lease); provided,
however, if Master Landlo’s consent is not required under the Amended M



Lease for alterations, Sublessee shall not be redjto obtain Sublessor’s consent for such altamatiSublessor shall use all reasonable efforts
to assist Sublessee in obtaining Master Landlardrsent. Upon written approval, any work approvealide performed according to all
applicable building and fire codes and Sublessa# Bl responsible for obtaining all governmenigiravals.

9. Care of Premises Throughout the term of this Sublease, Sublesgeea to keep and maintain the Premises in goodamithry
order, and repair and in accordance with the requénts of the Amended Master Lease (excepting terséces and repairs, if any, which
Master Landlord must perform pursuant to the Amendaster Lease), and shall on the last day oféha hereof, surrender the Premises to
Sublessor in substantially as good condition asnwbeeived, normal wear and tear and damage bgffither casualty excepted. Under no
circumstances shall Sublessee be required to rearovénprovements located in the Premises as o€tmemencement Date (the “Existing
Improvements”). To the extent the Amended Mastexskeerequires the removal of such Existing Improvemesublessor shall be required to
remove the Existing Improvements. However, Sublesball remove its personal property and any imgmoents or alterations made by
Sublessee to the extent required under the Amelidestier Lease or by Master Landlord.

10. Notices. All notices which may be required to be given emthis Sublease or the Amended Master Lease Isatl writing. All
notices shall be served either personally or sgitdrtited States certified or registered mail, pgetprepaid, return receipt requested, or by
prepaid nationally recognized overnight courievssr, and addressed to the following addresset&s surch other addresses as the parties may
designate.

If to Sublesso: Marketing Werks, Inc
111 E. Wacker Drive, Ste 3000
Chicago, lllinois 60601

Attn: Julie Guida

With a copy tc: McCormick Braun Friman, LL(
217 N. Jefferson, 1st Floor
Chicago, IL 60661
Attn: Michael S. Friman, Esq.

If to Sublessee J.C. Whitney & Co.
225 N. Michigan Avenue, Suite 1000
Chicago, lllinois 60601
Attention: Jerome Mascitti

If to Landlord: Parkway Realty Service, LLC
111 East Wacker Dr
Suite 1220
Chicago, IL 60601
Attention: Vice Preside-Asset Managemel



Notices given hereunder shall be deemed to have ¢jgen on the date of personal delivery (or tihet fhusiness day thereafter if delivered «
non-business day) or three (3) days after the afatertified mailing or the next business day afieing sent by overnight courier.

11. Additional Conditions . Subject to Sublessor’s obligation to deliver Fremises to Sublessee in the Delivery Conditiof)e&asor’s

representations contained herein, and latent defS8ablessee acknowledges that it has had suffiopgortunity to inspect the Premises and is
satisfied with the condition thereof and accepenfises in “as is” condition with all faults.

12. Indemnity and Insurance.

a)

b)

d)

Sublessee agrees to defend, indemnify and hditeSsor and Sublessor’s officers, directors, gastremployees, agents and
invitees harmless from and against any and all losst, expense and liability whatsoever (includsublessor’s cost of
defending against the foregoing, such cost to deleasonable attorneyfses) resulting or occurring by reason of the ac
failures to act of Sublessee or otherwise resultingccurring from Sublessee’s use or occupandhePremises or any
violation caused, suffered or permitted by Sublesis agents, contractors, servants, licensegspgees or invitees,
provided that the foregoing indemnity shall notlim any cost or damage to the extent caused byrtfss negligence or
willful misconduct of the Sublessor or the brea€this Sublease by Subless

Sublessor shall not be liable (i) for any damag8ublesse’s or the Subless’s property located in the Premises or

injury to any person, regardless of the cause cf slamage or injury except to the extent causetthdgross negligence or
willful misconduct of the Sublessor, nor (ii) fonyaacts or omissions of other tenants of the Bagdir other persons in the
Building, nor (jii) for any condition of the Prenais whatsoever (except to the extent Sublessor iweamy material
representations contained herein relating to timelition of the Premises). Sublessee hereby releéadaiessor and
Subless('s officers, directors, employees, agents and iagifeom all liability and expense relating to ariyhe foregoing

Sublessee shall comply with those provisionthefAmended Master Lease pertaining to insurargsyeh provisions apply
to the Premises. All such policies shall name Sigaleand Master Landlord as additional insuredgma(to the extent
required under the Amended Master Lea

Sublessor shall and hereby does indemnify and Soldessee harmless from and against any and @lhactlaims
demands, damages, liabilities and expenses (imguaiithout limitation, reasonable attorneys’ feas$erted against,
imposed upon or incurred by Sublessee by reas¢a) tiie existence of Hazardous Substances in, @mdkabout the
Premises



(as defined in the Amended Master Lease) as afiabe possession of the Premises is delivered ttesade, (b) the gross
negligence or willful misconduct of Sublessor oy a&fi its agents, contractors, servants, licensemployees or invitees, and
(c) any violation caused, suffered or permittedSlplessor, its agents, contractors, servants,dé=s) employees or invitees
of any of the provisions of this Sublease, provitteat the foregoing indemnity shall not include aogt or damage to the
extent caused by the negligence or willful miscartchi the Sublessee or the breach of this SublepSublessec

13.Brokers . Sublessor and Sublessee covenant, warrant aresesy that the sole brokers instrumental in comsatimg this Sublease,
wereCB Richard Ellis, Inc. and Studley, Inc.,whose charges and commissions shall be paid byeSadn. Sublessee and Sublessor agree to
defend, indemnify, and hold the other party harslgainst any claims for brokerage commissionragisut of any conversations or
negotiations or claims of other brokers where stlahms are based on the alleged acts of the otimgy.p

14. Sublessots Improvements; Furniture .

a)

b)

Except as provided herein, Sublessee acknowledgkagrees that it is leasing the Premises ¢*AS IS” basis and there
no written or implied obligation upon SublessoiMaster Landlord with respect to any improvemerdemdration or other
alteration of the Premises or any part of the BagdAll representations contained in the Amendeakir Lease with
respect to the improvement, redecoration or othieragion of the Premises shall not apply to thibl8ase

On the Commencement Date, the Sublessee shallgagr¢tom Sublessor for the sum of $1.00 and othed gnd valuabl
consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of whach hereby acknowledged, all of the furniture daie Exhibit B attached
hereto in the Premises (“Furniture”). The Furnitimedudes, without limitation, the Sublessor’s pa@ystem, corresponding
phone equipment and wiring located in the Prenasesf the date hereof. The Furniture shall be cpedéo Sublessee by
Bill of Sale, free and clear of all liens and entcweances (with a warranty by Sublessor that asefitite of such delivery,
Sublessor has good title to and the right and aifyhim so deliver the Furniture and permit Subéess use thereof during tl
Sublease Term). All personal property not deemdsktBurniture shall be removed by Sublessor ateSgbt’s cost from the
Premises before the Commencement Date. The Sublska# be responsible for all costs associateld thi¢ phones and
phone switch including, without limitation, maingerce of the phone switch, local phone lines andtmmection of such a
all long distance costs. The Sublessee shall lponsible for all personal property taxes leviedhos Furniture. Except as
expressly provided above, the Sublessee acknovdeaty agrees that it has inspected the Furnitude@grees that the
Sublessee is accepting the Furniture o As I<” basis and th



Sublessor makes no representation as to the comaitiadequacy of such furniture for the Sublesseeéds. Sublessee
acknowledges and agrees that the Furniture mayltject to normal wear, tear and obsolescence aaraiter the date
hereof and that the quality and quantity of suctmFure may differ on the Commencement Date froendhscriptions set
forth on Exhibit B. Other than a material decreiasihe quantity or quality of furniture listed, imo event may the quality or
quantity of Furniture delivered on the Commencenite be the basis for a default by Sublessor heleuor entitle
Sublessee to any remuneration credit or offsetsdoh difference. For purposes of this Sectiort) wéspect to chairs a
“material decrease” in the quantity of the furnéwhall mean a decrease of ten or more chairs. ithstanding the
foregoing, if Sublessee claims a material decremse jf such material decrease would constituteeadh of Sublessor’s
obligations hereunder, then Sublessor shall haweigiint to cure by providing substitute furnitureaocredit for same, in
Sublessor’s sole discretion, within 30 days atterCommencement Date. If Sublessee elects nogtaracSublessor’s
phone system (such election to be made withingfiftél5) days after the date hereof), (i) Subleskall remove the phone
system and the corresponding phone equipment toritle Commencement Date, and (ii) the Abatemerio@e&vill be
extended by one (1) mont

C) At the expiry or earlier termination of the teafthis Sublease, the Sublessee shall, at itscasie surrender the Premises to
the Sublessor in the same condition as such aveéthe Commencement Date, reasonable wear anéxteapted. The
Sublessee shall pay to the Sublessor the cost i@falirs and replacements required to the Prenaisesresult of the
Sublesse’s use thereof beyond normal wear and

15. Signs. Sublessor will allow, and will request Master Hiord’s consent to allow, Sublessee to utilizejmtythe Sublease Term, all
signage rights granted to Sublessor under the AsteiMbster Lease. Sublessor will request Master loadid consent to allow Sublessee to
install and maintain a building standard suite esign identifying Sublessee at the entrance tdPtleenises, provided that Sublessee shall pay
all costs and expenses to install, maintain andwensuch signage. The Sublessee shall be respofsitihe cost of removal of all such
signage and make good of the area affected byl#ioeng of such signage at the end of the termisf$lublease.

16.Holding Over . If Sublessee remains in possession of the Premafter expiration or termination of the term d&tBublease, without
the Sublessor’s and the Landlord’s consent, Subeskall become a tenant-at-sufferance, and thatkeb® no renewal of this Sublease by
operation of law. Sublessee agrees to defend, indgrind hold Sublessor harmless from and agaimgiaad all loss, rental charges, costs,
expense and liability whatsoever (including Suldesscost of defending against the foregoing, stmst to include reasonable attorneys’ fees)
resulting or occurring by reason of such overh@dfithe Premises. The inclusion of the precedergence in this Sublease shall not be
construed as Subles’s consent to Subles¢s holding over



17.Landlord’s Consent This Sublease is subject to and conditioned tpertonsent of Master Landlord. Following the execuof
this Sublease by Sublessee, Sublessee will keepSyelessee’s offer to enter into this Subleasa foeriod of thirty (30) days (“Consent
Period”) days while Sublessor uses reasonabletefforobtain Master Landlord’s consent (“Master dland’s Consent”). Master Landlord’s
Consent shall be subject to Sublessee’s approvéthvehall not be unreasonably withheld, delayedomditioned, and Sublessee’s time for
consideration of Master LandlosiConsent shall extend the Consent Period on $odalay basis; provided, however, regardless oftheunt
of time for Sublessee’s consideration and negotiatif Master Landlord’s Consent in no event st €onsent Period exceed forty five
(45) days provided that Sublessee is consideridghagotiating Master Landlord’s Consent reasondbhely and in good faith. In the event
that Master Landlord’s Consent is not obtained inithe Consent Period, and Sublessor is not alpedoure Master Landlord’s Consent
within five (5) additional days thereafter, eithparty may thereafter cancel this Sublease by writigtice to the other given at any time prior to
delivery of Master Landlord’s Consent, in which evany amounts paid by Sublessee to Sublessorishallomptly refunded to Sublessee.
Sublessor shall pay all costs, fees and chargesreglpy the Amended Master Lease to be paid taddasndlord in connection with any
consent of Master Landlord to this Sublease, nektteed the amount set forth in the Amended Mastase.

18. Sublessots Representations & Warranties. Sublessor hereby represents and warrants that:

a) Attached hereto as Exhibit A is a true, correct emihplete copy of the Amended Master Lease, toe3sb’s knowledge
there are no understandings relating to the Premigéch will adversely affect or diminish the righdf Sublessee or impose
any greater obligations on Sublessee than is exlgretated therein and there are no additionaleageaits between Subles
and Master Landlord with respect to the Premi

b) The Amended Master Lease is in full force and éfl

C) Sublessor has no knowledge of and has receiveaticerfrom Master Landlord of default by Sublessnder the Amende
Master Lease which default remains uncured on #te klereof

d) Neither Sublessor nor to Suble<'s knowledge, Master Landlord, is now in defaultemithe Amended Master Lease, no
Sublessor’s knowledge does there presently existmoumstances which with the giving of noticetloe passage of time
would be a default under the Amended Master Le

e) The heating, ventilation and air conditioning systeand other building systems serving the Prenaisefn good working
order and will continue to be at the delivery of fremises to Subless:



f) The electrical systems and communication cabdierying the Premises are in good working ordenaiticcontinue to be at
the delivery of the Sublease Premises to Suble

Q) Sublessor has not received any notices from Mastedlord of any material defects, deficiencies iotations with respect
the Premises that have not been substantially cted

h) To the best of Subles¢s knowledge, there are no hazardous materialeiftBmises which do not comply with applice
laws; anc

i) Sublessor has not assigned the Amended Masteeler sublet any portion of the Premises (exceysiant to this
Sublease)

19.Remedies. The occurrence of any one or more of the follgnv@wents shall constitute a default and breachisf3ublease by
Sublessor: (a) Sublessor’s failure to do, obsddgep and perform any of the terms, covenants, tiondj agreements or provisions of this
Sublease required to be done, observed, kept torperd by Sublessor, within thirty (30) days afteitten notice by Sublessee to Sublessor of
said failure (except when the nature of Sublessaslgation is such that more than thirty (30) days required for its performance, then
Sublessor shall not be deemed in default if it cemoes performance within the thirty (30) day peaod thereafter diligently pursues the cure
to completion); or (b) the failure of any mateni@presentation or warranty to be true when deemahdereunder. Notwithstanding the
foregoing, in the event of an emergency (includinighout limitation, the risk that the Amended Marstease may terminate), Sublessee may
give Sublessor such shorter notice as is practaatder the circumstances. In the event of a ddfgubublessor (after the expiration of
applicable notice and cure periods), Sublessets aption, without further notice or demand, shell’e the right to any one or more of the
following remedies in addition to all other rigt#isd remedies provided at law or in equity or elsatherein: (a) to remedy such default or
breach (such remedy may include, without limitatipaying any amounts owed by Sublessor under thendiedd Master Lease) and seek
reimbursement for same (provided that if Sublegsgs to Master Landlord any amounts owed by Subtassder the Master Lease, Sublessee
shall have the right to deduct such payments filoariristallments of Base Rent and Additional Remt fedling due until Sublessee is
reimbursed in full) ; or (b) to pursue the remedgpecific performance. Nothing herein containedlistelieve Sublessor from its obligations
hereunder, nor shall this Section be construedligate Sublessee to perform Sublessor’s obligation

20. Casualty; Eminent Domain. In the event of a fire or other casualty affegtihe Building or the Premises, or of a takinglbbaa
part of the Building or the Premises under the pasi@minent domain, except as set forth in the Adeel Master Lease: (i) Sublessor shall
have any obligation to repair or restore the Prem@ any alterations or personal property; (ilpl8ssee shall be entitled only to a
proportionate abatement of minimum rent to the mx®iblessor receives a corresponding abatemeanbtinder the Amended Master Lease
during the time and to the extent the Premisesiafie for occupancy for the purposes permitted urtis Sublease and not occupied by
Sublessee as a result thereof; (iii) Sublesseé mhialby reason thereof, have a right to terminhi® Sublease unless Sublessor has the
corresponding



right to terminate the Amended Master Lease in siumstance or unless the Amended Master LeadElshotherwise terminated; and

(iv) Sublessor reserves the right to terminateAttreended Master Lease and this Sublease in connewstth any right granted to it under the
Amended Master Lease for an event of casualty aneamhdomain whether or not the Premises is damagétke subject of a taking. In the
event Master Landlord or Sublessor exercises g to terminate the Amended Master Lease as thétref any such fire, casualty or taking,
(a) Sublessor shall provide Sublessee with a céplyeorelevant termination notice and this Sublests#l terminate on the date upon which the
Amended Master Lease terminates and (b) Sublebsdlédramediately pay to Sublessor all of Subless@esurance proceeds relating to all
alterations that Sublessor is obligated to pay &stdr Landlord (but not the proceeds to the Fumits Sublessee’s other personal property).
Sublessee shall be entitled to all proceeds omaldr eminent domain that the Sublessor is edtitieas tenant under the Amended Master

Lease.

21.Quiet Enjoyment . Sublessee, on paying the rent and performing altélms, covenants and conditions of this Sublesdmsd], and
may peacefully and quietly have, hold and enjoyRhemises for the Sublease Term, free from angrdsindrance by Sublessor or any party
claiming by, through or under Sublessor.

22.Early Access. Sublessee shall have the right to access the RreiimjsMay 1, 2008 in order that Sublessee may d& veguired by
Sublessee to make the Premises ready for Sublsasseand occupancy, including, without limitatimstall Sublessee’s phone and data
system. Sublessee shall use reasonable effortst toaterially interfere with Sublessor’s businepsrations during such early access period.
Any such early entry into and occupation of thentses by Sublessee shall be deemed to be und#rth# terms, covenants, conditions and

provisions of this Sublease, excluding the covetapgy rent.

23.General Provisions.

a) Entire Agreement; Amendment$his Sublease constitutes the entire agreeméneka the parties concerning the matters
set forth herein. Neither Sublessee nor Subles$sdlIse bound by any terms statements, conditiomegresentations, oral
written, express or implied, not contained in thisblease. No modification of this Sublease shallibding or valid unless

expressed in a writing executed by Sublessor ahteSsee

b) Successors and Assignshis Sublease shall be binding upon and inutbedenefit of the parties and their respective
successors, permitted assigns, heirs and legaseptatives
C) Interpretation The Exhibits attached to this Sublease are gahi®Sublease. Section and subsection headimgoar

conveniences only, and not for use in interpretitig Sublease. If a court finds any provision 6§ thublease unenforceable,
all other provisions shall remain enforceable, amch unenforceable provision shall be deemed sé¥rym this Subleas:




d)

9)

h)

Costs; Include; Shall; MayExcept as expressly provided otherwise in thisl&se, the party obligated or permitted to
perform an obligation is also obligated, as betw&ehlessor and Sublessee, to pay the cost of paafare. “Include,”
“includes,” and “including” mean considered as pra larger group, and not limited to the itemdtesl. “Shall” means is
obligated to“May” means“is permitted t”

Waiver. No provisions of this Sublease is waived by Ssdxbe or Sublessee unless waived by such partyiiimgvr
Sublessor’s acceptance of rent is not a waivengfdefault of Sublessee, regardless of Sublesknowledge of a default
when it accepts the rent. No waiver by Subless@utriessee of any default is a waiver of any odeéault of the same or
any other provision of this Sublea:

Remedies The rights and remedies mentioned in this Subleas in addition to, and do not deprive a parfyan§/ other
rights at law or in equity

Governing Law; VenueThis Sublease shall be governed by and construaccordance with the laws of the State of
lllinois. Each of Sublessor and Sublessee hereliyasany objection to the venue of any action fildSublessor against
Sublessee (or vice versa) in any state or federat én the jurisdiction in which the Building isdated, and each of
Sublessor and Sublessee further waives any ritgtitn ©r power, under the doctrine of forum non auees or otherwise, to
transfer any such action to any other cc

Authority . Sublessee and Sublessor each represents anaisdorshe other that it is a duly organized coagion, limited
liability company or partnership, is in good starglunder the laws of the jurisdiction of its formoat is qualified to do
business and is in good standing in the jurisdictiowhich the Building is located, has the powed authority to enter into
this Sublease, and that all corporate, limitediliigbcompany or partnership action, as applicabégjuisite to authorize the
representing party to enter into this Subleasebkas duly taker

Attorney s Fees The non-prevailing party in any action taken urmfepursuant to this Sublease shall reimburse the
prevailing party in such action for the reasonattterneys’ fees and expenses incurred by the giegauarty in connection
with such action

Counterpart:. To facilitate execution, this Sublease may becetedl in as many counterparts as may reasonabcoéred;
and it shall not be necessary that the signatueach party, or that the signatures of all perseqgaired to bind any party,
appear on each counterpart; but it shall be sefitcihat the signature of each party, or that ifpeasures of the persons
required to bind any party, appear on one or mbeeich counterparts. All counterparts shall collesy constitute a single
agreement

[Signature page attache:



IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the parties have executed this Sublease as oftieefirst above written.

SUBLESSOR
MARKETING WERKS, INC.,
an lllinois corporatior

By: /s/ Julie Guida
Its: Presiden- Marketing Werks

SUBLESSEE
J.C. WHITNEY & CO,,

By: /s/ Tom West
Its: CEO- J.C. Whitney & Co




EXHIBIT A

AMENDED MASTER LEASE
[Attached hereto as a separate document]



111 EAST WACKER, LLC
% PARKWAY REALTY SERVICES LLC
111 EAST WACKER DRIVE
CHICAGO, IL 60601

December , 2007

Marketing Werks, Inc.

111 East Wacker Drive, Suite 3000
Chicago, lllinois 60601

Attention: Michael Friman

J.C. Whitney & Co.

225 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 1000
Chicago, lllinois 60601

Attention: Jerome Mascitti

RE: CONSENT TO SUBLEASE

“Building”: 111 East Wacker Drive, Chicago,
“Premise”: 30t Floor of the Building
“Sublet Spac”: The entire Premise
“Landlorc”: Parkway 233 North Michigan, LL:
“Tenan”: Marketing Werks, Inc
“Subtenar”: J.C. Whitney & Co

“Leas(": Agreement dated February 24, 2005 as amended styAxitendment to Lease dated May 17, 2006 as sag
been may be amended, modified, extended or redtat@ctime to time after the date here

“Sublease’ Agreement annexed hereto, as same may be amendédifieh, extended or restated from time to timemeay be

permittedhereunde
Gentlemen:

You have requested our consent to the Subleash.@msent is hereby granted on the terms and d¢onslitand in reliance upon the
representations and warranties, set forth in #tied (this “Agreement”).

1. Tenant represents and warrants that (a) theelisas full force and effect: (b) the Lease hasbe®en assigned, encumbered, modified,
extended or supplemented: (c) Tenant knows of fende or counterclaim to the enforcement of thesee&d) Tenant is not entitled to any
reduction, offset or abatement of the rent payablter the Lease: (e) a true and complete copyeo$tiblease is attached hereto, and the
Sublease constitutes the complete agreement befliesemt and Subtenant with respect to the subjattemthereof, (f) Landlord has
completed all work to be performed by Landlord urithe Lease and has paid all contributions andrathes due to Tenant under the Lease,
and (g) neither Landlord, to Tenant's knowledge, Tenant is in default of any of their respectil@igations or covenants, and neither has
breached any of their respective representatiomsgatanties, under the Lease.

2. The Sublease shall be subject and subordindketbease and all of its precisions. Neither Téman Subtenant shall take, permit or
suffer any action which would violate the provissoof the Lease or this Agreement.

3. Landlord’s obligations to Tenant are governely by the Lease and this Agreement and Landlordlgations to Subtenant are only
as set forth in Paragraphs 6, 11 and 22 of thigément. Landlord shall not be bound or estoppeahlyyprovision of the Sublease, including
any provision purportini



to impose any obligations upon Landlord (excegtrasided in Paragraph 6 of this Agreement). Nothingtained herein shall be constated as
a consent to, approval of. or ratification by Lardlof any of the particular provisions of the Sadsle or any plan or drawing referred to or
contained therein except as may be expressly pedvigrein). Landlord has not reviewed or approvsdpovision of the Sublease.

4. If Tenant or Subtenant violates any of the teofrthis Agreement, or if any representation by drror Subtenant in this Agreement is
untrue in any material respect, or if Subtenan¢sadny action which would constitute a default ude Lease, then Landlord may declare the
Lease to be in default and avail itself of all relies provided at law or equity or in the Lease wébpect to defaults: provided that Landlord
shall not exercise its right to terminate the Leais€enant’s right to possession of the Premisésssrilrenant or Subtenant does not cure such
default within the cure period, if any, set fonthSection 19(a) of the Lease.

5. Subject to the provisions of Paragraph 6 of Agseement, if the Lease is terminated prior togdtaged expiration date provided in the
Lease, the Sublease, on the date of such termmatiall likewise terminate. In connection with Istermination. Subtenant, at its sole
expense, shall surrender the Sublet Space to Lahutidche manner provided for in the Lease, inahgdihe removal of all its personal property
from the Sublet Space and from any part of theddug to which it is not otherwise entitled to ocempy, and repair all resulting damage to the
Sublet Space and the Building, provided, howevebténhant shall not be obligated to remove anyatitars, additions or improvements locz:
in the Sublet Space as of the date Tenant delpessession of the Sublet Space to Subtenant. Easeytherwise provided in the Lease.
Landlord shall have the right to retain any propard personal effects which remain in the Subpetc® or the Building on the date of
termination of the Sublease, without any obligatiotiability to Tenant or Subtenant, and to retaiy net proceeds realized from the sale
thereof, without waiving Landlord’s rights with pesct to any default by Tenant under the Lease bte®ant under the foregoing provisions of
this paragraph and the provisions of the LeaseSadease. If Subtenant shall fail to vacate anceader the Sublet Space in accordance with
the provisions of this paragraph. Landlord shalkbgtled to all of the rights and remedies whict @vailable to a landlord against a tenant
holding over after the expiration of a term, ang anch holding over shall be deemed a default utidetease. In addition. Subtenant agrees
that it will not seek, and it expressly waives aight to seek, any stay of (a) the prosecutioroofb) the execution of any judgment awarde
any action by Landlord to recover possession ofSthielet Space. This paragraph shall survive thigeeéermination of the Lease and Suble:

6. If the Lease is terminated or if Tenant's posgasof the Premises is terminated before the dtatpiration date of the Sublease, and if
Landlord or any other part) then entitled to posgesof the Sublet Space so demands in writingutaté&hant within five (5) business days after
the receipt of a final court order of possessiothefPremises. Subtenant shall attorn to Landloghg such party upon the then executor)
terms of the Sublease for the remainder of thedtirm of the Sublease. The party to whom Subtattrns shall, under such circumstances,
agree not to disturb Subtenant in its use and emgoy of the Sublet Space, provided Subtenant pagaill of its obligations under the
Sublease. Such party shall not be required to honoredit Subtenant for (i) any payments of reatlmto Tenant for more than one month in
advance or for any other payment owing by, or grodé with. Tenant for the credit of Subtenant gtde the extent actually received by
Landlord, (ii) any obligation to perform any work make any payment to Subtenant pursuant to a lettede, the Sublease or otherwise,

(iii) any security deposits not in Landlord’s adtpassession, (iv) any obligation of. or liabilitgsulting from any act or omission of. Tenant,
(v) any amendment of the Sublease not expresslyeried to by Landlord, or (vi) any defenses, abates) reductions, counterclaims or
offsets assertable against Tenant except to tlmeahy such rights relate to payments made byeBaht to Landlord on behalf of Tenant. 1
provision is self-operative upon demand for attoenthwhether or not, as a matter of law. the Sggleaay terminate upon the expiration or
termination of the term of the Lease or the teridgmaof Tenant’s possession of the Premises. Sabtdmowever, agrees to give Landlord or
such other party, on request, a commercially regsierinstrument acknowledging an attornment acogrth these terms. No attornment
pursuant to this paragraph shall be deemed a wanierpairment of Landlord’s rights under the Le&s@ursue any remedy not inconsistent
with the attornment.



In the event of such election by Landlord or suttteoparty, (i) Tenant shall deliver to Landlordsoich other party any security deposit
which Tenant is then holding under the Subleasg(i@nBubtenant shall reimburse Landlord or sudteotparty for any costs that may be
incurred by it in connection with such attornment|uding reasonable legal fees and disbursements.

Landlord shall provide Subtenant a copy of any di¢faotice delivered pursuant to Section 19 ofltbase at the same time such notice is
delivered to Tenant. Landlord shall accept cur&bitenant of such default within the cure peribdny, provided pursuant to Section 19 of
the Lease as a cure by Tenant.

7. Tenant and Subtenant each agrees:

(i) None of Landlord’s shareholders, partners, merajdirectors, officers, agents or employeesctirer indirectly, shall be liable
for Landlord’s performance under the Lease or Aggeement:

(ii) Landlord’s liability shall be limited to thealue of Landlord’s interest in the Real Property dafined in the Lease):

(iii) it will not seek to satisfy any judgment agat Landlord out of the assets of any person atyesther than Landlord (but only
the extent provided in clause (ii) above): and

(iv) the obligations of Landlord under this Agreermhehall not be binding upon Landlord after theesabnveyance, assignment or
transfer by Landlord of its interest in the Reafarty, and Tenant and Subtenant shall look stdetiie transferee for the satisfaction of
such obligations. Any such transferee shall be @eetm have assumed all of Landlord’s obligationgeurthis Agreement.

8. Tenant and Subtenant each represents and watihahino rent or other consideration is being paid payable to Tenant by Subtenant
for the right to use or occupy the Sublease Spaéber the use. sale or rental of Tenant'’s fixtuteasehold improvements, equipment, furniture
or other personal property in excess of the Base &sd Additional Rent payable pursuant to the edasllectively, the “Rent”) for the
Sublease Space, and if such rent or other considleiexceeds such Rent. Tenant shall comply wittti&e 15(c) of the Lease and pay to
Landlord fifty percent (50%) of such excess.

9. The expiration date of the Sublease shall baalgr30, 2017, unless sooner terminated pursughetterms of the Lease or the
Sublease.

10. If a Default (as defined in Section 19(a) af thease) occurs under the Lease, during the catitomuof such Default. Subtenant shall,
upon written notice from Landlord, pay all rent dueder the Sublease directly to Landlord: provideslvever, the foregoing shall not be
deemed to establish any privity of estate or canfffaut for the provisions of this Agreement) betwé_andlord and Subtenant and the Subl
shall otherwise continue to be a “sublease” betwiemmant and Subtenant subject and subordinaté o6 thle covenants, agreements, terms,
provisions and conditions of the Lease and thiseAgrent.

11. As additional security for Tenant’s obligatiamder the Lease, on or before April 1, 2008. Sudné shall deliver to landlord a letter
of credit (the “Subtenant Letter of Credit”) thatisfies the terms and conditions of Section 28flihe Lease and the provisions of this
paragraph. Anything to the contrary herein or i tlease notwithstanding, the Subtenant Letter efli€shall (i) be in the form attached her
as_Exhibit A, (ii) shall expire no earlier November 14, 2008d &iii) shall be in the amount of One Hundred Téand and 00/100 Dollars
($100,000.00) and shall not reduce during the t@frthe Subtenant Letter of Credit. Landlord shalldmtitled to draw on Subtenant’s letter of
credit in the same manner as Landlord is entitedraw on Tenant's letter of credit pursuant to
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Section 29 of the Lease, provided that Landlordl ste draw on the Subtenant Letter of Credit (adilit has fully applied Tenant’s security
deposit under Section 29 of the Lease, (b) in #s= ©f a monetary default described in Section)ip¢ (ii), if Subtenant pays to Landlord 1
rent due under the Sublease after receipt of thieendescribed in Paragraph 10 above, or (c) fdefault not described in Section 19(a)(i) or
(ii) of the Lease caused by Tenant. Provided (ipefault exists under the Lease, (ii) nothing hesuored that, but for the giving of notice and
the expiration of a cure period, would constitutdegault under the Lease, and (iii) neither TemamtSubtenant have violated any of the terms
of this Agreement. Landlord shall return the Subteri etter of Credit to Subtenant on November OD If (i) the Lease or Tenant's
possession of the Premises is terminated, (ii) laaddloes not request that Subtenant attorn to loadghursuant to Paragraph 6. (iii) Subter
has paid to Landlord all rent due under the Sukladter Landlord delivers the notice describedaragraph 10 above and (iv) no Default ur
the Lease not caused by Tenant exists as of teeoflauich termination, then landlord shall retdma Subtenant Letter of Credit to Subtenant
within 15 days after the termination of the Leas@@nant’s possession of the Premises. Landloreldyeaspproves LaSalle Bank National
Association as issuer of the Subtenant Letter efiTr

12. The Lease and this Agreement constitute thieeesgreement of the parties with respect to Lami#oconsent to the Sublease. This
Agreement, may not be changed except in writingesigby the party to be charged.

13. All statements, notices and other communicatginen pursuant to this Agreement must be in mgiind must be delivered
personally with receipt acknowledged, or sent Imationally recognized reputable overnight courégyainst a receipt of delivery), or by
registered mail, return receipt requested, adddetssthe parties at their addresses set forth glwyéd to Subtenant, at the Building, or at such
other address as any party may designate upors®than 10 days prior notice given in accordarittethis paragraph. Any such
communication shall be deemed delivered when patlsodelivered, or on the date received or rejeetedhdicated by the receipt if sent by
overnight courier or by the return receipt if septmail. Prior to Subtenant’s occupancy of the Rses) notice to Subtenant shall be delivered
to the following address: J.C. Whitney & Co. 225rtkidVlichigan Avenue, Suite 1000, Chicago, Illin6i3601, Attention: Jerome Mascitti.

14. This Agreement will be construed and governedlinois law.

15. Landlord’s rights and remedies under this Agreet shall be in addition to every other right@medy available to it under the Lease,
at law. in equity or otherwise and Landlord shalldble to assert its rights and remedies at the siame as before, or after its assertion of any
other right or remedy to which it is entitled wititan any way diminishing such other rights or reles. The invalidity or unenforceability of
any provision of this Agreement shall not impaie tralidity and enforceability of any other provisiof this Agreement.

16. This Agreement shall bind and inure to the Bien&the parties and their respective succesandsassigns, except as provided in
Paragraph 7(iv) above and except that it shalimgte to the benefit of any successor or assigheofant or Subtenant whose status was
acquired in violation of the Lease or this Agreeimen

17. Each of the parties executing this Agreememteigents that it is duly authorized to executedaliver this Agreement and that each
such party has full power and authority to entéw this Agreement.

18. Tenant and Subtenant, jointly and severallgemnify Landlord against, and hold it harmless frathcosts, damages and expenses,
including reasonable attorneys’ fees and disburs&marising out of any claims for brokerage consioiss, finder’s fees or other
compensation in connection with the Sublease arping possession of the Sublet Space Tenant abtdi$ant, at their sole expense, may
defend any such claim with counsel reasonably dabépto Landlord and settle any such claim atteepense, but only Landlord may
approve the text of any stipulation, settlemeneagrent consent order. judgment or decree entetedrnits behalf. The provisions of this
Paragraph 18 shall survive the expiration or soterenination of the Lease or Sublease.
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19. Tenant and Subtenant, jointly and severallgemnify Landlord against, and hold it harmless framy and all losses, costs, expenses,
claims and liabilities including, but not limited.treasonable counsel fees, arising from the ws®ip@ncy, conduct or management of the
Sublet Space by Subtenant, or its agents, emplpgeagactors, representatives or invitees, or &unit’'s business activities therein. If any
proceeding is brought against Landlord by reasamgfsuch claim. Tenant and Subtenant, jointly sewkrally, shall be responsible for
Landlord’s costs and expenses including, withauttition, reasonable attorney’s fees and expemsesjred in connection therewith. If any
action or proceeding is brought against Landlorddason of any such claim. Subtenant and for Temgoin written notice from Landlord,
shall, at Tenant’s or Subtenant’s sole cost an@mes®, as the case may be. resist or defend such acfproceeding using counsel reasonably
approved by Landlord, but may not settle any suaimcwithout Landlord’s prior written approval. Tipeovisions of this Paragraph 19 shall
survive the expiration or earlier termination oé tterm of the Sublease or the Lease. The inderaniyany right granted to Landlord pursuant
to this paragraph shall be in addition to. andindimitation of Landlord’s rights under the Lease.

20. Subtenant shall carry insurance during theetgrm required to be carried by Tenant undet#ase. Landlord and Subtenant agree
to have all physical damage or material damageamae which may be carried by either of them, amot&ant agrees to have all business
interruption insurance which it carries, endorsegrovide that any release from liability of, oriwer of claim for. recovery from the other
party entered into in writing by the insured therder prior to any loss or damage shall not affeetvalidity of said policy or the right of the
insured to recover thereunder and providing furthat the insurer waives all rights of subrogatidrich such insurer might have against the
other party Without limiting any release or waiwgédiability or recovery contained in any other 8en of the Lease, but rather in confirmation
and furtherance thereof each of the parties hevatees all claims for recovery from the other pddyany loss or damage to any of its
property or damages as a result of business ipt#oru Notwithstanding the foregoing or anythingtained in the Lease to the contrary, any
release and any waiver of claims shall not be djweranor shall the foregoing endorsements be redquin any case where the effect of such
release and waiver is to invalidate insurance @geor increase the cost thereof (provided thdhercase of increased cost, the other party
shall have the right, within ten (10) days follogiwritten notice, to pay such increased cost kegpirch release and waiver in full force and
effect)

21. Landlord’s consent to the Sublease docs naidecconsent to any modification, supplement orraangent of the Sublease, or to any
assignment of the Sublease or sub-subletting oBth®et Space or any additional subleasing of titde$ Space or any other portion of the
Premises whether pursuant to an option or rightaioed in the Sublease or otherwise, each of wtdghires Landlord’s prior written consent
(except that Tenant and Subtenant may terminat8uhéease without Landlord’s prior consent). If &ty or Subtenant desires landlord’s
consent to any such other action it must specifieaid separately request such consent and inabe @f an assignment or sublease the
provisions of Article 15 of the Lease shall appystich request (and if such request is made byeBabt, said Article 15 shall apply in the
same manner as if such request was made by Tefangnt shall give Landlord prompt written notitéhe Sublease terminates prior to its
stated term. Notwithstanding the foregoing, thevi@ions of Section 15(h) of the Lease permittingaasignment of the Lease or a sublease of
the Premises without landlord’s consent shall algply to Subtenant in the same manner as if Subtevere Tenant.

22. Landlord agrees as follows:

(i) The performance by Subtenant under the Sublglaak constitute performance by Tenant under tesk (except for the
payment of rent).

(i) This consent satisfies the requirements ofddet13 of the Lease.
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(i) Landlord certifies that it has not receiveditien notice that any existing condition of theeRises is in violation of any statute
or ordinance.

(iv) Landlord certifies to Subtenant that: (a) thease has not been canceled, modified, extendathended except as noted above:
(b) to the best of Landlord’s knowledge, the Lelage not been assigned by Tenant; (c) to the bestraflord’s knowledge. Tenant is not
in default under the terms of the Lease and na@eatf an Event of Default has been delivered tcafieand (d) the Prime Lease is in full
force and effect.

(v) Subtenant shall have the right to request dftarrs heating, ventilation and air conditioningfi{/AC”) services for the Premises
directly from Landlord. In the event Subtenant resfs such after-hours HVAC services. Landlord ghralvide such after-hours HVAC’
services in accordance with the terms of the LaaskLandlord shall bill Subtenant directly for swdter-hours HVAC. Subtenant shall
pay such bill to Landlord as Additional Rent in aaance with the terms and provisions of the Le@saant agrees to the provisions of
this Section 22(v) and acknowledges that, notwdthding the fact that Landlord will bill Subtenaitedtly for the after-hours HVAC
costs, such costs shall be considered additionatl Reler the Lease.

23. Neither the execution and delivery of this Agrent or the Sublease, nor any acceptance of reiher consideration from Subten
by Landlord or Landlord’s agent shall operate towwamodify, impair, release or in any manner affeenant’s liability or obligations under
the Lease or Subtenant’s liability or obligatiomslar the Sublease.

24. If there shall be any conflict or inconsistet@fween the terms, covenants and conditions fAgreement or the Lease and the
Sublease, then the terms, covenants and condiiditss Agreement or the Lease shall prevail. #réhshall be any conflict or inconsistency
between this Agreement and the Lease then the teousnants and conditions of this Agreement giralail.

25. Each of the parties hereby irrevocably and nditmnally waives its right to a jury trial in amause of action arising out of, or
relating to, this Agreement.

26. Tenant agrees to pay, upon demand. Landloed'sonable out-of-pocket fees and disbursementsréttin connection with and
related to the preparation and execution of thiss&ment.

27. This Agreement may be executed in counterpaaish of which shall be deemed an original, andwadh counterparts shall together
constitute one and the same instrument.



Please acknowledge your agreement to the termsantitions of this Agreement by signing the copyhi$ Agreement enclosed
herewith and returning it to the Landlord. You neaysider Landlord consent to be effective upon your receipt ofllg fxecuted copy of th
Agreement.

Very truly yours,
111 East Wacker, LL¢

By: Parkway Chicago, LL(
Its: Sole Membe

By: /s/ Jay Buckley
Its: Senior Vice Presider

Agreed to:
TENANT
Marketing Werks, Inc

By: /s/ Julie Guida
Its: President

SUBTENANT
J.C. Whitney & Co

By: /s/ Tom West
Its: CEO




EXHIBIT A
IRREVOCABLE LETTER OF CREDIT

December__, 2007
Beneficiary:

111 EAST WACKER LLC

C/O PARKWAY REALTY SERVICES LLC
111 EAST WACKER DRIVE

CHICAGO, IL 60601

Attention: PROPERTY MANAGER

Our irrevocable standby Letter of Credit:
No.

Applicant:

J.C. Whitney & Co.

225 North Michigan Avenue, Suite 1000
Chicago, lllinois 60601

Attention: Jerome Mascitti

Amount: Exactly One Hundred Thousand and 00/100 DdHlars ($100,000.00)
Initial Expiration Date:
Final Date of Expiration: November 14, 2009

We (the “Bank”) hereby issue our irrevocable standétter of Credit No. in Beneficiary’s favor for the account of the above
referenced Applicant, in the aggregate amount ety USD $100,000.00.

This Letter of Credit is available with us at obose office by presentation of your draft drawnusnat sight bearing the clause: “Drawn under
LaSalle Bank, N.A. Letter of Credit No. " and accompanied by the original of this LetteCoédit and the following
document:

Beneficiary’s statement purportedly signed by dictef or authorized agent of Beneficiary or Benigfig's authorized managing
agent, reading

“The amount of this drawing under Irrevocable LetiECredit No. is being drawn pursuant to thataier(i) Lease dated
February 24. 2005 between Lincoln-Carlyle lllin@enter. L.L.C., as landlord, and Marketing Works:.] as tenant, as such lease
has been amended or assigned, and (ii) that c&2taisent to Sublease dated as of , 200___, between Parkway 233
North Michigan, LLC, as landlord, Marketing Werls¢., as tenant, and J.C. Whitney & Co., as subtere such Consent to
Sublease has been amended or assigned.

Such sight draft may be signed by Beneficiary ondieiary’s managing agent.
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Special conditions:

Partial draws, as well as multiple presentatiorts dnawings, under this Letter of Credit are pemittThis Letter of Credit shall be
automatically extended for an additional perio@ié (1) year, without amendment, from the InitigpEation Date or each future expiration
date unless, at least forfiye (45) days prior to the then current expirataate, we notify you by registered mail/overnigbtiger service at th
above address that this Letter of Credit will netdxtended beyond the current expiration date. Nlodtanding anything to the contrary
contained herein, this Letter of Credit shall eggermanently without renewal on November 14, 2009.

We hereby agree with you that all drafts drawn wrgahel in compliance with the terms of this LetteCoedit will be duly honored upon
presentation to us on or before the expiration dathis Letter of Credit, regardless of whethemphpant disputes such presentation.

This Letter of Credit is transferable one or maneets and any such transfer shall be effected byrasided that you deliver to us your written
request for transfer in form and substance reaspsakisfactory to us. Beneficiary may, at any tiama without notice to Applicant and
without first obtaining Applicant’s consent theret@nsfer all or any portion of Beneficiary’s imtst in and to the Letter of Credit to a
transferee of Beneficiary’s interest in, or to g@yson holding a mortgage encumbering Beneficidni&rest in 111East Wacker Drive,
Chicago, lllinois. The original of this Letter of€lit together with any amendments thereto musirapany any such transfer request.

Except so far as otherwise expressly stated, tiismentary credit is subject to International StanEractices 1998, International Chamber Of
Commerce Publication No 590.

By:
Authorized signatur

Please direct any correspondence including drasirigquiry quoting our reference number to the abmferenced address.
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Exhibit 10.65
SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT

THIS SECOND AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT (this “ $end Lease Amendmetfjtis dated as of February 1, 2008,
and between JCM MANAGEMENT LLC, an Ohio limitedBitity company (“_Landlord’), and STYLIN' CONCEPTS CORP., an Ohio
corporation (“ Tenant).

BACKGROUND

A. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant are parties to teatain Lease Agreement dated January 1, 200&medded as of October 3,
2003 (as amended, the “Lease”), whereby Tenanedefiom Landlord certain real property located@2@ E. Pleasant Valley Road,
Independence, Ohio, as more particularly descriibbé¢lde Lease (the “ Premis8s

B. WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant subsequently agreecxtend the expiration of the term of the Leas& January 31, 2008, on the
same terms and conditions as set forth in the Lease

C. WHEREAS, Tenant and Landlord desire to furtiraend the Lease to provide for the matters contaireeein.

NOW, THEREFORE, for good and valuable consideratemeived by each of them, the parties agree sl

TERMS

1. Defined Terms Unless otherwise defined herein or unless théesdwlearly requires a different meaning, the tadizied words and
phrases used herein shall have the same meanicrijseasto them in the Lease.

2. Term. Section 2(a) of the Lease is hereby deletedsieritirety and the following is substituted in ltbereof:

“(a) Unless sooner terminated under the provisarthis Lease, the initial term of this Lease slealbire on January 31, 2013 (the
‘Initial Term’); provided, howeverthat, so long as Tenant is not then in defaulteurany of the terms of the Lease beyond any agigb
notice and grace periods, Tenant may, by givingteminotice no less than 180 days prior to therakipn date of the then-current term,
extend the term of this Lease for two additionalqus of five years each (each additional period'Aalditional Term’)on the same terr
as set forth herein, except that the Rent (her&ind&fined) to be paid during such Additional Tesimall be as set forth in Section 3(b) of
the Lease. The Initial Term and any Additional T&)are hereinafter referred to collectively as‘ Term’”



3. Rent. Section 3(a) of the Lease is hereby deletedsiaritirety and the following is substituted in libereof:

“(a) Commencing on February 1, 2008, Tenant stafllpandlord annual rent (“Rent”) of $200,000 pearygoayable in equal
monthly installments of $16,666.67 on the first @éyach month during the Initial Term. If this Iseashall commence on a day other
than the first day of a month, or shall expire aag other than the last day of a month, the imstait of Rent for such month shall be
prorated based on a ratio the numerator of whiell ke the number of days during such month thiatltbase was in effect and the
denominator of which shall be the total numberafsiin such month. The foregoing notwithstandingntRor the months of February,
March and April, 2008 shall be abated and Rent paymshall recommence on May 1, 2008.”

4. Assignments and Sublettingection 10 of the Lease (as revised by Sectiohtbe amendment to Lease) is hereby deleted in its
entirety and the following is substituted in lidneteof:

“10. Assignment and Subletting

(@) In connection with a conveyance of the Premiigelsandlord, Landlord shall have the right to gasihis Lease to the buyer of
the Premises without the consent of Tenant. Fquqmes of this Second Lease Amendment, the termvég@mce” shall include, without
limitation, in addition to any sale to an unrelapadty, any change in the equity ownership of Lardifor estate planning purposes or in
connection with an internal restructuring of Tenamtthe conveyance to any entity directly or iedtty controlling, controlled by, or
under common control with Landlord or the acquokall or substantially all of the assets or equitgrests of Landlord.

(b) Tenant shall not Transfer (defined herein) @mpt to be Transferred this Lease or an intetestetin or the estate created thel
without Landlord’s prior written approval, such apyal not to be unreasonably withheld, conditiormdjelayed.

(c) ‘Transfer’ includes the occurrence of any af fhllowing events, whether such events occur bpaof Tenant, inaction of
Tenant, or by operation of law: (i) any conveyantany right of occupancy granted under this Leadether by sale, assignment,
sublease, license, concession, franchise, or oibee any entity other than Tenant (includingng antity owned or controlled by
Tenant, any entity which owns or controls Tenangroy other entity related to or affiliated withrignt); (ii) any encumbrance of the
estate or interest created by this Lease, whetherdstgage, lien, pledge, or otherwise; and/oy &y arrangement (including without
limitation management agreements and office shagrgements) that allows the use or occupancy of alart of the Premises by
anyone or any entity other than Tenant; provideavdver, that the following events shall not be consideaé@iransfer’ for purposes of
this Lease: (x) any change in ownership or poweaote, on a cumulative basis, of a majority’s ohdet’s outstanding stock, partnership
interests, or other ownership interests, (y) thegmeor consolidation of the Tenant with or inteear more other entities, and (z) an
assignment or other transfer of this Lease to aigyedirectly or indirectly controlling, controlteby, or under common control with
Tenant or the acquirer of all or substantiallycdithe assets or equity interests of Tenant.
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(d) In the event of a permitted Transfer pursuardlauses (c)(i) or (iii) above which involves tiige of any currently occupied

portion of the Premises, Landlord and Tenant stalte equally all monthly rents payable by thedfree which are in excess of the
monthly Rent payable by Tenant under this Leadet deducting the reasonable out-of-pocket costafeincurs to third parties in
connection with such Transfer.”

5. Storage Tenant agrees that Landlord shall have the tigktore materials, without charge, in 1,000 sqéeet of the warehouse
portion of the Premises. Landlord and Tenant sigake on and designate a mutually agreeable loctticsuch storage. Such right to store
materials is subject to the following terms andditans:

a.
b.
C.

Landlord shall not interfere with Ten{’s use or occupancy of the Premi
Landlord shall not store any Hazardous Substamcteei Premise:

To the extent not prohibited by law or causedhgygross negligence or willful misconduct of Tetdi) Landlord hereby expressly
waives all claims and rights of recovery againstdre and its officers, agents, directors, repregivets, shareholders, members,
subsidiaries, affiliates, related entities, pagnemployees and lenders (collectively, “Tenamtéeimnitees”for any loss or damag
to any property of Landlord stored at the Premissgardless of the amount of insurance proceedscted or collectible under any
insurance policies in effect, and (ii) Landlordther agrees that all such property of Landlordestat the Premises shall be at the
risk of Landlord only and Tenant and Tenant’s Indéees shall not be liable for any loss or damageetto or theft or conversion
thereof and Landlord completely releases and extedpTenant and Ten’s Indemnitees therefror

To the extent not prohibited by law or caused l&ygloss negligence or willful misconduct of Tenadsmindlord agrees to indemni
defend and hold harmless Tenant, and Teedntlemnitees from and against any and all claitesjands, actions, liabilities, loss
injuries, fines, penalties, liens, damages, castsexpenses (including attorneys’ fees) incurred &yant or the Tenant
Indemnitees, for injuries to any persons and dan@age theft or misappropriation or loss of progestcurring in or about the
Premises arising from LandIc' s storage of materials in the Premis

Landlord shall provide Tenant with not less tharh@drs advance verbal or written notice in eactaimse prior to Landlor's entry
upon the Premises for purposes of storing or rengpiiandlord’s materials from or on the Premisesiarg shall have the right to
accompany Landlord, its agents or representatipea any such entry upon the Premises. At Tesartjuest, Landlord shall sec
Landlorc' s stored materials at the Premises in accordartbelwnar’'s reasonable instructior
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6. Ratification of LeaseThis Second Lease Amendment shall be deemedrodgart of and shall be construed in connectiith and
as part of the Lease. Except as hereinbefore esiprasiended, all of the other terms, covenants canditions contained in the Lease shall
continue to remain unchanged and in full force effiect and are hereby ratified and confirmed. dbaflict shall arise between the terms and
provisions of this Second Lease Amendment andeitmest and provisions of the Lease, the terms andgioas of this Second Lease
Amendment shall govern.

7. Binding Effect Each of the provisions of this Second Lease Amenrd shall extend to and shall, as the case mayregdpind or inur
to the benefit not only of Landlord and of Tendnit also of their respective permitted successotsagsigns.

8. Counterparts This Second Lease Amendment may be executed liipfaicopies and multiple counterparts, each ofchishall be
deemed to form one instrument. Executed facsinufges of this Agreement or any amendments heretth Is& binding upon the parties, and
facsimile signatures appearing hereon or thereah b deemed to be original signatures.

9. Time of EssenceTime is of the essence for this Second Lease Alment.

10. RepresentationThe undersigned, John A. Milos, hereby represamtiswarrants that he has full power and authdoiyxecute and
deliver this Second Lease Amendment on behalf afilaxd, and, that upon his signature hereto, teiso8d Lease Amendment shall constitute
the legal, valid, and binding obligation of Landlofhe undersigned, Tom West, hereby representsvarmdnts that he has full power and
authority to execute and deliver this Second Léasendment on behalf of Tenant, and, that uponibisasure hereto, this Second Lease
Amendment shall constitute the legal, valid, anttig obligation of Tenant.

11. Governing Law This Second Lease Amendment shall be governeshbyconstrued under Ohio law, without regard tdflazirof
laws principles.

[remainder of page intentionally blank]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have exedlhis Second Lease Amendment as of the day ardiyst above shown.

036797, 000003, 101958505.3, Second Amendmentaed_&-22-08

-5-

LANDLORD:

JCM MANAGEMENT LLC, an Ohio limited liability
company

By: /s/ John A. Milos

Print Name: John A. Milo
Title: Presiden

TENANT:
STYLIN' CONCEPTS CORP., an Ohio corporat

By: /s/ Tom West

Print Name: Tom Wes
Title: CEO




SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT

Name Jurisdiction DBA
PartsBin, Inc Delaware

Power Host, Inc.(1 Ontario, Canad

U.S. Auto Parts Network (Philippines) Corporat Philippines

Lobo Marketing, Inc Texas

Go Fido, Inc. Delaware

Private Label Parts, In Delaware Kool-Vue
Pacific 3PL, Inc Delaware

AutoMD, Inc. Delaware

Local Body Shops, Inc Delaware Perfect Fi
Automotive Specialty Accessories and Parts, Iny Delaware

Whitney Automotive Group, Inc. (¢ Delaware

Value Solutions, Inc. (& Delaware

(1) Subsidiary of PartsBin, Ini
(2) Subsidiary of Go Fido, Inc
(3) Subsidiary of Automotive Specialty Accessories Riadits, Inc

Exhibit 21.1



EXHIBIT 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference iniRegion Statement Nos. 333-143179, 333-149978 3&3-158224 on Form S-8 and
Registration Statement No. 333-163811 on Form Sed/éur reports dated March 16, 2011, relatindhfinancial statements of U.S. Auto
Parts Network, Inc. and subsidiaries, and the &ffecess of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and diasies internal control over financial
reporting, appearing in this Annual Report on FA®rK of U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc. and subsidiarfor the period ended January 1,

2011.
/s/ Deloitte & Touche LLP

Los Angeles, CA
March 16, 2011



EXHIBIT 23.2
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:

(1)
(@)

(3)
(4)

Registration Statement (Forn-8 33:-143179) pertaining to the 2007 Omnibus IncentianRInd the 2006 Equity Incentive Plar
U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc

Registration Statement (Forn-8 333-149973) pertaining to 2007 New Employee Incentil@mRnd the 2007 Omnibus Incent
Plan of U.S. Auto Parts Network, In

Registration Statement (Forn-8 33:-158224) pertaining to the 2007 Omnibus IncentianRIf U.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc., a
Registration Statement (Forn-3/A 332-163811) pertaining to the Prospectus of U.S. AwdsPNetwork, Inc. for the registration
2,500,000 shares of its common stc

of our report dated March 12, 2010, with respec¢h#oconsolidated financial statements of U.S. ARdots Network, Inc. included in this
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Janpdaf011.

/sIErnst & Young LLP

Los Angeles, California
March 16, 2011



EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Shane Evangelist, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fK.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(H and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision to provide reasonable assersegarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles; and

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2011

/sl SHANE EVANGELIST
Shane Evangelit

Chief Executive Office
(principal executive officer




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

I, Theodore Sanders, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on Form 16fK.S. Auto Parts Network, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notaiorny untrue statement of a material fact or donditate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circunt&s under which such statements were made, nigtaisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememtd,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operstand cash flows of the registrant as of, amdth@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andre responsible for establishing and maintainirsgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @efined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(H and 15d-15(f) for the registrant and have:

(a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedorecaused such disclosure controls and procedoifge designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duritg fperiod in which this report is being prepared;

(b) Designed such internal control over financédarting, or caused such internal control overrfaial reporting to be designed
under our supervision to provide reasonable assersegarding the reliability of financial reportiagd the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles; and

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragisslosure controls and procedures and presenttisi report our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure conaints procedures, as of the end of the period cougyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thestgnt’s internal control over financial reportitigt occurred during the registrast’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodiikbal quarter in the case of an annual repo&) tias materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s Board of Direct¢os persons performing the equivalent
functions):

(a) All significant deficiencies and material weakges in the design or operation of internal cbotrer financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize apbrt financial information; and

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedymanagement or other employees who have a simiifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

Date: March 16, 2011

/sl THEODORE SANDERS
Theodore Sande

Chief Financial Office
(principal financial officer




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of U.S. Autar® Network, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K tbe fiscal year ended
January 1, 2011, as filed with the Securities anchBnge Commission on the date hereof (the “RepdrtShane Evangelist, Chief Executive
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 IL.S81350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eobthbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdititon and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 16, 2011

/sl SHANE EVANGELIST
Shane Evangelis
Chief Executive Office




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of U.S. Autar® Network, Inc. (the “Company”) on Form 10-K tbe fiscal year ended
January 1, 2011 as filed with the Securities anchBrge Commission on the date hereof (the “Repdrthheodore Sanders, Chief Financial
Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 L. S81350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906eob#hbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

1. The Report fully complies with the requirementSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExcleaAgt of 1934; and

2. The information contained in the Report fairhggents, in all material respects, the financialdition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: March 16, 2011
/sl THEODORE SANDER!

Theodore Sande
Chief Financial Office




